



December, 1976

Vol. XIV No. 3

contents

Diplomacy in East Asia: An expression of General World Views 1
Frank W. Ikle
Contemporary Existentialism and the Concept of Naturalness In Taoism and Ch'an(Zen)
Robert K. Lin
Evolution of Sino-American Économic Relations, 1784-1929: A Survey 27
Paratha Sarathy Ghosh
Chang Hsueh-Liang on the Sian Incident*
Jiu-Hwa Lo Upshur
The Relationship Between the Army and the Party in China During the Transitional Period from 1967-1976
Leo Y. Liu
Cumulative Subject-Index to Asian Studies 1963-1975
Edna Bondoc-Carreon
rial Note: All views and opinions expressed in the articles published in the Asian Studies are those

Editorial Note: All views and opinions expressed in the articles published in the Asian Studies are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of either the Philippine Center for Advanced Studies or the University of the Philippines. The authors are also responsible for the accuracy of the facts and statements contained in the articles.

Copyright Note: All materials published in the Asian Studies may not be republished without permission. Inquiries regarding permission for republication may be addressed directly to the Publications Office, Philippine Center for Advanced Studies, University of the Philippines System, Guerrero St., Diliman, Quezon City (3004)

DIPLOMACY IN EAST ASIA: AN EXPRESSION OF GENERAL WORLD VIEWS

by

Frank W. Ikle

Diplomacy always reflects underlying philosophical concepts of different theories of government and of international relations. In order to understand the diplomatic history of East Asia, one must understand the prevailing world views of the major powers involved. It seems to me that in the modern period, say 1600 to the present, it is possible to discern a number of perceptions which are responsible for the shaping of the history of East Asia.

The oldest of these is the world view embodied in the traditional Confucian system of international relations as practiced by the Chinese. This diplomacy of cultural imperialism was expressed in the Chinese tributary system. Its fundamental premise was that of an ethnocentric Chinese view of the world, in which China was indeed the sole source of civilization and culture, a view which currently corresponded to historical reality for all of the many centuries from the Ch'in unification to the Manchu dynasty. In this view, China was perceived to exercise a civilizing mission for a vast segment of the world on the basis of her actual power and cultural splendor. That same ethnocentric view was again put forward today, when the leadership of the People's Republic advanced its claim that only the Maoist example of revolution, based on the peasant masses, can bring about the ultimate victory of Socialism in all the underdeveloped areas of the world, be they in Asia, Africa or Latin America. ¹

China's traditional diplomacy of cultural imperialism, reflecting the ideas of Confucius and his great disciples, expressed a view of the world based upon the concept of a pre-ordained natural order in which all things were arranged in a hierarchical fashion. Confucius himself had stated that all society was governed by the classic five fundamental relationships between superior and inferior, namely those between a man and his wife, father and son, elder brother and younger brother, friend and friend, and sovereign and minister. All of these rested upon the key notion of inequality, which was an inherent fact of nature, and indeed was a necessary one lest society would be plunged into disorder and confusion. The maintenance of such inequality, and hence of order and stability, depended upon following the rules of proper procedure or etiquette, *li*. Since there existed only one world order, there logically could exist only one world empire; and since the central portion of the globe was occupied by China – the Middle Kingdom – all men beyond its bounds were considered to be more or less barbarian, lacking culture by not understanding the rules of *li* or proper conduct. If men wanted to be civilized, it was assumed that they would naturally abide by the rules of proper conduct, causing them to emulate the Chinese and to be influenced by Chinese civilization.

The central assumption of Chinese cultural imperialism was then the belief that China was the center of the universe, the fountainhead of all virtue and the possessor of all culture to which inferior nations would look naturally for inspiration and civilization through the adaptation of Chinese ideas and institutions. Chinese influence, one would argue, would flow naturally from the core outward to the barbarian fringes, and China would control the world not by a series of wars of conquest but by the example of her superiority. These basic philosophic assumptions eventually were translated into a diplomatic system, that of the tributary missions. In this system, the payment of tribute by an inferior nation to the Son of Heaven was a ritual performance, in return for which the Chinese government bestowed a series of privileges and boons upon the inferior. Symbolically, this was expressed most importantly by the inferior nation's acceptance of the Chinese calendar and a seal of investiture. In addition, the tributary system also included a very effective carrot, an economic incentive, a form of hidden trade, whereby the Chinese returned presents, after the tribute had been paid, whose value far exceeded that of the tribute offered.

In periods of great Chinese strength, the Manchu empire of the seventeenth century for example, the tributary system embraced a very wide area of the East Asian world, including Korea, the Li-ch'iu islands, Annam, Laos, Siam, Burma and portions of Northwest Asia. When the system was working well, it gave China peace and security along her borders, providing a system of national defense.

This Confucian world view came to be pitted eventually against the views of the European maritime trading powers, whose interests were in trade and the spread of their national power, especially that of Great Britain who clearly occupied a position of preeminence. Before the English, there had been Portuguese, Spanish and Dutch sea barbarians, but it was the Anglo-Chinese confrontation in the 19th century which best illustrated the clash of two fundamentally opposed world views.

British considerations for her overseas trade and markets were augmented, after Waterloo, by her government's insistence on being recognized for what she was, the greatest global power of the century, and the very embodiment of the newly risen forces of the Industrial Revolution. The resultant clash between the Chinese and the English, with their two totally different perceptions of the world, ushered in a period of revolution for the Chinese which has lasted until the very recent past. The result was the complete collapse of the old order, and a period of chaos and anarchy eventually terminating in the victory of Chinese communism. The history of this conflict is part of the well known story of the Canton system, the ensuing Anglo-Chinese wars (the "opium war", so-called, and the "Arrow" war), and the imposition of unequal treaties by the victorious Western powers, Britain always in the lead, upon the unfortunate Chinese.

It is important to remember that, until the very last decade of the 19th century, the European policies toward China remained satisfied with China's acknowledgement of Western superiority and, above all, with the right, proclaimed divine by Manchester liberals, to trade freely everywhere. In other words, within the concept of a diplomacy of trade and national power, there were no attempts at territorial acquisition by any of the major nations, excepting areas at the fringes of the Chinese empire which had formerly belonged to the Chinese tributary system such as Burma. Until 1895, all powers operated under the diplomatic assumptions characterized by the slogan: "to trade, but not to govern."²

The year China suffered a most degrading defeat by Japan, 1895, marked the beginning of a totally new era, that of the diplomacy of imperialism.

Imperialism may be defined as a system of political and economic control by which one state imposes its will upon another, a process which may lead to the establishment of a protectorate, and, eventually, to the dismemberment of the victim. As there are many forms of imperialism, so too, there have been many theories explaining it. Certainly one of the foremost of these is the Marxist theory of imperialism, propounded by no less a figure than Lenin himself, and such Marxist scholars as Hobson. Here, it is argued that imperialism is the necessary last stage of capitalism searching for overseas markets for its products and abundant supplies of cheap labor. Critics of the Marxist approach must include Schumpeter, in his brilliant study "Marxism, Socialism and Democracy."

Another approach to imperialism might be called the bourgeois-liberal one. Here, the phenomenon is seen as primarily a political one, a question of power, prestige and, sometimes, of a civilizing mission. The imperialism of Great Britain under Disraeli, or the French missionary impulse in North Africa and Indochina would fall into this category. Kipling, proclaiming the white man's burden and talking about the lesser breeds before the law, remains as the great popularizer of

such sentiments. Social Darwinism, too, many have been an important influence in the shaping of Imperialism.

Some recent writers have declared imperialism to be some form of social atavism, or yet again, have looked upon it as a necessary safety valve for domestic politics. Bismarck's actions, for example, have served to illustrate the thesis that he chose imperialist policies as a way which would release social and psychological pressures in Germany's domestic situation.³

Be that as it may, in East Asia, imperialism and its diplomacy threatened to do to China after 1895 what had been done to Africa in the preceding decades, that is to create a map resembling a crazy quiltwork pattern in which varying color denoted areas of different foreign domination. In the "scramble for concessions," or the "cutting of the Chinese melon," imperialist thinking of such diversified powers as the Germans, the Russians, the British, the French, the Japanese and, eventually, the Italians, dominated all diplomatic moves in East Asia.

One good example, among many, may serve to illustrate this point. It deals with the German interest in China, which eventually produced the Triple Intervention against Japan in April, 1895. As I have shown elsewhere,⁴ it was originally believed that the prime mover in the Triplice was the Russian state, but, in fact, it was the German desire to obtain for herself an Asiatic base for her Far Eastern squadron which led to this development. Germany had attempted to mediate between China and Japan during the course of the hostilities, with the aim of getting a reward for her services; and, after surveying a series of alternative courses, the German government had concluded that if it were to act on behalf of China, it stood a better chance of being rewarded with the long sought after naval base. When Japan refused to consider German mediation, the Germans intervened over the Liaotung issue, suggesting to the Russian government a diplomatic intervention which the latter was only too happy to support, given its interest in Southern Manchuria with its warm water ports. The French joined in the Triplice as the result of the Franco-Russian alliance, illustrating, thereby, how great power politics on a global scale had now come to permeate East Asian affairs. The Triple Intervention, thus, serves as a fine example of the diplomacy of imperialism, by which China eventually became the real loser, and by which Japanese thinking, in the new ideology of Nipponism, was influenced in its belief that the only thing that really mattered was a powerful armed establishment serving the needs of militant expansionism.

The diplomacy of imperialism may be said to have been the basic framework on which diplomatic events took place from the days of the Triple Intervention to World War I; but, then, new ideologies began to emerge, first in China and later in Japan, which provided a new outlook on international affairs and shaped a different world. These were the ideologies of nationalism, first observed in China at the time of the Versailles settlement.

To define nationalism is in itself not an easy task. Carleton Hayes in his

DIPLOMACY ...

"Essays on Nationalism" defined it as an intellectual development, an ideological fact, a condition of the mind. Nationalism, having roots which go back to the European middle ages, is, however, essentially a modern phenomenon and term, a by-product of the French revolution. The concept of a French nation, powerfully stimulated by the *levee' en masse*, and Napoleon's European warfare with its reaction by other European nations against French control, are the immediate ancestors of modern nationalism. The concept is based upon the idea of nationality, wherein there exists a group of people sharing a common language, history and culture, and nationalism may be defined as the process by which these nationalities are established as political units, together with the intensification of their consciousness of nationality and the rise of the political philosophy of the national state. Or, to use a somewhat different terminology, nationalism is a condition of the mind among members of a nationality in which loyalty to the ideal or fact of the national state is superior to all other loyalties, together with price and belief in its intrinsic excellence and mission.

Nationalism, then, is different from Imperialism, which had been the philosophy characterizing the conduct of diplomacy in East Asia before 1918. Nationalism believes that each nation must constitute a united, independent and sovereign state, and that it expects and requires of its citizens unquestioned obedience and supreme loyalty. Finally, there is in nationalism also the idea of an unmistakable faith in each nation's surpassing excellence over all other nationalities and pride in its unique destiny. Unlike the traditional Confucian world empire, it poses a doctrine at once more narrow and more intense. Its ingredients include geographical unity, racial unity, separate language, religion and tradition and contact with the past.

China's successful nationalist revolution, based upon the principles of Sun Yat-sen and his Kuomintang, soon produced a nationalist form of diplomacy, the "rights recovery" movement, which was directed against foreign Imperialism, whether British, French, Russian or Japanese. Demanding and obtaining, for the greater part, the abolition of the unequal treaties, it also led to clashes in Manchuria and, thus, to a collision course with the nationalism of Japan, and, sharper yet, the ultranationalist conception of the Japanese extremists in the armed forces which culminated, after a series of previous incidents such as the one at Tsinan, the blowing up of Marshall Chiang Tso-lin, and the Nakamura case, in the famous Mukden incident of September 1931.

In Manchuria, the Chinese nationalist diplomacy, which had begun to make moves such as the building of new ports (Hulutao) or the construction of new railroad lines in competition with the Japanese-controlled South Manchurian railroad, squarely came up against the most virulent form of nationalist diplomacy, that of ultranationalism.

This movement, ultranationalism, combined the concept of a militant, aggressive nationalism abroad with program of a radical Social Revolution at home. Its

ideological proponents were writers such as Kita Ikki, Okawa Shumei and Gondo. Its most fervent disciples came from the ranks of the "young officers" in the Japanese military. It was these military extremists who engineered the Manchurian incident, who kept up unrelenting pressure – politically, economically and territorially – against the Chinese Nationalist government in north China and who incited the Marco Polo incident of July 1937 and the outbreak of the second Sino-Japanese war, a wearisome and unprofitable struggle.

Japan's inability to settle the China incident (since she was never free to launch all her manpower and resources against the Chungking government because of the formidable shadow of renewed Soviet power to the North) also led the Japanese government into a series of major diplomatic blunders. Matsuoka, then Japan's Foreign Minister, and no enemy to ultranationalism since he himself was the product of the Japanese regime within Manchukuo, led Japan in her opposition to the West. He initiated the conclusion of the Tripartite pact of 1940, a pact which had grown out of some earlier agreements with the Axis (the Anti-comintern pact of 1936 f.i.); thus, aligning Japan with Germany and Italy.

Japan's attempt to convey Hitlerite Germany and Facist Italy into ideologically suitable partners merely demonstrated the egocentricity of the aims which bound the three nations together. To serve their own interests, the Germans for instance, were quite willing to ignore Japan's animosity to the Soviet Union and to enter into a truce with the latter. So much so that when Nazi Germany, by 1938 and 1939, changed its policies to face the West and to settle the Polish problem, a change which resulted in the German-Russian non-aggression pact, Japan was never informed. The Japanese, likewise, were quite willing to sacrifice important German interests in China which conflicted with lapan's aim to totally dominate China. When Germany in 1940, pressed Japan to take the initiative against Britain by attacking Singapore, and recommended, in 1941, an attack against the Soviets in the Far East, the Japanese demurred. However, the worst mistake of Matsuoka's policy, that of ultranationalism, was the failure of the Tripartite Pact to deter the United States in its growing opposition to Japan's continental expansion. As a result of her alliance to the Axis powers, Japan merely alienated American opinion, in Congress, the press and the public, which, in turn, led to America's unyielding insistence, in the fall of the 1941 Hull-Konoye negotiations, that Japan would have to abandon all of her ill-gotten gains in China before the American economic embargo (July 1941) could be lifted.

In like manner, the Soviet-Japanese Non-aggression pact of April 1941, ultimately led to disaster for Japan and ultranationalism. It gave Stalin the badly needed freedom of facing the German onslaught with a secure rear. However, it did not deny the Soviet Union the opportunity, of which she made free use in August, 1945, of attacking Japan when she was ready to do so. Ultranationalism had then resulted in a diplomacy leading to the fatal decision by Japan to enter World War II, a direct consequence to the use of the first atomic weapons, and to her crashing defeat.

DIPLOMACY ...

The end of the second World War in East Asia reduced Japan to a state of helplessness, and China to a nation torn by civil war, and beset by economic chaos. Ironically, nowhere else on the globe had the polarization of power become more obvious than in East Asia, with the emergence of two superpowers, the U.S.A. and the U.S.S.R., after 1945. At the Yalta conference, early that year, a clear attempt was made to maintain a balance of power between these two, in which a newly defined role assigned Russia control over Manchuria (a fact of life which could not have been prevented by the Allies in any case,) and the United States the undisputed control over the whole of Japan and half of Korea.⁶

The spectacular rise of the Soviet Union into a formidable power, not only in East Asia but in all areas of the Eurasian continent adjacent to her boundaries whether in Europe with pressure upon Greece and Turkey or in Iran in the Near East, led the United States to formulate, out of feelings of frustration and a powerful fear of Soviet expansion, the famous containment policy first posited by Kennan, a policy originally applicable only in European conditions, and then embodied in the Truman doctrine. With this doctrine was the onset of the Cold War and its diplomacy. The Russians forced no crisis in Japan, nor in South Korea, and both powers carefully abstained from taking any position of confrontation on the issue of the Chinese civil war.

By 1950, the diplomatic situation in East Asia had begun to change. On the one hand, there had emerged a newly unified China, an active ally of the Soviet Union while on the other, there was Japan, which had been built up, to be an active agent of the United States.

In June of that year, the invasion of South Korea was launched by North Korean forces, well equipped with Russian military material and advised by Soviet military advisors. The Korean invasion most likely was designed to test the United States, to check the growth of American power and to redress what in Russian eyes seemed a loss in the balance of power which resulted from the crumbling of the Yalta equilibrium and the Russian loss of Manchuria which was taken over by the Chinese Communists. To the United States, this invasion was a direct challenge, and South Korea speedily became a symbol of Western strength and determination in this contest between the two superpowers. The Americans argued that to abandon that unfortunate country would indicate to the world at large the American lack of will and confidence. At the same time, the Americans also began to plan a war which eventually saw UN forces going beyond the original line of division of the Korean peninsula, pushing deep into North Korea all the way to the Yalu river into a Soviet zone of global strategy, thus presenting a real threat to the Soviet Union. In addition to this, the United States interposed its Seventh Fleet between Taiwan and the Chinese mainland providing a powerful shield for the Island, in violation of the Yalta agreement that Taiwan would go to China. More fateful in the long run was the United States involvement, after 1950, in Vietnam where the French were being hard pressed by a nationalist Communist movement.

The immediate result of the Korean invasion meant the end of the Yalta

system, a diplomacy based upon the concept of the balance between two superpowers, and led the United States to a line of thinking which argued that Communism's global challenge (of a monolithic nature given to Moscow-Peking axis) would have to be met everywhere. The result was not only a revitalization of Japan, but also a much more vigorous American policy in the whole of Asia, especially in Southeast Asia. Despite these developments, however, both superpowers in the cold war year, carefully managed to avoid a global confrontation which might have led to an atomic war.

The last twenty-five years or so to the present (1976) was a period in which East Asian diplomacy ceased to be dominated by the will and actions of the superpowers and during which, gradually at first and then more rapidly, East Asian nations and their conceptions of the world again began to occupy the fore-front of the stage. This was evidenced by the emergence of the People's Republic to full power and its formulation of a special Maoist Chinese type of diplomatic thought. Japan, at this time too, was beginning to occupy a more powerful position in the Far East, at first with its incredible economic performance, and, lately, with its growing political power. Thus, East Asia today is an area of multi-polarity, in which there exists a finely honed relationship between four powers, the P.R.C. the U.S.S.R., Japan and the United States. One may argue with the proposition that such a situation makes for greater stability; one cannot argue, however, with the clear evidence that both the U.S. and U.S.S.R. are today much less effective in East Asia than before 1950. The U.S. met its doom in the vain attempt to stem Maoist diplomacy in Vietnam, while the U.S.S.R. shared a similar fate in its relations with Peking and later with Japan.⁷

The United States looked upon the diplomacy of a Maoist China as one which combined many aspects of the past, notably the belief in Chinese superiority and ethnocentrism with an active call for world revolution which was to be accomplished by the mobilization of the rural, not the industrial, proletriat. The rural proletariat was to serve as the vanguard of revolution in all of the underdeveloped areas of the globe. In this global struggle, where the "the city and the countryside" will be pitted against each other, wars of national liberation would take place, expelling once and for all Western imperialism and influence. To Americans who oppose this ideological view, it seemed that the United States must rise to combat this form of Asian communism, by becoming the standard bearer of Western values and ideas. In this sense, in East Asia as well as Southeast Asia, diplomacy willcease to be a realistic and pragmatic means of conducting international business, but instead will be carried out with moralistic and ideological fervor.

It had not always been that way. In the days of Franklin Roosevelt, American thinking had always been opposed to colonialism, especially that of the French. However, by the time of Truman, the world had seemingly changed. A monolithic bloc of aggressive communisms organized challenges against the West on all fronts (in Iran, Turkey, Malaya, the Philippines and Indonesia), and a policy of containment seemed necessary. Unfortunately, America's first serious response to this development had been Dean Acheson's argument that anti-communism was

more important than anti-colonialism and support to nationalist communism (it had not always been this way, i.e. American support given to Sukarno against the Dutch).

American aid to the French in Vietnam proved useless. The Geneva Conference following France's defeat, seemed to many, above all to Dulles, but a step toward the unification of all Vietnam under the leadership of Ho Chi Minh and the Communist, since it provided for the promise of elections which Ho was bound to win. This brought about the American support for a separate nationhood for the South, and assistance given to Diem who was, admittedly, a poor choice. By 1960 the Kennedy administration had begun to look upon Vietnam as a country which justified unlimited American involvement because it would demonstrate that a war of national liberation could be defeated with the use of new means and new techniques, i.e., the lavish use of helicopters and the green berets. Since what was about to take place in Vietnam could also take place in Bolivia or Tanzania, a military situation which may be a precedent for similar incidents all over the world, Washington followed the recommendations of Maxwell Taylor and increased its participation. The sequel to this American decision - the rapid expansion of the war and its Americanization by Johnson, the extension of the conflict by Nixon into Laos and Cambodia and the final, and rather humiliating, American withdrawal - are only too well remembered parts of a sordid story.

By 1972, American diplomacy had learned its lesson, and was ready to return to a more pragmatic and realistic approach, resulting to the Nixon visit to China that year and a willingness to recognize, and make use of Chinese power. This move together with the pragmatism and realism of Chou En-lai, in turn caused the creation of a triangular power relationship between Moscow, Peking and Washington.

The Sino-Soviet split and the Sino-American detente finally permitted a more powerful Japan to emerge, as a vital, although not equal, component. Prime Minister Tanaka's visit to Peking (September 1972) resulted in a very definite rapprochement between Japan and the People's Republic, making possible progress toward a satisfactory Sino-Japanese peace treaty. On the other hand, Japanese relations with the Soviet Union encountered new obstacles. The Russians proved wary of a large scale Japanese involvement in the Siberian oil exploitation, while remaining adamantly opposed to the restoration to Japan of the "northern territories", the southernmost Kurile Islands. Gromyko's recent visit to Tokyo (January 1976) further added to Japan's frustration over these issues, and confirmed her distrust of Russian motives. This strain in the Soviet-Japanese relations stimulated, on the other hand, an even closer and more effective mutual defense tie between Japan and China.

What appears to have taken place, at present, is that East Asian diplomacy is again conducted primarily by the Japanese and the Chinese, rather than the Russians and the Americans. Such an arrangement is probably more feasible.

FOOTNOTES

¹For an excellent presentation of the Confucian world view see: Fairbank, J.K. ed. *The Chinese World Order: Traditional China's Foreign Relations.* Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1968. Other good accounts include Fairbank, J.K. *Trade and Diplomacy on the China Coast, 1842-1854.* Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1953; and for present ideology based on the past Mancall, Marc "The Persistence of Tradition in Chinese Foreign Policy", in Joseph Levenson, ed., *Modern China, an Interpretative Anthology,* London: MacMillan, 1971.

²See Wakeman, Frederic "The Opening of China", in Joseph Levenson, ed., *Modern China, an Interpretative Anthology*, London: MacMillan, 1971.

³Among the many excellent studies of imperialism the following are especially recommended. Fieldhouse, D.K. The Colonial Empires from the Eighteenth Century, New York:Dell, 1965; Golfwitzer, Heinz, Europe in the Age of Imperialism 1880-1914, London: Harcourt, Brace and World, 1969; Robinson, R. and Gallagher, J. Africa and the Victorians: The Climax of Imperialism, Garden City, N.Y.. Doubleday, 1961: Semmel, Bernard Imperialism and Social Reform, English Social and Imperial Thought, Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1960; and Wehler, H.U. Bismarck un der Imperialismus, Cologne: Kiepenheuer and Witsch, 1959.

⁴See my article: "The Triple Intervation: Japan's Lesson in the Diplomacy of Imperialism", Monumenta Nipponica, Vol. XXII, No. 1, p. 122-130.

⁵On Nationalism see Carleton Hayes, *Essays on Nationalism*, New York: MacMillan, 1926 and *The Historical Evolution of Nationalism*, New York: MacMillan, 1931, as well as Hans Kohn, *The Idea of Nationalism*, New York: MacMillan, 1944. On Japanese ultranationalism see George Wilson, *Radical Nationalist in Japan, Kita Ikki*, Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1969. Robert Butow, *Tojo and the Coming of the War*, Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1961, and S.M. Ogata, *Defiance in Manchuria, the Making of Japanese Foreign Policy*, Berkeley: University of California Press, 1964. Very useful also are Y. Hsu, *The Rise of Modern China*, New York: Oxford University Press, 1970, and Akira Iriye, *Across the Pacific*, New York: Harcourt, Brace and World, 1967, and his *After Imperialism*, New York: Atheneum, 1969.

⁶On the cold war in East Asia see especially Akira Iriye, *The Cold War in Asia*, Englewood Cliffs, N.J., Prentice Hall, 1974.

⁷For the diplomacy of the People's Republic of China see Harold Hinton, Communist China and World Politics, Boston: Houghton Mifflin, 1966; and also W. Chai, The Foreign Relations of the People's Republic of China, New York: Putnams, 1972, as well as K.C. Chen, The Foreign Policy of China, Roseland, N.J.: Seton Hall University Press, 1972.

Contemporary Existentialism and the Concept of Naturalness in Taoism and Ch'an(Zen) *

by

Robert K. Lin

Introduction

Eminent historian-philosopher, Arnold Toynbee, after a most sweeping critical survey of human records, lists Laotse and Gautama Buddha, along with only a few others, as the world's greatest benefactors to mankind since the dawn of civilization.¹ This extremely small number of people were instrumental in shaping mankind's thought and behavior for centuries and responsible in making the human society as it is today. Laotse and Buddha, respectively, represent the two most influential philosophical systems in Asia: Taoism and Buddhism. Though arising from completely different social and cultural settings, Taoism and Buddhism (especially as expounded in its Ch'an Sect) share many common views. The affinity between Taoism and Ch'an (Buddhism) is so striking and close that questions have often been asked as to whether Ch'an(Zen) is the higher form of Gautama Buddha's true teachings or it is purely evolved out of Chinese Taoist tradition. Scholars differ sharply over this matter, and it probably will never be settled to the satisfaction of all.

*Ch'an(Zen) is used here to mean Ch'an(Zen) Buddhism exclusively throughout this paper; and Taoism is used here to mean philosophical Taoism.

Both Taoism and Ch'an Buddhism see man's salvation in *wu-wei* (i.e. nonaction),² advocating the doctrine of returning man to his original naturalness (selfso-ness). Both are mainly a way of life, rejecting philosophising. It is believed that conceptual thinking is putting a barrier between oneself and Tao (Ultimate Reality). They both reject verbal teaching and distrust logic. Often the Taoist and Ch'an ideas are so similar that it is hard, if not impossible, to tell which is which. For example, even the doctrine of sudden enlightenment (*tun-we*, in Chinese) had already been formed during the period of Disunity (c. the 4th and 5th centuries).³ Professor Hu Shih concurs that it was Tao-sheng who first taught the idea of sudden enlightenment.⁴ Arthur Wright agrees with Demievilles that:

(Ch'an Buddhism) was a peculiarly Chinese reaction against the prolixity of Buddhist writings, their attenuated chain reasoning and their scholastic rigor of demonstration.⁵

It is no surprise that Humpreys declares that Taoism is the Godfather of Ch'an-(Zen).⁵

On the other hand, however, the Japanese view tends to consider Ch'an(Zen) to be rather a return to Gautama Buddha's authentic teachings. For example, Suzuki sees the Ch'an movement in the light that the Sixth Patriach, Hui-neng, and other Chinese Ch'an masters merely revived the enlightenment experience,⁷ though he also writes:

Zen (Ch'an) is really a great revolutionary movement in the world history of thought. It originated in China, and, in my opinion, could not arise anywhere else.⁸ and,

Zen (Ch'an) movement is a logical Chinese response to the over-speculative and over-otherwordly system which is so alien to Chinese tradition.⁹

As for the doctrine of sudden enlightenment, Suzuki asserts that it is also the very essence of Buddha's teachings.¹⁰ Alan Watts sees in Vimalakirti Sutra, one of the earliest sutras translated into Chinese, the first clear and unequivocal exponent of the doctrine of sudden enlightenment, though he admits that Tao-sheng, and other Chinese masters could also have been tributaries to the stream of Ch'an-(Zen).¹¹ Vimalakirti Sutra accords well with indigenous Taoist (and Confucian idealistic wing) belief that human nature is originally good. This sutra also shares the distinct Chinese (both Taoist and Confucian) this-wordly outlook. ¹² Vimalakirti says:

"Perfect awakening (salvation) is consistent with the affairs of everyday life."¹³

This same view is also expressed in another important Buddhist canon, Lanka Sutra.

"Nirvana is not to be found in contradiction to birth-and-death or Samsara... it is to be found where there is the identity of Nirvana and Samsara." 14

In these sutras, dualism between here and thereafter, this world and other world, is denied. All these similarities and parallels only serve to add fuel to the contro-

versy over the origins of Ch'an. Prof. Ames seems to take a more neutral stand, though leaning toward the Japanese view:

"Zen(Ch'an) in China was more a slow-won recovery of essential Buddhism than a departure from it. But Chinese soil of Confucianism and Taoist naturalism help and spur this development."¹⁵

From the brief survey above, it is rather clear that as far as origins of Ch'an is concerned, the case can be made either way. But at least we can say that many important ideas shared by Taoism and Ch'an were independently developed. However, as to the development of Taoism and Ch'an after the initial stage, it was never quite independent of each other. On the contrary, these two systems of ideas were intertwined to a considerable extent after their contact around the first century A.D. There were numerous borrowings and corresponding influence between Chinese secular literati (often Taoists) and the Buddhist monks; "pamphlets were passed about, formal debates held, new views adumbrated, or old views maintained or refurbished."¹⁶ This partly explains the increasing affinity between Taoism and Ch'an in later years.

For example, the Ultimate Reality, i.e. Tao in Taoism, is all phenomena knit together and regarded as a seamless web of interacting forces both visible and invisible, and interwoven with this is the idea of ceaseless flux.¹⁷ This notion of Tao is close to that of Suchness or Buddha-nature (i.e. Tathata in Sanskrit) in Buddhism.¹⁸ Taoist view of the Ultimate Reality, Tao, is compatible with the Buddhist view of Reality as impermanance or emptiness; therefore, it is no surprise that Tao is used by Chinese Buddhists as a synonym for Voidness, Suchness or Buddha-nature, 19 Accordingly, both Taoism and Ch'an see a Unity Behind all the diversities, and view man as a part of this organic whole of the Reality and recognize the inter-relatedness of all things. This outlook of Oneness more than any other thing, sets Far Eastern mind apart from the Judeo-Christian tradition which is among others anthropocentric and considers Nature as an alien, hostile being to be conquered and exploited. Taoism is to a great extent closely identified with primitivism in that individual man and society will fare better if they return to a state of primitive simplicity, with a minimum of differentiation, of intellection, of purposive activity.²⁰ And only then, it believes, can man act spontaneuosly and naturally. Ch'an(Zen) ever since the Sixth Patriarch, Hui-neng, has continued to be concerned with the same naturalness.²¹ All these seem to indicate that naturalness (self-so-ness or tse-jan in Chinese) is probably the most important concept in both Taoism and Ch'an(Zen) Buddhism, and hence the subject of the investigation of this paper.

The Concept of Naturalness in Taoism and Ch'an(Zen)

First of all, to be natural is to forsake conventional accumulative knowledge, which is not only regarded as artificiality but also a human bondage. This knowledge only serves to complicate things and multiply human miseries. Rejecting

knowledge, both Taoism and Ch'an(Zen) hold that Truth or enlightenment comes only by intuition rather than intellection. Both distrust the cerebral-intellectual values and powers, on the one hand, and emphasize the visceral-intuitive apprehension of Truth by direct experience, on the other.²² For Reason gives a false picture of the world and is unable to understand life, making people believe the imperfect image of the world reflected by the intellect to be the Absolute Truth.²³

It is an almost universal assumption of Western philosophy (and most Asian philosophy as well) that the solution to the great problems of human existence can be arrived at if we carry our rationality far enough, if we try hard enough and make sense of existence, uncover its intrinsic reasonableness; we have the illusion that we will escape if we can only make the system more subtle and complex.²⁴ Actually, to Taoists and Ch'an followers, human reasoning is faulty and philosophy itself is a disease. To attain enlightenment, the functioning of the totality of our psychic consciousness is required.

Anti-intellection finds ample expressions in Taoism and Ch'an. Laotse condemns conventional cleverness, and advises: "The Wise Man's policy, accordingly, will be to empty people's hearts and minds, to fill their bellies, weaken their ambition. . . to keep them uninformed."²⁵ He also says: "Abandon sageliness and discard wisdom (knowledge); then the people will benefit a hundredfold."²⁶ It should be pointed out, however, that Laotse's idea is not to reduce the human mind to a moronic vacuity, but to bring into play its innate and spontaneous intelligence by using it without forcing it. Making and studying books only serve to strangle and suppress the innate intelligence.

From a different perspective, Chuangtse warns: "Your life has a limit but knowledge has none. If you use what is limited to pursue what has no limit, you will be in danger. If you understand this and still strive for knowledge, you will be in danger for certain."²⁷ In Ch'an (Zen) anti-intellection is even more pronounced and drastic, and is occasionally carried to the extreme.

The Sixth Patriach, Hui-neng, probably the best known and revered figure in Ch'an sect, has been for centuries widely known as an illiterate from a barbarian region in south China.²⁸ The fact that Hui-neng, an illiterate rice-pounder, was selected over the most learned monk, Shen-hsiu, as the Sixth Patriach clearly underscores and highly dramatizes the insignificance and irrelevance of conventional learning in achieving enlightenment, emancipation and happiness. The import of the fact that a barbarian or semi-barbarian has a potential as great as a most learned man to become enlightened can be better appreciated if viewed against the long revered tradition of learning in China, where learning and learned men had long been honored and awarded the highest place ever since Confucius' day, if not earlier.

Ch'an's anti-intellectualistic stand unequivocally expressed in one of its four

famous statements which characterize this school of thought: "Not to rely on words."²⁹ Appropriately, Ch'an is dubbed as a wordless sect of Buddhism. Huineng made light of all the ink in the universe and left no writings: "To write with all the ink in the universe. . . none of these can compare with a life of non-activity (*wu-wei*) and infinite love."³⁰ Non-activity (*wu-wei*) is the key concept in both Taoism and Ch'an and it is incompatible with accumulating knowledge and intellection. Understandably, eloquence and disputation are also discouraged. Laotse says: "Those who speak do not know; those who know do not speak."³¹ Chuangtse has less paradoxical statement about the futility of disputation.³² In the "wordless" Ch'an, which maintains that transmission of Truth is from mind to mind, the use of words is kept to a minimum.

When language is absolutely unavoidable, it is often used not as it means, as in KOAN cases, but what it does. For example, when a disciple asks his master, "What is Buddha?", the reply could be "Three pounds of flax.³³ This kind of seemingly illogical *koan* or mondo (question and answer) is primarily designed to jolt people out of the rut of conventional logic and faulty dualistic thinking pattern. As Alan Watts points out: "Zen (Ch'an) is above all a process of unlearning, of abandonment of ideology, of all fixed forms of thought and feeling, whereby the mind tries to grasp its own life."³⁴

What concerns Taoism and Ch'an is not the dualistic, relative, analytic knowledge, but the innate prajna-intuition (or Buddha-nature in Ch'an terms) which is believed to be originally existent in every sentiment. Since it lies inside oneself, he does not seek it outside; "By directly pointing into the mind one gains sudden enlightenment." Ch'an offers a way that is direct and immediate. Truth must be seized with bare hands, with no gloves on.³⁵ Broadly speaking, Ch'an masters despise those who indulge in word - or idea-mongering,³⁶ which only serves to trap life in a metaphysical net. In Taoism and Ch'an, there is a strong preference for living life rather than talking about it. This tenet is best expressed in Kaplan's statements: "The wise man does not pursue wisdom but lives his life, and therein precisely does his wisdom lie."³⁷ Naturalness means, among other things unlearning; "truly to know is not to know".³⁸

Secondly, to be natural is to follow Nature and to live in harmony with it. It is fundamental to Taoist and Ch'an (and the idealistic wing of Confucianism) belief that Nature is good and to be trusted. This concept, however, is quite alien to the Judeo-Christian beliefs and tradition. "Christianity, in absolute contrast to ancient paganism and Asia's religions . . . insisted that it is God's will that man exploits Nature for his proper ends."³⁹ Christianity sees the world consisting of two opposing forces, the human and the non-human, and holds that the non-human world is inferior to, and existent for, the human world. It fails to recognize "the unity of life in all its forms".⁴⁰

Taoism and Ch'an had long taken an organic view of Nature (the Universe or the Reality) which rejects the human/non-human dichotomy. In Taoism, man is not the center of the world, but he is just a tiny part of the whole organic Nature.

He seeks not to dominate but to live in accord with the movement of Tao (naturalness) and keeps intimate touch with it.

Chinese people have been very much conscious of, and concerned with, myriad natural forces and sceneries; they have developed both a fear and respect for Nature, which is best manifested in their age-old belief in Feng-shui (literally, winds and waters).⁴¹ Chinese paintings, being deeply influenced by Taoist outlook, predominantly feature scenes of majestic and mysterious 'mountains and waters', and man, if included in the painting at all, is often relegated to the side, enchanted and immersed in Nature. Such paintings strongly express the theme of the unity of man and nature in Taoism (and Ch'an).

Ch'an follows Mahayana Buddhism, denying the existence of an individual soul or self. It holds that each is a part of the Great Self which is the only Reality and which inter-connects all the things of the phenomenal world. The existence of the individual is merely an illusion: "We are one with Nature; and non-I are One. Our inner nature is an extension of the outer Nature."⁴² The union of the nature within a man and the nature without is the aim of both Taoism and Ch'an.⁴³

Nature is regarded as amoral. To follow nature means being willing to accept her support (food, etc.) and her cruelty (floods, etc.) as one. The Taoist accepts death, as he does life, as part of the natural process. Laotse counsels how to live out one's natural life, whereas Chuangtse regards death as part of the continuing transformation and equalizes death with life. Therefore, he found cause to celebrate the death of his wife by beating the drums. Ch'an, on the other hand, takes life calmly as it comes, transcending life and death, and thus offers a way to live without fear and naturally. In Ch'an, life, castles, and virtually everything else in the world are recognized as impermanent or empty; and its followers do not suffer from the craving to keep forever things which are essentially empty.⁴⁵

In following Nature, we should desist from making ingenious devices to defy Nature, because such defiance will eventually, though having their short term effectiveness, backfire. For instance, medical science and the latest stunt of heart transplant which may prolong human life may also lead to over-population and increase conflicts and killings among men; other technologies ease the task of making a living, but pollute the human habitat.

As Toynbee observes, we have not increased happiness in 2000 years of 'progress'; the Palaeolithic hunter lacked all our present-day material amenities, but he was probably happier than we are 46 The Tasadays, the recently discovered stone-aged tribe in the Philippines, offer a living testimony to Toynbee's observation. Their happy, peaceful, unharried life has nothing to do with any theories and inventions made by men in all fields in the past 2000 years in their ceaseless push for 'progress'.⁴⁷

The fact that the happy existence of the stone-aged men contrasts sharply with the myriad ills and anxieties of modern men calls into question our age-old notion of "progress". The paradox makes the greatest mockery of human intellect. As Paul Goodman points out.

"There is now widespread conviction that beautiful advances in genetics, surgery, computers, rocketry, or atomic energy will surely only increase human woe." 48

This painful lesson seems to confirm well the validity of the doctrine of following Nature and being natural.

Thirdly, to be natural is also to mean to have no-mind or no-thought (*wu-shin* or *wu-nien* in Chinese).⁴⁹ No-mind or no-thought does not mean the absence of consciousness, neither does it mean the numbress of mind. Rather it means a non-abiding mind (i.e. *wu-chu* in Chinese) — freedom from any form of attachment. It is like a mirror rejecting nothing, showing no preference and keeping nothing.⁵⁰

The perfect man employs his mind as a mirror. It refuses nothing. It receives, but does not keep". 50

No-mind does not mean not to think of anything at all, nor complete expulsion of thought. No-mind means to "move with life without trying to arrest and interrupt its flow" and it is "an immediate awareness of things as they live and move, as distinct from the mere grasp of ideas and feelings about things which are the dead symbols of a living reality."⁵¹ If life can be compared to a piece of symphony, no-mind means to hear the symphony as it is being played out and keep one's mind continuously in the same rhythm. Any attempt to analyze or dwell on certain notes would mean losing contact with reality.

No-mind is a state of wholeness in which the mind functions freely and easily, without the sensation of a second mind or ego standing over it with a club."⁵² Naturalness cannot flourish until one can let one's mind alone so that it functions in the integrated and spontaneous way that is natural to it.

Fourthly, to be natural means to be, and to borrow a contemporary existentialist term, AUTHENTICALLY EXISTING. That is, one should exist as a true and whole human being, unfettered by unnatural restrictions or inhibitions of internal or external origin.

Lastly, to be natural means to be even not thinking of naturalness. This is the highest meaning of naturalness and the last stage to attain (or not to attain, according to Ch'an logic). The whole system of Ch'an disciplines is a series of attempts to be free from all forms of bondage.⁵³ If we set our minds on naturalness, then we will find ourselves clinging to the notion of naturalness and become naturalness-bound. This is not complete emancipation, non-attachment or naturalness. Total naturalness is total non-attachment and total freedom; the attempt to work on naturalness is a vicious circle -- we would be replacing one bondage with another.⁵⁴ The state of mind of a fully natural man with respect to naturalness can be described in Suzuki's words, "being unconsciously conscious".⁵⁵

Since thought is father to action (or activity), no-mind (wu-hsin) is, therefore, the highest sense of Laotse's doctrine of non-action (non-activity, or we-wei in Chinese). In other words, naturalness is simply ordinary-mindedness or doing nothing we would be unnaturally conscious of. Naturalness lies in one's going about his daily routine business (i.e. self-activity in Marxian terms). In the final analysis, naturalness is nothing other than we-wei: doing nothing that is unnatural. This is what Dr. Hu-Shih means by "Ch'an is no Ch'am" and "the true practice of Ch'an is no practice at all;" ⁵⁶ or what a Ch'an master would mean by "to attain is not to attain". This is also exactly what Watts means by "being a Buddha without intending to be a Buddha."^{S7} Naturalness is finally forgetting naturalness and we have come a full circle.

Naturalness in Taoism and Ch'an vis-a-vis Authentic Existence in Existentialism

The Taoism-Ch'an stance against intellection and conceptualization recalls the contemporary existentialist distrust of the intellect. Gradually and belatedly, the West has come to the realization that the power of reason and its resultant science and technology have their serious limits. As Ames observes:

Americans believe in the pursuit of happiness. They have declared independence of gloom and doom. By and by through factory they have made a high standard of living, first for a few then for many, they have more and more machines, goods, services, time off. But not more happiness. Often they have less. They have more nerves, cancer, heart trouble.⁵⁸

Reason and knowledge has not increased the happiness of mankind; on the contrary, it has endangered the habitat of man and human existence. The technologically advanced is only beginning to reap the ravages of subdued, conquered and ruth-lessly exploited Nature.

Modern society with its extreme specialization only exacerbates the sense of separation and alienation among men. The contemporary existentialist movement represents a reaction to this alienation and rejects the supremacy of reason.⁵⁹ Existentialists declare that the mysteries of life cannot be fathomed or explained by rational thought.⁶⁰ Their chief spokesman, Sartre, takes a dim view of human intellect and speaks with Taoist-Ch'an ring. "Knowledge... is empty."⁶¹

Naturalness (self-so-ness) in Taoism and Ch'an has a close affinity with the doctrine of AUTHENTIC EXISTENCE as expounded by Heidegger, Sartre, and many others.⁶² Martin Heidegger, after reading Suzuki's works on Ch'an, remarked: "If I understand this man correctly, this is what I have been trying to say in all my writings."⁶³ Doubtless, to some extent, Taoists and Ch'an followers can certainly be called existentialists. In contemporary existentialism, one should be free to choose, to decide and to act, since the individual is the final judge.⁶⁴

In Ch'an history, the practice of appointing a Patriach was discontinued

CONTEMPORARY EXISTENTIALISM

with the death of the Sixth Patriach, Hui-neng, simply because dogmatism was not in keeping with Ch'an belief that the teachings of all the Buddhas originally exist in one's own mind.⁶⁵ As Watts puts it, "we are each the Lord in hiding."⁶⁶ In Taoism, the doctrine of *wu-wei* (non-activity)⁶⁷ condemns interference on the ground that each individual, if left alone in its natural state (self-so-ness) can take care of itself. As briefly mentioned, the notion of authentic existence denies external authority. It is, therefore, iconoclastic. But it is not iconoclastic for the sake of iconoclasm. As Paul Tillich explains it, a Deity deprives man of his subjectivity because He is all powerful and all-knowing.⁶⁸ Or as Nietzche sees it, "God. . . is not freedom for man. He is the domestication of man, the end of the "homo creator" . . . Man is turned from a wolf into a dog, into a domestic animal."⁶⁹ and only the death of God can make possible the advent of a new humanity.⁷⁰ This humanistic and iconoclastic stance of contemporary existentialism recalls many Ch'an teachings which stress the point that every man is a potential *Buddha* (The Enlightened One). For example, Lin-chi, a renowed Ch'an master, declaimed.

"O You followers of Truth! If you wish to obtain an orthodox understanding of Zen(Ch'an), do not be deceived by others. Inwardly or outwardly, if you encounter any obstacles kill them right away. If you encounter the Buddha, kill him; if you encounter the Patriach, kill him; kill them all without hesitation, for this is the only way to deliverance. Do not get yourselves entangled with any object, but stand above, pass on, and be free!"⁷¹

The Buddha is often spoken of as a 'dry stick of dung'; "All the Buddhist teachings as propounded in the *sutras* and *sastras* are treated by Zen(Ch'an) as mere waste paper."⁷² Hence, a famous Ch'an story relating a monk burning wooden figures of the Buddha to keep warm. Another famous 13th century Chinese painting by Liang K'ai has a monk none other than the Sixth Patriach tearing up a *sutra*.⁷³ The message of all these iconoclasm is rather clear, that the emancipation of man and the maintaining of authentic existence demand the death of the Buddha and the abolition of all authority. Iconoclasm can be traced back to Gautama Buddha's teaching. "Be a lamp to yourself."⁷⁴

According to the existentialists including Laotse, Hui-neng and Sartre, conventional morality and institutions tend to inhibit innate spontaneity and suppress the Buddha-nature. Existentialists of almost every hue are irrationalists, rejecting the supremacy of cold reason. They never take the objective world very seriously, they make fun of the cumbersome intellect and of all forms of conventional wisdom and pomposity.⁷⁵ Karl Marx was an existentialist cousin, holding a sympathetic view of authentic existence.⁷⁶ Marx's humanism holds that man's ultimate end is simply to become fully human,⁷⁷ which cannot be so long as he remains alienated from himself in religious fantasies or self-realization.⁷⁸

The fantasy life of religion is a pseudo-self-realization. Man does not become himself, he merely dreams about it. So the life of man in religion is an acceptance of the shadow of self-realization in lieu of the substance, the seeming in lieu of the being.⁷⁹ In believing god of one kind or another, man forsakes part of his hu-

manness and autonomy, which are basic ingredients of man's naturalness and spontaneity. The more one trusts Buddha, God or any other supernaturalness and spontaneity, the less human he remains. To Marx, Hui-neng, Sartre and Laotse, especially the former, the abolition of religion as the illusory happiness of man is a demand for their real happiness and their real humanness,⁸⁰ on which man's naturalness is predicated. Religion, according to Marx, is not simply a consolation for man's poverty but it is a consolation for his-non-humanity, a surrogate for being man.⁸¹ Marx called religion the opium of the people, and regarded it as "the holy form of human self-alienation."⁸²

An alienated man is not wholly human, much less a natural man as understood in Taoism and Ch'an.

Marx also saw man's essence and naturalness threatened in economic life. He carried Hegel's spiritual alienation in division of labor and specialization, which is, especially in post-industrial society, increasingly man's humanness and original spontaneity. For Marx the aim of human development is that of the development of the total, universal man who holds all his faculties in harmonious balance.⁸³

Marx' concept of socialism is the emancipation from alienation, the return of man to himself as a whole human.⁸⁴ With the advent of the Industrial Revolution, the worker sells his labor in a factory assembly line where he finds no outlet for expressing his personality and giving free play to his creativity. The worker is related to the product of his labor as to an alien object and his essence (humanness) is taken away from him (i.e. alienated) by the employer.⁸⁵

Marx envisioned a society (communist) where a man can express his individuality in his daily activities and is not forced into alienated labor or submersed in lifelong occupation.

"... in communist society, where nobody has one exclusive sphere of activity but each can become accomplished in any branch he wishes, society regulates the general production and thus makes it possible for me to do one thing today and another tomorrow, to hunt in the morning, fish in the afternoon, rear cattle in the evening, criticize after dinner, just as I have a mind, without becoming hunter, fisherman, shepherd or critic."⁸⁶

This Marxian vision tends to be pastoral and rustic, and free, and it accords well with the lifestyle of Taoists and Ch'an followers. The social and political conditions of such a society are conducive to one's becoming natural and permit him to lead a truly human existence. Only under such free conditions can one expect to hear of such a society are conducive to one's becoming natural and permit him to lead a truly human existence. Only under such free conditions can one expect to hear such a happy utterance from the contented resident. "In carrying water and chopping wood there lies the wonderful Tao."⁸⁷

Marx believed that the goal for man is to realize his humanity and, at the

same time, to achieve the unity of man with Nature. Fromm believes that "the thinking of Marx is closely related to the thinking of Zen(Ch'an) . . . Only when man can relate himself to Nature humanly, can he overcome self-alienation."⁸⁸ Marx's concept of socialism is a protest, as are all existentialist philosophies, against the alienation and dehumanization of man, and it is also a protest against man's exploitation of man, and his exploitativeness toward Nature. An un-alienated man, according to Marx, is "the man who does not 'dominate' Nature, but who becomes one with it, who is alive and responsive toward objects so that objects come to life for him."⁸⁹ And an alienated man works in order to live He does not reckon labour as part of his life, it is rather a sacrifice of his life. The more a worker produces, the less of him remains human. It has become rather clear that a natural man is an un-alienated man (the reverse is not necessarily true), who "feels thoroughly at home with himself, enjoys a sense of voluntary self-determination to action and experiences his energies as his own".⁹⁰

Marx's central theme throughout his life had been how to de-alienate humanity.⁹¹ As mentioned before, for Marx, the aim of human development is to free the total, universal man against specialization and alienated labour (i.e. lifeactivity, as distinct from self-activity). However, Marx's approach had been mainly the emphasis on the need for a radical transformation of society that would return man to himself and permit him to lead a truly human existence. His argument for violent revolution could, at best, remove one half of the problem of human selfalienation – i.e. the external circumstances. Marx failed to offer cures to solve the problem at the root. After all, "the enemy of human self-alienation is egoistic need, the drive to own and possess things."⁹² To possess is, in a sense, to be possessed.

In modern society with all the comforts modern technology can offer, human 'needs' are continually created and yet man can never be satisfied.

"... auto, radio, TV... become actual needs for great number of people... all this makes for an extraordinary externalization of life in our time." 93

Through externalization of life, man loses his wholeness, his freedom, and his original naturalness (spontaneity). Admittedly, Marx did recognize that "man is alienated from himself when he produces under the compulsion of "egoistic need," but he failed to trace this egoism to its real source within the personality of the alienated individual himself. Therefore, he failed to understand that it is only there, and by the individual's own moral effort, that egoism can be undone.⁹⁴ Naturalness and humanness can only be restored after egoism is undone and the unity of inner nature and outer nature has been achieved. Until external circumstances are altered along with an inner moral revolution, human self-alienation will remain and naturalness in man will not flourish.

It is interesting to note that Ch'an seldom vigorously champions the cause of altering external circumstance while Marx failed to take sufficient note of the problem as pertaining to man's inner world. Hui-neng, on the one hand, proposed

to de-alienate the inner world of man; on the other, Marx proposed to de-alienate the outer world of man. It appears that Marx and Hui-neng complement each other in pointing out the way to a truly human existence and the attainment of his original unadulterated naturalness (spontaneity or self-so-ness). Marx, despite his avowed dialectic materialism, would readily win the hearts of Laotse and Hui-neng by his non-materialistic belief: "The man who is much and has little".⁹⁵

FOOTNOTES

¹Toynbee, Arnold J., "Civilization on trial", collected in *The Great Ideas Today* 1961 (Chicago: Encyclopedia Britannica, Inc. 1961), p. 335. The others are: Confucius, Zoroaster, Jesus, Muhammad, Socrates and the Prophets of Israel and Judah. Lin Yutang even claims: "If there is one book in the whole Oriental literature which one should read above all the others, it is . . .Laotse's *Book of Tao (Wisdom of China and India)* p. 579, published by Random House, 1942.

²For the meanings of wu-wei see Holmes Welch's book Taoism: the parting of the way (Boston; Beacon Press, revised ed. 1965) p. 33.

³Chang, Lit-sen, Zen-Existentialism the Spiritual Decline of the West (Wenham, Mass,: Presbyterian and Reformed Pub. Co., 1969), p.31. The author quoting Prof. Fung Yu-lan.

⁴Hu, Shih, "Ch'an(Zen) Buddhism in China: its history and method." *Philosophy East and West*, v.3, no. 1 (April 1953) p.7.

⁵Wright, Arthur F., Buddhism in Chinese History (New York: Atheneum, 1965), p.48.

⁶Humphreys, Christmas, Zen Buddhism London,: Allen and Unwin, 1957), p.217. Prof. Constant C.C. Chang is, however, of the opinion that Ch'an is an combination of activist Confucianism and aesthetic Taoism (see his book *The Story of Chinese Philosophy* Taipeh: Wen-Chien Printing Co. 1960), p.260.

⁷Suzuki, Daisetz Teitaro, Studies in Zen (N.Y.: Delta, c.1955), p. 138.

⁸Ibid., p.155.

⁹Ibid., p.155.

¹⁰Ibid., p.136.

¹¹Watts, Alan, W., The Way of Zen (N.Y.: Pantheon, 1969), p.83

¹²The this-wordly outlook of Confucianism is well-known. As for Taoism, there is no thing otherworldly about it. Holmes and Arthur Waley both agree that though seclusion is deemed necessary, the Sage is not a hermit and is very much involved in daily affairs. See Holmes's *Taoism: the parting of the way*, p.81.

¹³Watts, ibid., p. 80.

¹⁴Ames, Van Meter, Zen and American Thought (Honolulu: University of Hawaii Press, 1962), -6. ¹⁵Ibid., p.5.

¹⁶Link, Arthur E., "The Taoist antecedents of Tao-An's prajna ontology." *History* of *Religions; and International Journal for Comparative Historical Studies.*, v. 9, 2 & 3 (Nov. 1969/Feb. 1970), p. 183.

¹⁷Wright, Arthur F., "A Historian's reflections on the Taoist traditions." *History of Religions*, v. 9, nos. 2 & 3 (Nov. 1969/Feb. 1970), p.248.

¹⁸Watts, Alan W., The Spirit of Zen: a way of life, work, and art in the Far East. (London: John Murray, 1958), p. 26.

¹⁹Creel, H.G., "The Great Clod: a Taoist Conception of the Universe," collected in Chos Tse-tsung (ed.): *Wen-lin: Studies in the Chinese Humanities* (Madison: University of Wisconsin Press, 1968), p.259.

²⁰Wright, ibid.,

²¹Watts, *The Way of Zen*, pp. 93-95. Also: Chung, Chung-yuan's *Creativity and Taoism* (N.Y.: Harper, 1970) p.12.

²²King, Winston L., "Eastern Religions; a new interest and influence." The Annuals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science, v.387, (January 1970), p.66.

²³Cohen-Portheim, Paul, The Message of Asia (N.Y.: Dutton, 1934), pp.150-151.

²⁴Kaplan, Abraham, *The New World of Philosophy* (N.Y.: Vintage Book, 1961), p. 311, 313 and 314.

²⁵Laotse, *The Way of Life: Lao Tzu* a translation by R.B. Blakney (N.Y. New American Library, 1955), p. 132.

²⁶Laotse, *The Way of Lao Tzu Tao-te ching*, translated by Wing-tsit Chan (N.Y.: Bobb-Merrill, 1963), p.132.

27Watson, Burton, tr. Chuang Tzu: Basic Writings (N.Y.: Columbia Universal Press, 1969), p. 46.

²⁸See Chan, Wing-tsit, tr. *The Platform Scripture* (N.Y.: Delta Book, 1967), p.15. The Four Statements are:

A Special tradition outside the scriptures (i.e., sutras), No dependence upon words and letters, Direct pointing at the soul of man, Seeing into one's own nature and the attainment of buddha-hood.

²⁹(Not indicated. Ed.)

³⁰Hu,Shih, ibid., p.10.

³¹Laotse, The Way of Life: Lao Tzu (Tao-to Ching), translated by Wing-tsit Chan, p.199.

³²Watson, Burton, tr. ibid., p.43-44.

³³Watts, The Spirit of Zen, p. 27-28.

³⁴Ibid., p.11.

³⁵Kaplan, ibid., 316.

³⁶Suzuki, Studies in Zen, p. 142.

37Kaplan, ibid, p. 311.

³⁸Watts, The Way of Zen, p. 83.

³⁹Linn White as quoted in *Beyond Survival*, ed., by William S. Robinson et al (Lexington, Mass.: Heath, 1971), p.12.

⁴⁰Cohen-Portheim, Raul, ibid., p. 150.

⁴¹Murphey, Rhoads, "Man and Nature in China," *Modern Asian Studies*, v. 1, no.4, (October 1967), pp.314-316.

 42 Welch, Holmes, Taosim: the parting of the way (Boston: Beacon Press, 1967), p. 45. "Our inner nature is an extension of the nature of the universe. To follow one is to be in harmony with the other."

⁴³Blyth, R.H., Zen in English Literature and Oriental Classics. (Ruland, Vermont: Tuttle, 1957), p.vii.

⁴⁴Welch, ibid., 46.

45 Watts, The Spirit of Zen, pp. 22-23.

⁴⁶Toynbee, Arnold, Surviving the Future, (N.Y.: Oxford University Press, 1971), pp.23-36.

⁴⁷Reported in *The Christian Science Monitor* (April 7, 1972), p.3, with the title: "Window open into Stone Age."

⁴⁸Paul Goodman as quoted in the book *Beyond Survival*, p. 10, cf. note 43 above.

⁴⁹Watts, The Way of Zen, p. 47.

⁵⁰Ibid., pp. 19-20.

⁵¹Watts, The Spirit of Zen, p. 23.

⁵²Watts, The Way of Zen, p. 23.

⁵³Suzuki, D.T., The Zen Doctrine of No-Mind (London, Rider, 1970), p. 27.

⁵⁴The genuine Ch'an values nonattachment and naturalness above anything else; the true practice of Ch'an is no practice at all. Yet in Today's Japan Ch'an followers are strictly required to sit motionless on the wooden platform of the meditation hall; inside the hall whacking and beating is a commonplace. All these seem to be a quiet departure from Hui-neng or Matsu's teachings. cf. Koestler, Arthur: *The Lotus and the Robot* (N.Y.: Harper, 1966), pp.255-257.

⁵⁵Suzuki, The Zen Doctrine of No-Mind, p. 57.

⁵⁶Hu, Shih, ibid., pp. 6-7.

57Watts, The Way of Zen, pp. 93-95.

⁵⁹Chang, Lit-sen, ibid., 75.

60 Ibid.

⁶¹Sartre, Jean-Paul, *The Philosophy of Existentialism*, (N.Y.: Philosophical Library 1965), p.269.

⁶²cf. Takehiko Okada's article "Wang Chin and the rise of Existentialism" in *Self and Society in Ming Thought*, ed. by Wm. Theodore de Bary (N.Y.: Columbia University Press, 1970), pp. 121-142.

⁶³Chang, Lit-sen, ibid., p. 116 & 115: According to Suzuki's analysis: "Zen(Ch'an) diverges from Existentialism in this: There are various brands of existentialism but they seem to agree that the sea of possibilities opening ahead is frightening. They mean freedom and unlimited freedom means unbearable responsibility. To those thoughts, Zen(Ch'an) is a stranger, because for Zen'(Ch'an) the finite is infinite, time is eternity, man is not separated from God. Furthermore, Zen(Ch'an) does not find anything frightening in infinite possibilities, unlimited freedom, never-ending responsibilities; Zen(Ch'an) moves along with infinite possibilities: Zen(Ch'an) enjoys unlimited freedom, because Zen(Ch'an) is freedom itself; however unending and unbearable responsibility may be, Zen(Ch'an) bears it as if not bearing it at all.."

⁶⁴Though contemporary existentialism and Taoism-Ch'an agree that the final truth is up to the individual to decide, there is a basic difference, in addition to Suzuki's comparison under note 58, that sets Taoism-Ch'an apart from the former. The difference is: in both Taoism and Ch'an there is no split between oneself and Nature (the objective world) and the nature of the individual is an extension of outer Nature. Therefore to follow one's innate spontaneity (i.e. individual decision) is to follow Tao. Yet this is not necessarily true in the contemporary Existentialism which holds a dualistic world outlook that one's decision could go against Nature. When naturalness prevails @@, the individual, in Taoism and Ch'an, manifests to, which is a microcosm of Tao, cf. Chang Chung-yuan, "Concept of Tao", *Review of Religion*, v. 17, No. 1, (March 1953), pp. 128-129.

⁶⁵Suzuki, Daisetz Teitaro, *Essays in Zen Buddhism* (first series) (N.Y.: Grove Press, 1961), p.214.

⁶⁶Watts as quoted in Zen-Existentialism, p.5.

⁶⁷Welch, ibid. p.33. for a good discussion of wu-wei.

68Chang, Lit-sen, ibid., p. 6.

69 Kaufmann, Walter A. ed. Portable Nietzsche, p. 198.

⁷⁰cf. Altizer, Thomas J.J.'s *Radical Theology and the Death of God* (N.Y.: Bobbs-Merill, 1966), pp.3-7, for meanings of Death of God movement.

⁷¹Watts, The Spirit of Zen, p. 44.

⁷²Chang, Lit-sen, ibid. p. 13.

⁷³A reproduction of this painting can be found in, among others, *The Christian Science Monitor* (November 7-9, 1970), p. 9, with an article entitled: "Art and the meaning of Zen" by Susan Bush.

74_{Hu},Shih, ibid, p.19.

⁷⁵Watts, The Spirit of Zen, p. 30.

⁷⁶Tucker, Robert C., *Philosophy and Myth in Karl Marx* (N;Y.: Cambridge University **Press**, 1969), p.168., This is an excellent book on Marx's humanism and existentialism.

⁷⁷Marx, Karl, Karl Marx: Early Writings, tr. by T.B. Bottomore, (N.Y.: McGraw-Hill, 1964), p.i-v.

78_{Tucker}, ibid., p.99.

79_{Ibid}.

⁸⁰Levi, Albert William, Humanism & Politics (Bloomington: Indiana University Press 1969), p.409.

⁸¹Tucker, ibid., p.100.

⁸²Tucker, ibid., p. 102.

83 Fromm, Erich, Marx's Concept of Man (N.Y.: Frederick Ungar Pub. Co., 1968), p.42.

84.Fromm, ibid., p.43.

⁸⁵The employer as well as the employee is alienated labour. cf. Tucker, p. 80.

⁸⁶Karl Marx as quoted in Fromm's Marx's Concept of Man, p.12.

⁸⁷Tucker, ibid., pp.158-160.

⁸⁸Fromm, ibid., p.33.

⁸⁹Fromm, ibid., p.63.

⁹⁰Tucker, ibid., p.134.

⁹¹Ibid., p.176.

92_{Ibid., p.158.}

⁹³Barrett, William, Irrational Man; A Study in Existential Philosophy (Garden City, N.Y.: Doubleday, 1962), p. 31.

⁹⁴Tucker, ibid., p.240.

⁹⁵Fromm, ibid., p.90.

EVOLUTION OF SINO-AMERICAN ECONOMIC RELATIONS, 1784-1929: A Survey

by

Paratha Sarathy Ghosh

In Asia, the Far East is one region in which the United States has always taken a great deal of interest ever since it declared its independence from Britain. Its first contact in the region was with China, hence, the commercial contact of the United States with China is as old as the American Republic itself. Its interest in the country was primarily economic. When this economic interest became sufficiently large, the United States started thinking in terms of developing diplomatic relations with China.

It was John Ledyard, an American who accompanied Captain Cook in his voyage to the Pacific (1776-81), who acquainted the Americans with the prospect of a profitable fur trade in the port of Canton.¹ However, owing to internal strife and turmoil during the Revolution, Americans could not pay much attention to the development of trade with China. After the war against England which ended in favour of the thirteen colonies, American trade with Canton began to flourish.

The American struggle for independence freed the colonies from the political yoke of Britain, and this filled the Americans with a sense of self-esteem and honour.² This found expression not only in the consolidation and modification of socio-political institutions, but also in the American aspiration to win her rightful place in the international community.

The defeat of Britain had already lifted the trade restrictions against the United States. So, it now embarked on a commercial career which soon aroused the envy of other nations.³ Commercial voyages were undertaken. New markets and fresh economic contacts were established. It was during this heyday of American commercialism that the *Empress of China*, an American vessel, made the first direct voyage from New York to Canton in 1784; and opened a significant chapter in the history of Sino-American relations.

The *Empress of China* sailed from New York in February 1784 and reached Canton, the only Chinese port open at that time to foreign commerce, in August 1784. Fortunately for posterity, the supercargo of the vessel, the merchant in charge of the adventure, was Samuel Shaw who was a writer. His memoirs give a vivid account of China trade as it was carried out during the first years of the American Republic.⁶

The *Empress* carried fur, raw cotton and lead; but the chief cargo consisted of some thirty tons of ginseng root, considered by the Chinese as having great medical value.⁷ The adventure cost approximately $$120,000^8$, an investment which seemed, at that time, to be quite sizeable. However, when the *Empress of China* returned to New York, fifteen months after her departure, it was learned that Samuel Shaw had succeeded in trading his cargo for 3,000 pieces of Bohea tea and Hyson, 962 pieces of China ware, 24 pieces of nankeens and 490 pieces of silk.⁹ According to Shaw, the venture had earned an overall profit of \$37,727 or better than 30 per cent of the original investment.¹⁰

The China trade of the United States, which the *Empress of China* inaugurated, continued with a rapid pace and, before the delegates at Philadelphia had completed the framing of the Constitution, at least nine voyages had already been undertaken to the Far East by enterprising Americans.¹¹ Soon, the United States emerged as one of the chief trading nations in the Far East. In 1789 the number of American ships in Canton was second only to those flying the British flag.

As the China trade prospered, the Americans encountered difficulties in finding an outbound cargo. In the beginning, they had exchanged ginseng root for Chinese tea and silk which were in great demand in the American market. When the price of ginseng fell in the Chinese market, Americans found the ginseng trade not very lucrative. They turned, therefore, to exporting sea-otter furs and seal peltries, which, at that time, were being supplied by the Russians. Although the Americans had to face strong competition in this trade from the Russians, English, French, Dutch, Portuguese and Austrians, furs and seal skins obtained from the

EVOLUTION OF SINO-AMERICAN ...

Northwest Coast and Falkland Islands, respectively, became their principal export items.¹³ Fur trade at Canton was supplemented by opium, sandalwood, ginseng and silver. Beche-de-mer, edible birds' nests, and sharks' fins, which were purchased by the Chinese for making soups, also formed part of China-bound cargoes.

The American traders exchanged these items with Chinese tea and silk; and, by 1811, they had become the most serious rivals of the British in the tea trade at Canton.¹⁴ Their ships were neither so large nor so numerous as those of the British East India Company, yet they carried from Canton, in 1805-1806, eleven million pounds of tea in 37 ships, as against British exports of 22 million pounds in 49 ships.¹⁵

Although the Americans were posing a challenge to British trade at Canton, in certain important aspects, the latter was in a more advantageous position. It is true that the American merchants traded with greater individual freedom. However, they neither had the financial backing and prestige of the East India Company nor any moral protection from their government. Even the American consuls who were appointed at Canton were not consuls in the diplomatic sense of the term. They were usually traders of super-cargoes, honourarily appointed by the Congress. Their success depended largely on their popularity among their fellow American traders. From the appointment of Samuel Shaw in 1786, as the first American consul in Canton, to 1844, when the first Sino-American treaty was signed, this practice continued.

Despite all these disadvantages, the Americans did not feel much need for offical support as long as they traded on equal terms with the British. After 1834, when tensions began to grow between the English and the Chinese, the indifference of American traders to official support disappeared. In May 1839, in the wake of the Anglo-Chinese war, better known as the Opium War and after Lin had forced the surrender of foreign-owned opium, the American merchants filed a petition in the Congress:

We... express our opinions that the United States Government should take immediate measures; and, if deemed advisable, to act in concert with the governments of Great Britain, France and Holland, or either of them, in their endeavours to establish commercial relations with this empire upon a safe and honorable footing, such as exists between all friendly powers; and by direct appeal to the Imperial Government at Peking, to obtain a compliance with the following among other important demands.¹⁸

In their petition, the American traders demanded that (1) foreign envoys should be allowed to reside in the vicinity of the court at Peking with usual diplomatic facilities; (2) that a fixed tariff should be imposed; (3) that facilities should be provided for the trans-shipment of goods meant for export; (4) that trade in other Chinese ports should be free; and (5) that compensation should be paid for any loss caused by an impediment on legal trade and it should be guaranteed that such impediments should not recur.

It is interesting to note here that, although the American merchants in China asked the United States Government for a well defined China policy, their knowledge about China was quite inadequate. Even the American public, in general, had very vague ideas about China.²⁰ Out of this inadequate knowledge about China, there emerged an official U.S. China policy which, quite surprisingly, was based on the reality of American interests. This policy remained in force for a century.

Four months after the signing of the Nanking Treaty, President John Tyler solicited the Congress on 30 December 1842 to appoint a resident commissioner in China to safeguard the American commercial and diplomatic interests. Caleb Cushing was chosen for the post and the task of instructing him fell to Daniel Webster, then the Secretary of State. Cushing was given numerous instructions, the last of which was very significant:

Finally, you will signify, in decided terms and a positive manner, that the Government of the United States would find it impossible to remain on terms of friendship and regard with the Emperor, if greater privileges or commercial facilities should be allowed to the subjects of any other Government than should be granted to the citizens of the United States.²¹

Cushing arrived at Macao in February 1844, and, after a few months, the first Sino-American treaty, known as the Treaty of Wang-hsia or Wang Hiya, was signed on 3 July 1844.²² According to the terms of the Treaty, it was agreed that any commercial privileges given by the Chinese to other countries were to be extended on equal terms to the United States. Thus, besides Canton, the ports of Amoy, Foochow, Ningpo and Shanghai were opened to the residence and trade of American merchants.²³ [Government support of the China trade that commenced with the treaty of 1844 was to be invoked from time to time.]

While efforts were being made on the administrative level to boost up China trade, a new development in nautical technology was taking place which tremendously galvanized Sino-American commerce. A new type of ship, light weight and with huge sails, was invented. This brought about a revolution in America's Far Eastern commerce. Clipper Ships, as these ships came to be known, "were the nautical marvels of the time".²⁴

It is difficult to ascertain when the clipper ships first made their appearance. However, it is generally believed that it was invented sometime in 1830's, and that between 1845 and 1865, it came to have a definite meaning, as swift, sleek ship.²⁵ With the advent of the clipper ship, American trade with China, particularly the tea trade, received a tremendous boost. Tea which was light in bulk and relatively high in value became the chief American import item.

America soon emerged as the most enterprising challenger to Britain in maritime commerce. The *Oriental* was the first American clipper ship to carry tea from China to Britain. On 22 August 1850, the *Oriental* started from Whampoa and reached London on 4 December 1850. Its speed created a sensation; but what was probably more remarkable to her captain was a profit of \$48,000, a sum that equalled two thirds the cost of constructing the ship.²⁶ By 1855 the United States came to possess a fleet which was as large as that of Britain and, probably, superior in efficiency. Canton trade came to be dominated by American shipping. In 1855, for example, the total tonnage of foreign shipping was 58,000, of which 24,000 was American and 18,000 was British. The remainder was divided among other nations.²⁷

During the American civil war (1860-1865), American commerce was badly affected. The war did enormous damage to the clipper ship merchant fleet and practically ruined China trade. So much so that, until the twentieth century, American exports to China did not exceed that of $1855.^{28}$

However, after the end of the Civil War, the China trade again began to gain momentum. The unprecedented industrial boom, which the post-Civil War United States witnessed, made it imperative for Americans to begin a search for colonies. To dispose its surplus industrial goods, America needed to open new, and preserve the old, markets.

The economic depression of the 1890's and the offical closing of the frontier made many Americans think of extending the "frontier" further west into the Far East. "We must have the market (of China) or we shall have revolution, cried Senator William Frye. Theodore C. Search, President of the National Association of Manufacturers, claimed that many manufacturers have outgrown or are outgrowing their home markets, and "the expansion of our foreign trade is the only promise of relief."²⁹

While economic necessities were pushing the United States on the path of colonialism, the writings of expansionists like John Fiske,³⁰ Josiah Strong³¹, Alfred T. Mahan³², and the ideas of Henry Cabot Lodge were creating a favourable climate of opinion for it. As a result, by the close of the nineteenth century, American mind was sufficiently made up to launch on a policy that would boost up American foreign commerce, particularly in the Far East.

The only section to which this expansionism did not appear as very attractive was the business class. The businessmen were worried that the cost of an expansionist policy might exceed the benefits therefrom.³³ Their opinion was, however, soon reversed after Admiral George Dewey's victory of May 1898 at the Manila Bay.³⁴

The acquisition of the Philippines seemed to open up new prospects for commerce in Eastern Asia. President McKinley believed that the occupation of the Philippines would be of great help to the growing U.S. trade in the Orient, particularly Japan and China.³⁵ It was against this background of America's desire for a place in the colonial sun that John Hay, the U.S. Secretary of State, proclaimed the doctrine of Open Door, in 1899, which aimed at the preservation of China as a free market.

The doctrine of Open Door, in a way, reasserted American interests in the preservation of territorial integrity and sovereignty of China. These objectives shaped America's policy in the Far East for several decades in the twentieth century. At this point, the antecedents of this policy may be briefly discussed.

With the exposure of Chinese weakness after its defeat in the Sino-Japanese war of 1894-95, there started a scramble for concessions and spheres of influence in China among the European Powers. Russia gained a paramount position in Manchuria, France in Southern China, Germany in the Shantung Peninsula and England in the Yangtze River Valley. England, however, was not satisfied. She, alone, carried 65 per cent of the total foreign trade in China; and she was much more interested in a free Chinese market than in obtaining a sphere of influence in the Chinese mainland like the others. She, therefore, opted to preserve the integrity and sovereignty of China; and she sought American support for the realization of these objectives.

Although the China trade formed only 2 percent of the total American foreign trade, forward-looking Americans saw considerable **potential** in the Chinese market. Even then, when the British government proposed a joint Anglo-American stand for the preservation of the Open Door policy in China, in March 1898, John Sherman, the Secretary of State, rejected the proposal. This was due to the government's apprehension that the American public opinion would not approve of a bilateral treaty between Britain and the United States, which might offend the other powers.

The U.S. official outlook, however, began to change when John Hay became the Secretary of State. Hay who had, previous to his appointment as Secretary of State, served as U.S. Ambassador in London, was a known Anglophile. However, while knowing fully well that America had similar interests in China as the British, John Hay also hesitated to openly support the latter for the same reason which had impeded his predecessor. However, following a plan suggested by John Hippisley, a British citizen who had served as an officer in the Chinese Maritime Customs, Hay wrote notes outlining American policy in China. On 6 September 1899, he sent these Open Door notes to Germany, Russia and England, followed by identical notes to Japan, Italy and France.³⁸

The Open Door doctrine, like the Monroe Doctrine, was a political and commercial principle.³⁹ It declared that (1) all existing treaty ports and established interests in each sphere of interest would not be molested, (2) that the Chinese officials would collect the Chinese tariffs and no others, and (3) that no discrmination would be made in port and railway charges among citizens of different nations conducting business in China.⁴⁰

While diplomats in different capitals of the world were discussing the importance of Hay's circular, events were taking a dramatic turn in China. In 1900, the Boxer uprising erupted. Starting with violent attacks on Christian missionaries in Shantung, the Boxer rebellion turned into an agitation against foreign domination. When the Boxers reached Peking, the Empress, who had secretly supported them, fled from the capital. The German ambassador was assassinated on the street and all foreign settlements were surrounded.

The United States was afraid that the affected powers, on the pretext of avenging the crimes done their citizens, might strengthen their hold on their respective spheres of influence, thus imperilling the Open Door policy in China. In anticipation of this grave threat to American economic interest, John Hay on 3 July 1900 sent a circular to the Great Powers. American policy, he said, was:

to seek a solution which may bring about permanent safety and peace to China, *preserve Chinese* territorial and administrative entity, protect all rights guaranteed to friendly powers by treaty and international law, and safeguard for the world the principle of equal and impartial trade with all parts of the Chinese empire.⁴¹

Once again the American diplomacy succeeded, and Hay was able to obtain the consent of other powers to his proposal.

The Open Door doctrine, enunciated by Hay, underwent various modifications from 1899 to 1913.⁴² While Hay had stood only for equal commercial opportunity, Elihu Root, Hay's successor, stood for investment opportunities in China.⁴³ At first, American bankers were very much reluctant to risk their money in China. However, after the Russo-Japanese war, when Japan began to acquire monopolistic control over the Manchurian railways and American commercial interests were endangered, reluctance to invest in China gradually disappeared.

Willard Straight, the dynamic U.S. consul general at Mukden (Manchuria) from 1906 to 1908, viewed with mounting apprehension the Japanese economic penetration in Machuria and concluded that, so long as American dollars would not be pumped into capital hungry China, American economic foothold in China would not endure for long.⁴⁴ Straight returned to the State Department in 1908 as Acting Chief of the Division of Far Eastern Affairs, and, during his one-year stay, he influenced the Taft Administration to adopt an investment policy for China, known as the "dollar diplomacy."⁴⁵

The first venture in this investment programme was the Hukuang Railway project.⁴⁶ It was also felt that loans should be extended to the Chinese Government; otherwise, the other nations might take political control over China by doing so, thus, jeopardizing American commerce. Hence, in 1910, the United States joined France, Germany and England to form a consortium, which was later joined by Russia and Japan. The consortium extended a loan of £27,000,000 to China, of which \$7,299,000 was furnished by American bankers.⁴⁷

With the coming of the Wilson administration in 1913, American loan policy in China was reversed. Woodrow Wilson, like his Secretary of State William Jennings Bryan, had an emotional bias against banking interests,⁴⁸ and thought that American loans encroached upon Chinese independence. With the withdrawal of the United States from the consortium, the dollar diplomacy practically came to its end in 1913.

America's unilateral recognition of the Chinese Republic created the impression among other powers that the United States was posing herself to be the only friend of China. So, they tightened their hold on their respective spheres of influence. At the same time, Japanese economic penetration in China was speeded up. The Wilson Administration soon realized that, if Japan's economic expansion was allowed to grow unabated, the Open Door policy in China might be imperilled. Wilson, therefore, decided to form another consortium to aid the Chinese government, and, thus, check the growing Japanese influence.

While the international consortium was trying to keep the Chinese market open for all countries, Paul S. Reinsch, the U.S. Minister to China from 1913 to 1919, was trying his best to make the Open Door policy work in China.⁴⁹ (He had no intention to enter into a scramble for concessions. What he wanted was an economic atmosphere in China where American traders could transact their business profitably.)

Visualizing a rejuvenated China as an advantage to American trade, he worked for improvements in roadways, railways and other public facilities.⁵⁰ "To Americans, Reinsch said, "the idea of securing preeminence or predominance is foreign, but from the very nature of their purely economic interest they have to resist any attempt on the part of others to get any rights or a position of predominance, which could be utilized to restrict, or entirely distinguish, American opportunities."⁵¹ This was an excellent summary of American objectives in China, at that time.

The emergence of the United States from the position of a debtor to a creditor nation after the First World War,⁵² combined with its massive industrial and economic progress, had a tremendous impact on the U.S.—China trade. In the decade following the First World War, the American trade with China reached an unprecedented height.⁵³ In 1928, the United States entered into a treaty with China which granted the latter full rights to her tariff. This tariff Autonomy Treaty,⁵⁴ which was the first of its kind signed by China with a foreign country, had an extremely favourable impact on China's relations with the United States.

The rapid expansion of US commerce with China is evident from the fact that, before the First World War, America had only 22 commercial establishments in China; whereas, by 1930, she already had 108 such establishments. Of these 108 commercial establishments, some eighteen were founded during the war years and the rest during 1919-30. At the same time, the total ship tonnage of America almost trebled, and its trade with China doubled.⁵⁷ In 1919, American ship tonnage to China was only 2,569,887 tons; while, in 1928, it rose to 6,364,102 tons.⁵⁸
In the beginning of the 1920's, the trade was not mostly an one-way traffic, and, as such the balance of trade was not too much in favour of one country. In international trade, if there is a well-balanced trade between the two countries, it is economically beneficial for both the countries. America had certain items to import from and export to China and vice versa. China, for example, had soya beans, raw silk, skin, tea, cereals, raw cotton, metals, coal, silk piece goods, bristles, etc. She owned over 80 per cent of the world output of antimony, and the largest deposits of minerals were in Chinese possession. America had, besides numerous goods and food stuffs, oil which China needed desperately for fuel, light and power.⁵⁹

The barter between China and America was very much evenly balanced. In 1919, the United States exported to China, goods worth Haikwan Taels 100,236,706; while Chinese exports to America were worth HK TIs. 101,118,677.⁶⁰ But within a decade after the World War, this even balance swung in America's favour. While American exports to China almost doubled, Chinese exports to America increased only nominally. American exports rose from Hk. TIs. 110,236,706 in 1919 to Hk. TIs. 205,541,351 in 1928; whereas Chinese exports rose only from Hk. TIs. 101,118,677 in 1919 to Hk. TIs. 127,204,573 in 1928.⁶¹

Although the United States came third in rank among countries trading with China, (Japan and Hongkong being the first and second respectively), 62 she shared 18 per cent of the import trade and 17.1 per cent of the export trade of China. 63 In 1929, the total value of China's foreign trade was Hk. Tls. 2,297,008,000 of which imports were Hk. Tls. 1,281,321,000 and exports were Hk. Tls. 1,015,687,000. 64

In the post-First World War decade, Japan emerged as a great commercial power in the Far East, forcing Britain to yield her position. It was the geographical proximity of Japan to China that gave her the additional advantage. Although at that time, the United States could not outpace Britain, the former emerged as her strongest competitor.⁵⁵

It is significant to note that while American export to China was touching new heights, American investment in China was also increasing. In 1914, the amount of American property in China was only U.S.G. \$59,300,000. Within a decade and a half, it rose to U.S.G. \$239,900,000 in 1930.⁶⁵ In 1928, of Chinese Government bonds and other securities, American investors held approximately \$20,000,000 worth; of railway and similar bonds about \$18,000,000. About \$30,000,000 more was invested in land, buildings and equipments by banks, trading concerns and others. Moreover, American industrialists and manufacturers had extended long-term credits to Chinese enterprises, and the amount of these outstanding credits was another \$10,000,000.

There was therefore, a total of some \$70,000,000 of American money in business investments in China.⁶⁶ Besides, a large amount of money was also inves-

ted for missionary and other philanthropic activities. Hence, in 1930, the total American investment in China stood at 239.9 million dollars,⁶⁷ 155.1 million of this was in industrial and commercial investment, 41.7 million in Government loans and, 43.1 million in missionary and charitable purposes.⁶⁹

Sino American commerce which witnessed a boom in the twenties suffered a considerable shock during the economic depression. This was when the decade commencing with the great depression marked the period of transition in world history when, everywhere, emphasis was shifting from politics to economics.⁷⁰ Thus, in 1929, President Herbert Hoover's State of the Union Message to the Congress began with a reference to foreign policy; in 1930, it ignored such significant development in international politics as the signing of the Kellogg-Briand pact, and plunged into an analysis of the economic situation then confronting the United States, in particular, and the world, as a whol.⁷¹ The depression made it quite apparent that human civilization might collapse not from war, a political event but from the calamitous impact of an economic crisis.

The depression which began with the great crash of November 1929 in the Wall Street Stock Exchange⁷² lasted for about ten years with varied degrees of intensity.⁷³ Knowing no geographical bounds, it soon gripped an already delicately balanced international economic order. The United States-China trade, which was a part of the international economic system, was most deeply affected by the depression.

In the United States, the severity of the crisis was indicated by the fact that, throughout the 1930's, its Gross National Products did not reach the level of 1929, except for a momentary rise in 1937.⁷⁴ In China, meanwhile, internal political troubles and the calamity of the worst floods in her recorded history were further complicated by the sharp decline in the price of silver in world market,⁷⁵ caused by a sudden oversupply of the metal. Consequently, the Chinese currency, which was based on silver, immensely lost its purchasing power in relation to the US gold dollar. American manufactures became too costly for the Chinese to buy. The U.S.—China trade, which had attained an unprecedented height during the 1920s began, therefore, to decline.⁷⁶

The decline itself was so fast that, for a time, it seemed as though the China market was beyond recovery, and that the United States had lost it for good.⁷⁷ This anxiety, of course, was not unfounded. Throughout the decades of the 1930s and the 1940s, Sino-American trade remained at a deplorable low point⁷⁸ until it was completely cut off after the declaration of China as a Communist state in October, 1949.

FOOTNOTES

¹Lawrence H. Battistini, The Rise of American Influence in Asia and the Pacific (East Lansing, 1960), p. 9.

²See Franklin Jameson, The American Revolution Considered as a Social Movement (Gloucester, Massachusetts, 1957).

- ³Ugo Rabbeno, in his book *The American Colonial Policy*, p. 141, writes : "At the end of 1973 the tonnage of the United States exceeded that of every other nation except England; their foreign trade ranked in value next to that of England, and, proportionately to the population, the United States was the first commercial nation of the world." Quoted in Harold Underwood Faulkner, *American Economic History*, Seventh Edition (New York, 1954), p. 220.
- ⁴James Morton Callahan, American Relations in the Pacific and the Far East, 1784-1900 (New York, 1969), p. 14.
- ⁵Edward H. Lockwood, "Americans and Chinese Began Commercial Relations Just 150 Years Ago", China Weekly Review (Shanghai), Vol. 70, 8 September 1934, p. 56.

6Ibid.

- 7Foster Rhea Dulles, China and America: The Story of Their Relations Since 1784 (Princeton, New Jersey, 1946), p. 2.
- ⁸Clarence L. Ver Steeg, "Financing and Outfitting the First United States Ship to China", *Pacific Historical Review* Los Angeles), Vol 22, p.8.
- ⁹Dulles, n. 7, p. 2. See also Lockwood, n. 5, p. 56.

¹⁰Ver Steeg, n. 8, p. 21.

- ¹¹Charles A. Beard and Mary R. Beard, *The Rise of the American Civilization* (New York, 1956), Vol. 1, p. 661.
- ¹²Samuel Eliot Morison and Henry Steele Commager, The Growth of the American Republic, 2 Vols. (New York, 1950), Vol. 1, p. 324. In 1789 of forty-six foreign vessels entering Canton eighteen were American. See Faulkner, n. 3, p. 145.

¹³Battistini, n. 1, p. 8.

¹⁴Paul H. Clyde and Burton F. Beers, The Far East: A History of the Western Impact and the Eastern Response 1830-1965 (New Delhi, 1968), p. 71.

¹⁵Ibid.

- ¹⁶James William Christopher, Conflict in the Far East: American Diplomacy in China from 1928-1933 (Leiden, Netherlands, 1950), p. 26.
- ¹⁷Callahan, n. 4, p. 84. Julius Klein in his article "Booming the China Trade" in New York Herald Tribune Magazine, reproduced in China Weekly Review, Vol. 46, 17 November 1928, pp. 414-16, argued that the China trade enjoyed backing of the U.S. Government from the beginning. This does not appear to be correct in the light of the situation discussed. Moreover, in 1815 when merchants had petitioned the Congress to establish an efficient and regular consular service in China, the Congress had turned a deaf ear to it. See Christopher, n. 16, pp. 28-29.
- ¹⁸Tyler Dennett, Americans in Eastern Asia: A Critical Study of the Policy of the United States with reference to China, Japan and Korea in the 19th Century (New York, 1922), p. 99.

¹⁹*Ibid.*, pp. 99-100.

²⁰See Stuart C. Miller, "The American Traders' Image of China, 1785-1840", Pacific Historical Review, Vol. 36 (1967), pp. 375-395.

²¹Quoted in Clyde and Beers, n. 41, pp. 72-73. Here in this instruction to Cushing can be seen some elements of the Open Door doctrine later on enunciated by John Hay in 1899.

²²Ibid., p. 73.

²³It is to be noted here that before the Sino-American Treaty was signed in 1844 Commodore Kerney had negotiated for America a similar agreement with China, through Ki-ying, the Viceroy of Canton. The Cushing Treaty was merely its confirmation. See Christopher, n. 16, p. 30.

²⁴Battistini, n. 1, p. 15.

25_{Ibid}.

26 Ibid., p. 16.

- ²⁸Battistini, n. 1, p. 17. Also see Charles K. Moser, "Good Neighbours Across the Sea", China Weekly Review, Vol. 82, 6 November 1937, p. 209.
- ²⁷Ibid., 1. 17. It may be noted here that in 1830 the British trade was \$43,000,000 as compared with U.S. \$3,500,000. In 1840 the American exports to and imports from China were only \$7,000,000. See Dennett, n. 18, pp. 74-75.
- ²⁹William Appleman Williams. The Tragedy of American Diplomacy (New York, 1959), pp. 30-31.
- ³⁰John Fiske, a historian, was influenced by the Darwinian theory of evolution through natural selection. He believed in the superiority of Anglo-Saxon race. In his essay entitled "Manifest Destiny", he wrote "The day is at hand when four-fifths of the human race will trace its pedigree to English forefathers, as four-fifths of the white people of the United States trace their pedigree today." See Julius W. Pratt, *Expansionists of 1898: The Acquisition of Hawaii and the Spanish Islands* (New York, 1951), pp. 4-5.

³¹Josiah Strong, a clergyman, held similar views like Fiske, see Ibid., pp. 5-6.

- ³²See Alfred T. Mahan. Interest of America in Sea Power, Present and Future (Boston, 1897) and Lessons of War With Spain and Other articles (Boston, 1899).
- ³³Julius W. Pratt, "American Business and the Spanish-American War", Hispanish American Historical Review, Vol. 14 (May 1934), pp. 164-178. Reproduced in William Appleman Williams, ed., The Shaping of American Diplomacy: Readings and Documents in American Foreign Relations, 1750-1955 (Chicago, 1956). pp. 387-393.
- ³⁴Richard W. Leopold, The Growth of American Foreign Policy: A History (New York, 1967), p. 128.
- ³⁵James Ford Rhodes, *The Mckinley and Roosevelt Administration*, 1897-1909 (New York, 1922), p. 187.
- ³⁶Nelson Manfred Blake and Oscar Theodore Barck, Jr., United States in its World Relations (New York, 1960), p. 406.

³⁷Theodore Roosevelt also believed that an Anglo-American joint stand in relation to China

would be advantageous to American commerce in China. Theodore Roosevelt to Charles Arthur Moore, 14 February 1898. Elting E. Morison, selected and edited, *The Letters* of *Theodore Roosevelt* Cambridge, Massachusetts, 1951), p. 772. Senator Albert Beveridge said in 1900: "Our largest trade henceforth will be with Asia. The Pacific is our ocean . . . And the Pacific is the ocean of the commerce of the future," Richard Hofstadter, *Social Darwinism in American Thought* (Boston, Mass., 1955), p. 180.

- ³⁸Blake and Barck, n. 36, p. 410. For a history of the Open Door see Earl H. Pritchard, "The Origins of the Most-Favored Nation and the Open Door Politics in China", Far Eastern Quarterly (Menasha), Vol. 1, pp. 161-172.
- ³⁹For a detailed analysis of the idea see the Introduction of Mingchien Joshna Bau, *The Open Door Doctrine: In Relation to China* (New York, 1923). American business interest was very much instrumental in persuading the administration to send the Open Door note. See Charles S. Campbell, Jr., "American Business Interests and the Open Door in China", *Far Eastern Quarterly*, (November 1941), vol. 1, pp. 43-58.
- ⁴⁰For the full text of the Open Door Note see Ruh1 J. Bartlett, ed., The Record of American Diplomacy: Documents and Readings in the History of American Foreign Relations (New York, 1948), pp. 409-11.
- ⁴¹Paul H. Clyde, United States Policy Toward China: Diplomatic and Public Documents, 1839-1939 (Durham, 1940), pp. 215-216. Emphasis added.
- ⁴²For detailed discussion see Raymond A. Esthus, "The Changing Concept of the Open Door, 1899-1910", *Mississippi Valley Historical Review* (Lincoln, Nebraska), Vol. 46, pp. 435-454.
- 43Ibid., p. 453.
- ⁴⁴Kenneth Scott Latourette, A Short History of the Far East New York, 1951), pp. 447-48.
- ⁴⁵ Dollar diplomacy had already been applied to Latin America. Now for the first time it was being applied to the Far East.
- 46 Thomas A. Bailey, A Diplomatic History of the American People (New York, 1958), pp. 531-532.
- 47 Samuel Flagg Bemis, A Short History of American Foreign Policy and Diplomacy (New York, 195), p. 361.
- ⁴⁸Richard W. Can Alstyne, American Diplomacy in Actic v (Stanford, California, 1947), p. 279.
- 49 See Noel Pugach, "Making the Open Door Work: Paul S. Reinsch in China, 1913-1919," Pacific Historical Review, vol. 38, pp. 157-175 Also see Paul S. Reinsch, An American Diplomat in China (New York, 1922).
- ⁵⁰Charles A. Beard (with the collaboration of G.H.S. (Smith), The Idea of National Interest: An Analytical Study in American Foreign Policy (Chicago, 1966), p. 186.
- ⁵¹Reinsch, n. 49, p. 65.
- ⁵²The United States entered the First World War a debtor to foreign countries to the extent of \$3 billion, and emerged as a net creditor, exclusive of Allied debts, to the extent of \$6 billion. See Broadus Mitchel, Depression Decade: From New Era Through New Deal, 1929-1941 (New York, 1955), p. 6.

- ⁵³Between the Years 1913 and 1928, American trade in China increased from Hk. T1s. 34, 427,000 to Hk. Tls. 207,541,351. See Wang-Ai-Tsiang, "Foreign Trade Missions to China: A Chinese Reaction", China Weekly Review (Shanghai), vol. 55, 27 December 1930, p. 152. In 1928 1 Tael was equivalent to \$0.71. See William W.L Wan, translated, The Rise of the New People's Democratic Economy, 1927-1937 (Honolulu, 1969), p. 4.
- ⁵⁴For the text of the Treaty see Papers Relating to the Foreign Relations of the United States: 1928 (Washington, 1943), vol. II, pp. 475-477.
- ⁵⁵Fang Fu-an, "China's Economic Relations with America" China Weekly Review, vol. 53, 26 July 1930, p. 311.
- ⁵⁶Y. H. Moh, "Analysis of Sino-American Economic Relations", China Weekly Review, vol. 73, 8 June 1935, p. 68.
- ⁵⁷Rose Leibbrand, "America's Economic Foothold in China" China Weekly Review, vol. 53, 16 August 1930, p. 415.
- ⁵⁸Ibid. In 1928 exports from the United States to the Kwantung leased territories were G \$4,227,000 and the imports G \$2,650,000. This was essentially trade with Manchuria and so should also be reckoned in trade with China. See *China Weekly by Review*, Vol. 47, 15 December 1928, p. 34.
- ⁵⁹China Weekly Review, Vol. 47, 15 December 1928, p. 34 gives a detailed list of articles and their quantum exported to and imported from China to America in 1928.

U.S. Exports to China

Cotton	87,000	bales
Flour	523,000	bar
Donglas Fir	120,394,000	feet
Fuel Oil	710,000	barrels
Gasoline	129,000	barrels
Kerosene	2,992,000	barrels
Lubricating	274,000	barrels
Paraffin	36,000	lbs.
Steel	6,378	\$US
Copper	6,132,000	lbs.
Dyes	11,330,000	lbs
Cigarettees	5,965,000	mille
Tobacco	81,627,000	lbs.
Paper and Products	1,254,000	lbs.
Machinery	3,247,000	\$US
Silver	68,826,000	ounces
Electric goods	1,519,000	\$US
Autos and Trucks	269,086	\$US
U.S. Imports from China		
-		

Raw Silk	7,484,999

lbs.

Waste Silk	3,439,000	lbs.
Carpet wool	404,249,000	lbs.
Goat Skins	5,745,000	pcs.
Carpet	300,000	yrds.
Wood Oil	79,264,000	lbs.
Bristles	1,939,000	lbs.
Tea	5,185,000	lbs.
Peanuts, shelled	41,144,000	lbs.
Antimony	3,490,000	lbs.
Egg products	4,512,000	lbs.
Furs	14,380,000	\$ US
Silk Fabrics	2,407,000	yrds.
Cotton	25,800,000	Ibs.

⁶⁰Leibbrand, n. 57, p. p. 415. The Haikwan Tael was merely a "book currency" which did not exist in reality. It was used for the valuation of all Chinese imports and exports. (Gold Parity – 66.85 cents = 1 Shanghai Tael) (No regular parity). See Frederick V. Field, ed., *Economic Handbook of the Pacific Area* (Garden City, N. Y., 1934), pp. 327,320.

- 61 Ibid. The total value of Sino-American trade in 1920 was Hk. Tls. 210.3 million. In 1930 it rose to Hk. Tls. 364.3 million. See Harold M. Vinacke, A History of the Far East to Modern Times, Fifth Edition (New York, 1950), p. 478. In U.S. \$, in 1928 American export trade to China amounted to \$138,000,000, see U. S. Bureau of the Census, Historical Statistics of the United States. Colonial Times to 1957. (Washington D.C. 1960), p. 550.
- ⁶²Benson-Currie, "The China Market A Survey", China Weekly Review vol. 53, 23 August 1930, p. 152. Although Hongkong was the second largest exporter to China yet large portion of its credit went to Britain because Hongkong was a British settlement and the Britishers were the first foreign traders to develop commerce on a large scale in China. See Leibbrand, n. 57, p. 415.

⁶³Currie, n. 62, p. 152.

⁶⁴Ibid. It gives total volume of trade as Hk. Tls. 1,297,008,000. It should be Hk. Tls. 2,297, 008,000. In 1929 Hk. Tl. 1 was equivalent to \$0.64. See Wan, n. 53, p. 4.

65_{Moh}, n. 56 p. 68.

66_{Fang Fu-an, n. 55, p. 311.}

⁶⁷Moh, n. 56, p. 68.

⁶⁸The following is the list for both secured and unsecured loans to the Chinese Government:

	U.S. Gold (\$)
Hukuang RIy. Ioan	7,994,165
Continental & Commercial Trust	
& Savings Bank of Chicago Loan	9,130,000
Pacific Development Corporation Loan	9,969,666
Grand Canal Loan	1,656,000
Other Unsecured Loans	146,590

Private Loans from American Commercial firms 11,814,922 Chinese Government Bonds subscribed by American interests (estimate) 1,000,000 \$41,711,346

Total U.S. Gold

Source: Ibid.

⁶⁹Ibid. Far Eastern Review, January 1930, gives another estimate. "There are several estimates for American investments in China. Prof. Remer places the missionary investment at \$50,000,000 with an annual expenditure for upkeep, of \$10,000,000 including the Rockefeller Institute." Quoted in Fang Fu-an, n. 55, p. 311.

⁷⁰Robert T. Ferrel, American Diplomacy in the Great Depression: Hoover-Stimson Foreign Policy, 1929-1933 (New Haven, 1957), p. 2.

⁷¹Ibid., pp. 2-3.

- ⁷²For a graphic description of the wall street crash see John Kenneth Galbraith, The Great Crash: 1929 (London, 1955), pp. 86-102; Mitchel, n. 52, pp. 28-30.
- ⁷³Galbraith, n. 72, p. 152. Intensity of the depression, however, begah to decline after Franklin D. Roosevelt came to the White House and Adolf Hitler to the Reichschancery in Berlin in 1933. See Goronwy Rees, The Great Shump: Capitalism in Crisis, 1929-33. (London, 1970), p. 280.
- ⁷⁴Galbraith, n. 72, p. 152. For a clear picture of the State of American national production see Murray N. Rothbard, America's Great Depression (Princeton, New Jersey, 1963), pp. 296-304.

⁷⁵Rees, n. 73, p. 121. The fall in the price of silver also contributed to world-wide depression.

⁷⁶United States trade with China (Five Year Averages; in millions of dollars, and as percent of total Imports and Exports):

	Value		Per	cent
	Imports	Exports	Imports	Exports
1910-14	38.5	31.4	2.3	1.4
1921-25	160.7	128.7	4.7	2.9
1926-30	155.9	134.6	3.9	2.8
1931-35	55.5	75.6	3.2	3.7

See Miriam S. Farley, "America's Stake in the Far East, I, Trade", Far Eastern Survey (New York), vol. V, 29 July 1936, p. 168.

⁷⁷Similar view was expressed in the U.S. Senate on 10 December 1931 by Senator Key Pittman of Nevada who happened to be the Chairman of a sub-committee of the Foreign Relations Committee of the United States Senate, appointed to enquire into the causes of Sino-American trade. See Congressional Record, 72, I, 10 December decline in the 1931, vol. 75, p. 290.

42

⁷⁸From 1932 onwards the value of exports (including reexports) of U.S. merchandise to China was always less than \$500,000. See *Historical Statistics of the United States*, n. 61, p. 550.

and the second second

CHANG HSUEH-LIANG ON THE SIAN INCIDENT*

by

Jiu-Hwa Lo Upshur

Introduction

Forty years have elapsed since the Sian Incident, December 12-25, 1936. The event refers to the kidnapping of Chiang Kai-shek by Marshal Chang Hsuehliang and General Yang Hu-cheng. Sian, the site of the incident, was the headquarters of the anti-Communist campaign in Shensi province. Chang was the commander-in-chief of the anti-Communist campaign and his Manchurian or Northeastern troops formed the nucleus of the command. Yang, commander of the Northwestern army, was Pacification Commissioner of Shensi. He also had the task of assisting Chang.

Since the summer of 1936, the Manchurian troops had been reluctant to fight their designated enemies. They were weary with the seemingly endless civil wars and their feelings were shared by others in China. Since 1931, Japan had been relentlessly advancing against China, and with increasing success. More Chinese were concluding that it was time to stop civil wars, unite all Chinese and resist Japan.

^{*}Translation based on an article by Chang Hsueh-liang originally titled "Sian shi-pien chang-hui-lu, che yao" (A Penitent's Account of the Sian Incident, Summary), Hsi Wang (The Hope Magazine), No. 1, July 1, 1964, pp. 12-16, Taiwan.

The students spearheaded this movement, which became known as the National Salvation Movement. These students found their most ardent supporters in Chang Hsueh-liang and the Manchurian army. They gravitated towards Sian, as did other so-called "anti-civil war, pro-united front" elements.

But Chiang Kai-shek maintained that it was necessary to eliminate the Communists first and only then would China resist Japan. Consequently, Nanking continued its appeasement policy towards Japan while waging war against the Chinese Communists. During the latter part of 1936, Chiang had begun to send his own crack units to combat in Shensi to bolster the faltering efforts of the Manchurian army.

On December 9, 1936, Chiang arrived in Sian, personally to supervise another anti-Communist push. He was deaf to Chang's advice to stop the civil war. Feeling greatly frustrated and also slighted, Chang and Yang decided to kidnap Chiang. In Chinese terms, this was called a "ping chien", the detention of a ruler to force advice upon him. It occurred at dawn on December 12, 1936, when Chiang and his entire entourage were made captives. Most of them remained prisoners until December 25, when as the finale to a fortnight of bizarre events, Chiang was freed, as were his staff, and were flown back to Nanking, accompanied by Chang. Chang went on his own volition, indeed on his insistence, to do penance for his actions. A court martial subsequently sentenced him to ten years imprisonment. Almost immediately, Chiang granted Chang a special pardon but has kept him in protective custody ever since.

The passage of time and other circumstances have removed some of the principals from the living. Among the main participants in the Sian negotiations, five have died. William Henry Donald, the Australian advisor to Chiang, and erstwhile advisor to Chang also, died during the war. He did not publish any notes or memoirs on the incident. Yang Hu-cheng was shot by Kuomintang authorities and in 1949, prior to the Communist victory, T.V. Soong and, more recently, Chiang Kaishek and Chou En-lai have died. Chou, who represented the Chinese Communist Party in the Sian negotiations, never gave his version of the proceedings. Chiang Kai-shek and Madame Chiang published their official accounts of the events almost immediately afterwards. But what about Chang Hsueh-liang? Except for some communiques issued in his name between December 12-15, 1936, outsiders, for decades, were unable to learn anything directly from him. Some of his former subordinates have later rendered their accounts of what took place in Sian. But these were, at best, peripheral views.

On July 1, 1964, a magazine on Taiwan called *Hsi Wang* published Chang Hsueh-liang's account entitled "A Penitent's Account of the Sian Incident-Summary". The account is important for two reasons. Aside from it shedding light on his personality, conflicts and motives, it also revealed some new material on the background of the incident and the course it took. He also talked about some of the complex personal relationships prevailing at that time-his seemingly filial re-

gard for Chiang; mutual mistrust between him and Yang Hu-cheng; and his fascination with and admiration of Chou En-lai, especially for the latter's skill as a negotiator.

Obviously, Chang did not tell the entire story. He did not mention the contents or substance of the negotiations and did not hint at any concessions and agreements with the Communist Party, either verbal or otherwise, as conditions for Chiang's release. Below is a summary of a 'summary', with much of the author's moralizing and repetitions omitted. The account sheds some light on an interesting man and his role in an important event in recent Chinese history.

A Penitent's Account of the Sian Incident-Summary by Chang Hsueh-Iiang

One of my strongest feelings has been bitter hatred for the Japanese for their aggressions against China. As a child, I witnessed their brutality in Manchuria. As I grew older and became more aware of nationhood... the violent end of my father [at Japanese hands] and the brutal September 18th Incident filled me with deep and boundless hatred. Realization of my lack of power and China's weakness led me to think more and more of national matters.

I was compelled to work on projects for which I felt no commitment. My aim in returning to China [in 1934] was to do the preparatory work for a future war with Japan. . My initial with upon arrival in Shanghai was to be appointed as the chief of the Generalissimo's aide-de-camp corps. My reasons were as follows: I had never worked in a subordinate position to anyone and I wished to learn by working under Chiang Kung.¹ I also hoped that by working under him, we would be able to establish a deeper mutual understanding. In addition, I wished to establish more frequent contact with my colleagues in the central government so that in the event of war with Japan, we would be able to co-operate more fully. . . On my return to China [I also desired], first of all, to disassociate myself with the army and not resume command of the Manchuria troops, so as to sever my private and emotional ties with them. Nor did I wish to participate in any further civil wars. But in the end, my wishes were frustrated.

Chiang Kung gave me two choices: to direct a campaign against the bandit forces of Liu Kuei-tang or to fight the Communists along the border areas of the three provinces.² I wished neither. But because of my affection for him [Chiang] and my sense of obedience to a superior, I unhesitatingly accepted the more difficult campaign against the Communists. . . Later, when Chiang Kung ordered me to be in charge of reorganizing the troops, I felt excited as this seemed exactly to coincide with my wishes to prepare for war against Japan. But the appointment did not materialize, which for me was a major blow. When the Communists fled to Shensi, I hoped that my task was at end. I wished to proceed to Hupei for the training of my troops. But order came for me to go to Shensi. . . I indicated to Chiang

CHANG HSUEH-LIANG ...

Kung my wish to go overseas again; but upon further thought, I decided to go as ordered, as I had come to realize Shensi's potential as a bastion against Japan. I was also swayed by the thought that there were but a few thousand Communist troops under their Shensi leader, Liu Tze-tan, and by the fact that the government leader in Shensi was an old friend, who had indicated his welcome to me already...

After my arrival in Shensi, I built hospitals, planned to construct a plant for manufacturing hospital supplies, bought land at Pingliang, and began major building projects, as living quarters for families of the military and a new campus for the Northeastern University. I also organized training schools. I did not ask the government for funds for any of these projects, for they were part of my private plans for future resistance against Japan. My original plan was quickly to deal with the Liu Tze-tan bandit group. But unexpectedly, the whole body of Szechwan Communists began to arrive in Shensi.³ This was my second disappointment.

I remember one morning in Nanking. During our motor car trip to attend the graduation ceremony at the Military Police Headquarters, I began to tell Chiang Kung about the feelers I have had from the Communists which indicated their willingness to surrender. I wished also to take the opportunity to tell of my meetings with Chou En-lai; but, at that point, we arrived⁴ . . . That evening I intended to take up the subject again. But Chiang Kung had already become angered with me over the question of appropriations for the Northeastern Army, had reprimanded me and indicated that I should hasten back to my post. So I did not dare persist and, thus, missed an opportunity. Later, I met Chiang Kung at Loyang together with Mr. Yen Pai-chuan [Hsi-shan] . I had hoped for another opportunity to present my case. But, after inspecting the troops, Chiang Kung had made a speech in which he bitterly castigated the Communists as the greatest traitors and excoriated those who advocated co-operation with them as worse than Yin Ju-keng [the East Hopei quisling leader]. With this dash of cold water, I concluded that my pleas were hopeless. Bitterly disappointed, I returned to my room and wept.

In the period after the Fifth Party Congress [November 1935], what I saw and heard during my stay in Nanking contributed greatly to my emotional turmoil. As I recall them today, they were briefly as follows:

1. The ridicule and admonition of friends.

2. The angry disapproval of the young radical comrades who deplored my associations with the so-called pro-Japanese groups.

3. The actions and statements of Sun Feng-min, who had attempted to assassinate Wang [Ching-wei].

4. The bickerings within the Party, mainly for selfish, rarely for public purposes.

5. My supposition that many of the comrades in responsible positions within the central government were not enthusiastic about opposing Japan, but

were secretly pro-Japanese. It seemed to me that those who were truly dedicated to opposing Japan were either appointed to positions outside Nanking or were not in power at all.

6. I interpreted Wang Chao-ming's [Ching-wei] announced principles of simultaneously negotiating with and resisting Japan as directed against his domestic enemies rather than the external foe.

I returned to Shensi immediately after hearing of the failure of our campaign in the northern part of that province. First to be destroyed [by the Communists] was the 110th Division. Next, the 109th Division was annihilated. Its commander, Niu Yuan-feng, refused to surrender and died. Both commanders were outstanding officers of the Northeastern Army. . . These two bitter defeats redoubled my feelings of misery and bitterness. They reinforced my old conviction of the wastefulness of sacrificing the best officer material in civil wars. Nor did I, as a result, underestimate the fighting abilities of the Communists. From that point, my mind was turned to the strategy of using peaceful methods to solve the Communist problem.

Upon my return to Shensi, I convened a conference. In order to spur on my units to greater efforts, I threatened . . . to resign my command. To my surprise, they . . . became hostile. One group reacted thus: "We, Northeasterners, abandoned our native land and followed you into the Great Walls. In our hearts we all wish one day to return together. Now in times of extreme difficulty, how can you become so heartless as to abandon us to our fates?" Another group said: "You have forgotten your duty to avenge your father and have lost heart on the great anti-Japanese mission. In your blind obedience to superior, you only seek to preserve your personal position. The foremost mission content theastern Army is to fight Japan. But you do not care about the welfare of the Northeastern Army and are heedless about sacrificing them and forcing them to certain destruction."

At about the same time, the Communists began a major propaganda campaign to stop the civil war and to promote united efforts to resist Japan. Their propaganda became increasingly attractive to me and to most of the Northeastern Army, at least to the younger elements in it. Further offensives against the Communists were unsuccessful. I began to ask myself the reasons for the failure and to ask the opinions of like-minded people. I received advice to get in touch with the Communists, to co-operate with Yang Hu-cheng, to stop the anti-Communist campaign and to preserve my real strength and to seek a joint anti-Japanese effort. I cannot shirk responsibility and lay blame on others, for though many of these suggestions came from others, they were also the advice I sought to hear.

Since at that time I did not know the real motives of the Communists, it was necessary to establish contact with them in order to find out their intentions. Since I have had no personal dealings with the Communists, I sent a member of my staff to see Li Tu again and make inquiries.⁵ In response, Li sent a represen-

tative to see me. His name was Liu Ting and he said that he had joined the Communist party, been arrested and then released on bond. He said that he was not a pleni-potentiary delegate, but that he could get in touch with responsible persons in the Communist party in Shanghai. Through his introduction, the Communist leaders indicated their willingness to talk to me in person, but said that they dared not come to Sian. Instead I went to Shanghai and met a man at a Western style restaurant at a suburb to the west of the city (he did not tell me his name, but according to Liu, he was probably Pan Han-nien). Our conversation never reached the key issue, probably because of my patronizing attitude, and also his hedging.

The Communists returned most of my officers whom they had taken prisoner. Their declared reason was that they regarded the Northeastern Army as "fellow travellers", since both sides were primarily interested in resisting lapan, ... Then Wang I-che [one of Chang's top aides] telegraphed me to say that the Communists had sent to his headquarters a representative who requested to see me personally. I flew to Lochuan and met that man. He called himself Li K'e-ning. I did not know then what position he held in the Communist party. The main conditions he raised during our discussions were substantially the same as those raised by the Communist party later. My reply to him was that if his side were sincere, we would be able to accept their terms. But I expressed doubt as to his position and whether he could speak for his party, and asked to see a leader, either Mao Tse-tung or Chou Enlai. He replied that the conditions he raised were all agreed to by the whole leadership and that if I were sincere, he could arrange to have Mao or Chou come to see me. Immediately after our meeting, he returned north and obtained the reply that Chou-En-lai was willing to accompany him on the next meeting, and requested an appointment of location and date. . . I replied with no hesitation, invited Chou to come, and ordered division commander Chou Fu-chen to take charge of the reception.

One night I met Chou En-lai at a Catholic church in Yenan and we talked for two or three hours.⁶ I told Chou that the central government was taking active steps in preparing to resist Japan and that Chiang Kung was truly a patriot. We had a prolonged debate. Chou inquired about the Three Principles of Hirota. I replied that Chiang Kung would never accede to them. Chou conceded that Chiang Kung was a patriot and that in order to resist Japan, it was necessary to rally to his leadership. But he expressed dout ts about [Chiang's] associates, and vehemently contended that if the central government were really bent on resisting Japan, then why did they persist in trying to destroy the Communist party, the one group that had unequivocably demonstrated its hatred for Japan and its unyielding determination to resist her? He added that, in order to resist Japan, the Kuomintang and accept Chiang Kung's leadership. He proceeded to propose the following conditions, roughly as follows:

1. Communist armed units to be reorganized and trained in preparation for resisting Japan.

2. Guarantee of non-fraudulence, no confiscation of weapons.

3. Communist units in Kiangsi, Hainan and Ta Pieh Shan and other locations to be granted the same conditions of reorganization.

4. Abolition of the title of Red Army in return for the same pay and treatment as the national army.

5. Communist party to be forbidden to function in the military.

6. Communist party to cease all class struggles.

7. Release of all Communist political prisoners. Communist party to be allowed freedom to pursue its activities except those of opposing the government and attacking the leader.

8. Non-military [Communist] party members to be allowed to reside in north Shensi.

9. After victory against Japan, the Communist party to be allowed to become a lawful political party as they are in such democracies as Britain and the United States.

Chou further proposed that if I still had doubts regarding their sincerity and honesty, he was willing to submit to surveillance. . . Whereupon, impulsively, I accepted his statements, and added that both on personal and national scores, I would be second to none in coming forth to resist Japan. But since I had superior authorities, I could not make independent decisions. However, I pledged to do my utmost to persuade Chiang Kung to accept these conditions. We, then, made promises not to go back on our words...

After this meeting with Chou En-lai, I felt elated, thinking that, henceforth, the nation would enjoy internal peace so that all energies can be directed to resisting Japan. When I recollect these events today, I realize how pitifully naive I was then. As a fervent nationalist, I bitterly resented being the victim of aggression. I was unwilling to accept Japanese oppression, just as I had been unwilling to submit to Russian oppression. Without weighing my strength, I had moved to recover our rights in Manchuria from the Russians [in 1929]. As later events proved, those Communists. . . whom I regarded as patriots against Japan were, in reality and as Chiang Kung had already recognized, "first rate traitors". . .

After my return to Shensi from Loyang, I replied to the Communists that, at present, I was unable to present my plans for a ceasefire to Chiang Kung. After mutual consultations, we agreed on a temporary and partial ceasefire and resolved that I would assume responsibility to explain the situation to Chiang Kung at a later date. The Communists sent Yeh Chien-ying to see me. He brought with him plans for a mutual cessation of hostilities and a letter from Mao Tse-tung in which he pledged to cooperate with me under the urgent cause of resisting Japan, and to put his troops under my directions. I requested that they withdraw further north, so that the two sides are physically separated, to allow me time for the maturing of my plans. They indicated their need for padded winter clothing and other supplies. . . From my personal funds, I gave them a large sum of money with which to buy the supplies. Thereupon, the Communists evacuated Wayaop'u and marched north in three columns. Around that time, the Communist party established an office in Sian, as did the Salvation League and Student Association . . . I also gave some of my private funds to support the strike of workers in Japanese owned mills in Shanghai. . .

All sorts of unfortunate incidents added fuel to the burning embers. Some of the events which caused static among my troops were: First, our requests [to Nanking] for pensions for widows and orphans, for supplies and for permission to recruit were all rejected. Second, no Northeastern units were included in the relief army for Suiyuan [to aid General Fu Tso-yi's resistance against Japanese and puppet troops]. . . My feelings of dissatisfaction with certain comrades in the central government strengthened my anger and suspicions, and my conviction that I must realize the dreams that were shaping in my mind.

I pursued my goal in the following manner. First, I implored Chiang Kung to adopt what I regarded as my brilliant strategy. I pleaded for the acceptance of the Communist party [by the Kuomintang] as in the days... under the Tsungli [Sun Yat-sen]. I believed that this would stimulate the government to renew itself and to create a new image before the people. I also promoted the idea that civil wars should stop and that all should unite to resist Japan... I was convinced of the purity and righteousness of my ideals, and this made me determined to realize my goals regardless of the sacrifice. At that juncture, I had formed no plans to resort to kidnapping tactics...

In all honesty, it must be said that, in the Sian Incident, Yang Hu-cheng's role was a subordinate one, and that he became implicated in it because of me. But this is not to say that he played no part in its formative stages. Right after the 110th Division met with disaster, plans were drawn up for renewed campaign to surround the Communists. In this scheme, Yang was entrusted with the campaign along the Ichuan front. He vented his disgruntled feelings to me on this assignment. He said that he was receiving neither funds nor succor, and termed the extermination campaign a "life sentence". He added that since even the numerous central units and best Northeastern units were unable to exterminate the Communists, what could be expected of his meager forces? Although, I comforted him with kind words, I indicated that, though sympathetic, I was unable to help him. But, in order to encourage him, I gave him aid to the sum of one hundred thousand yuan. Later, after the defeat of the 109th Division, I also indicated to him my weariness with the extermination business. Just as we were establishing some rapport, a pamphlet appeared, titled Huo lu. It advocated cooperation between Northeastern and Northwestern peoples for the purpose of resisting Japan. (This pamphlet was authored by Kao Tsung-min.) Although at this time, I had not told Yang Hu-cheng of my plans of collusion with the Communists, he, at a certain point, became aware of them. As to the real nature of Yang's relationship with the Communist

party and how he came to collaborate with them, I remain ignorant of the details. (At that time, on Yang's staff was a Wang Ping-nan whom I now know to have been a Communist.) Yang was deeply sympathetic to the goals of stopping civil wars, and unity to oppose Japan. He spurred me on to tender this advice to Chiang Kung...

I was disheartened and disappointed when I returned from Loyang. I told Yang of my doubts that Chiang Kung would accept our views and of my dissastisfaction with him. I also asked Yang whether he had any good plans for stopping the civil war and converting Chiang Kung to our views... Yang asked me in return whether I was really determined to resist Japan. Upon my oath of sincerity, Yang offered that since Chiang Kung was coming to Sian, we could kidnap him, thus, forcing him to adopt our policy. I was startled by the suggestion, and reflecting, did not reply. He began to betray fear, whereupon I assured him as follows: "Fear not, because I do not betray my friends to obtain gains and rewards... but as for your plan, I do not think I can comply." He retorted by taunting me and said: "You are emotional and think of private obligations at the expense of public ones." I then said: "Let me consider and think things over. But do not worry, as I absolutely will not tell anyone of your thoughts." When Chiang Kung came to Sian from Loyang, I followed him in and out, as I feared that others might mutiny. Little did I know that I was ultimately the criminal one.

While Chiang Kung was staying at Hua Ching Ch'ih [outside Sian], I had two talks with him, both of which, but especially the one on December 9th, left me emotionally upset. In addition, Chiang Kung had convened several general officers' meetings, to all of which Yang Hu-cheng and I had been excluded. This caused fear in both Yang and me, and I was especially suspicious and fearful lest Chiang Kung no longer held me in esteem and trust. So Yang and I began to consult and conspire to seize him, in order to force him to accept our plans. At this time, we did not seek the advice of, nor did we consult the Communists, and besides Yang, only a few people knew of our plans. It was after the incident had begun that I asked Chou En-lai to come [to Sian]. My main purpose in wanting to consult him in working out a joint plan was due to my realization of the inability of mine and Yang's subordinates, and because of Nanking's course of action.⁸

When Chou and his staff arrived at Sian, he told me that they were extremely surprised when they heard of the Sian Incident. He said that the Communists were split into two camps on this issue ---- the more radical group, and Yeh Chien-ying was among them, advocated a course of action unfavorable to Chiang Kung. Another group, which included Chou, advocated a peaceful solution and personal support for Chiang Kung. He reaffirmed support to our agreement at Yenan, that in case there was no hope of a peaceful settlement [with Nanking], the Communist pledged not to be neutral, but to share our fate, arm their men and obey my overall command. Thus he [Chou] joined our already established council. The slogan then current in Sian, "Three-in-One", referred to unity between the Northeastern Army, the Northwestern Army and the Communists. After discussions, it was decided to hold firm to our eight demands. This was not a propaganda ploy. All we wanted was that government acceded to our sincere demands. The only point added to our plan was that we would continue under Chiang Kung's leadership. There are records of my speech to the entire staff or the Northwest Bandit Extermination Headquarters and to the public meeting at Hsiching Park which will corroborate my statement here. Also there must be now in Taiwan some of those then in Sian who, unless they have ulterior motives, will bear witness to me, that in my public statements, I advocated giving our support to Chiang Kung as our leader.

Speaking of the Sian events, my heart is filled with regrets. Before the Incident, I did not consult the Communists. When I observed the scene after the Incident began, I felt immensely saddened and remorseful. The incompetence of my staff filled me with bitterness. The indiscipline of Yang's units gave me much disquiet. I regretted my own careless speech and realized our unworthiness vis-a-vis the immense task of resisting Japan and saving our nation. I felt agitated, did not know what to do and had no one to consult. I established two committees and wired Chou En-lai asking him to come to Sian immediately to help find a solution. Two or three days later, Chou and two others came. One of those in Chou's party was Po Ku. The other one I do not recall . . . Chou became respected as the mastermind of events in Sian. . . .

When the time came to discuss Chiang Kung's departure from Sian, Yang Hu-cheng and I began to disagree. I reprimanded Yang and reminded him that our original motive was to sacrifice all to persuade Chiang Kung to lead us against Japan. I said that since we have read his diary and have satisfied ourselves on his. determination to resist Japan, and also since he has permitted us to present our other views before the central government, our goals have been achieved. Thus we ought not to shrink from danger or death. I added that, if personal factors were so important to him, he should not have joined the movement in the first place. I became so agitated and abusive that I nearly split with Yang. It was Chou En-lai who broke the impasse. He asked me to take a brief rest and permit him to talk things over. Ultimately, he convinced Yang. To me, since our anti-Japanese goals have been satisfied, other considerations were minor and should not be permitted to cause delays. I also felt that nothing should be allowed to cause backsliding from our initial commitment. . . So I fought for my point of view. My situation, at that point, was extremely difficult. On the one hand, I did my utmost to insure the security of Chiang Kung. But he refused to dissemble and persisted in his determination to die if necessary. He reprimanded us and sternly refused to accept any requests under duress, no matter how legitimate. He also refused any discussions with us. This was my situation vis-a-vis Chiang Kung. I was also concerned with convincing my subordinates and persuading them not to expand the incident. Then there was Chiang Kung's attitude toward me, which was an extremely ambivalent one. On the one hand, he hated me as the bitterest enemy; but it was also clear that he was torn by feelings of love and protectiveness towards me, as though I were his own kin. The complexities of the situation were truly unprecedented....

The most important element in the incident, at this time, was I, myself. I

was filled with fears and worries, yet I was reckless and self-possessed in action and mindless of consequences. I lacked any deep research and accurate knowledge of the Communists. . . And what were my strong points? I was strong in being obsessively worried, very angry, pleasure loving, fearful and suspicious. By natural disposition, I was bold but indiscreet, self-centered, conceited and immature. In the last analysis, these defects in my personality are the root causes of the Sian Incident.

FOOTNOTES

¹Chiang Kai-shek is referred to as Chiang Kung, an address of respect.

 2 The three provinces referred to are Kiangsi, Fukien and Kwangtung, although Chang does not mention them by name.

³Chang must be referring to the entrance to northern Shensi of the remnant Communist troops at the end of the Long March. The choice of northern Shensi by the Chinese Communist Party was partly predicated by the existence of local Communist guerrilla troops.

⁴It is not clear whether Chang is referring to the meeting with Chou En-lai mentioned later in the text as there is no clear time sequence followed.

⁵Li Tu was a Manchurian officer and former subordinate of Chang. When Chang was still in Hupei on anti-Communist campaign, he had sent Li and two other Manchurian officers, in a scheme of Li's instigation, to attempt to enter northern Manchuria from the U.S.S.R.. The aim of this mission was to rally former Manchurian units in northern Manchuria to undertake guerrilla warfare against Japan, and also to establish contact with Communist guerrilla units already active in the area. The scheme failed and the three men went no further than Germany. Chang does not explain whether Li had already developed contacts with the Chinese Communist Party prior to his attempted return to Manchuria.

⁶Yenan was under Chang's control at the time.

⁷The title translates as The Path to Life.

⁸On December 16, 1936, the Nanking government announced the launching of a punitive expedition against Chang and Yang and entrusted its direction to general Ho Ying-ch'in.

Chinese names and terms used:

Chiang Kung	Chou Fu-chen
Ho Li-chung	Niu Yuan-feng
Hot'ao	Pan Han-nien
Hsi Wang	Pingliang
Hua Ching Ch'ih	Po Ku
Huo Lu	Sun Feng-min
Ichuan	Ta Pieh Shan
Kao Tsun-min	Wang I-che

Li K'e-nung	Wang Ping-nan
Li Tu	Wayaop'u
Liu Ting	Yeh Chien-ying
Liu Kuei-tang	Yen Pai-chuan
Liu Tze-tang	Yin Ju-keng
Lochuan	

THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE ARMY AND THE PARTY IN CHINA DURING THE TRANSITIONAL PERIOD FROM 1967-1976

by

Leo Y. Liu

Introduction

The Chinese Communist leaders have maintained that the Communist Party of China (hereafter, the Party), should always lead the army.¹ As Party Chairman, Mao Tse-tung (hereafter, Mao) said,

all our officers and fighters must always bear in mind that we are the great people's Liberation Army, we are the troops led by the great Communist Party of China.²

During the Great Proletarian Cultural Revolution (hereafter, CR) in China (1965-1968), the above principle was still being maintained!

Our Principle is that the party commands the gun, and the gun must never be allowed to command the party.³

At the same time, the Chinese leaders also fully recognize and appreciate the essential role played by the army. Mao, for example, has pointed out that experience in class struggle "teaches us that it is only by the power of the gun that the working class and labouring masses can defeat the armed bourgeoisie and landlords. In this sense we may say that with guns the whole world can be transformed,"⁴

The seizure of power by armed force, the settlement for the issue by war, is the central task and the highest form of revolution. This Marxist-Leninist principle of revolution holds good universally, for China and for all other countries.⁵

Therefore, the army as an essential instrument must be kept strong:

According to the Marxist theory of the state, the army is the chief component of state power. Whoever wants to seize and retain state power must have a strong army. 6

The Chinese leaders further pointed out, "every Communist must grasp the truth, "Political power grows out of the barrel of a gun".⁷

Furthermore, they do not regard the army as merely a fighting force. To them, the army is also a political force:

The Chinese Red Army is an armed body for carrying out the political task of the revolution. . . . The Red Army should certainly not contain itself to fighting; besides fighting to destroy the enemy's military strength, it should shoulder such important tasks as doing propaganda among the masses, organizing the masses, arming them, helping them to establish revolutionary political power, and setting up Party organizations.⁸

In addition to encouraging the army (i.e., Red Army or the PLA) to become a political force, Mao also urged them to involve themselves with more party work. In 1942, for example, Mao called for the elevation of such militarily responsible persons as commanders, political commissars and directors of the political department in the army to various parts of party organizations.⁹ It has become clear here that "political commissars" are part of the "militarily responsible persons".¹⁰

In the light of the Chinese leaders' emphasis on the supremacy of the party, on the one hand, and their insistence on the essential role of the army, on the other, this paper will examine the relationships between the army and the party in China from 1967 to the present.

This particular period has been chosen for this study because it has witnessed a series of events which seem to be crucial to the relationship between the army and the party. These events, among others, were:

1) The CR which started in 1965 finally came to an end in 1968 after the military intervention in 1967.

- 2) The Ninth National Party Congress of the Party was held in 1969.
- 3) A large number of members of the party apparatus were either purged or dismissed between 1967 and 1971. Many key figures were purged, among them Liu Shao-chi, (hereafter, Liu), and Teng Hsiao-ping (hereafter, Teng).
- 4) Lin Piao, the Defense Minister, and a Party Vice-Chairman, and many key military leaders in the PLA who supported Chairman Mao during the CR (hereafter Lin Piao faction) were promoted to prominent positions. Lin Piao, after the CR, became the sole "Vice Chairman" of the Party and the officially designated successor of Chairman Mao.
- 5) The Tenth National Party Congress was held in 1973. At the Congress, the Lin faction was either dismissed or removed from their key positions in both the party and the army. However, the powers of Chairman Mao and his supporters, Premier Chou En-lai (hereafter Chou) and Chiang Ch'ing (Mrs. Mao. hereafter, Chiang), remained intact.
- 6) In 1975, the Fourth National People's Congress was convened.
- 7) Finally, after Chou's death in February, 1976, Teng was severely attacked. The campaign against Teng and his faction has since been intensified.¹¹

The Emergence of Military Prominence

At the beginning of the CR or before 1967, Mao probably did not plan to involve the army.¹² His initial plan was, probably, to replace the party apparatus which was dominated by the Liu/Teng faction. There was even less evidence that he intended to replace the party apparatus permanently with the military apparatus.¹³

However, in or around 1966, Mao began to experience strong resistance from the party apparatus of all the six Regional Party Bureaus. Consequently, in January 1967, an order was officially issued by the Central Committee of the Party, the State Council, the Military Affairs Commission of the CC, and the Central CR Group of the CC to the Army to intervene in the CR in support of the Maoist faction.¹⁴ The joint order announced the "resolute support of the PLA for the revolutionary masses of the Left."

The People's Liberation Army is a proletarian revolutionary army personally created by Chairman Mao. . . . In this great struggle of the proletariat to seize power from the bourgeoisie, the PLA must firmly take the side of the proletarian revolutionaries and resolutely support and help the proletarian revolutionary Leftists.¹⁵

The type of assistance the army was expected to render to the "revolutionary Leftists" was also specified:

Active support must be rendered to the broad masses of revolutionary Leftists in their struggle to seize power. When genuine proletarian Leftists ask the army for help, the army should send out troops to support them positively.

Counter-revolutionaries and counter-revolutionary organizations who oppose the proletarian revolutionary Leftists must be resolutely suppressed. Should they resort to force, the army should strike back with force.16

By the end of 1967, the army had taken over most of the responsibilities which normally belonged to the central and local civilian government and party organization.¹⁷ All provincial and municipal governments were being gradually replaced by the "Revolutionary Committees." Each Revolutionary Committee was required to consist of three groups: The "revolutionary mass organizations (i.e. CR faction)", the PLA (the military faction, mainly Lin's faction), and the "revolutionary cadres (i.e., the Maoist party faction)".¹⁸

By the end of 1968, all 29 Revolutionary Committees were set up. The military dominated almost all key positions in the Committees. For example, 24 of the 29 Chairmen of the Committees were military cadres, while only 8 were Maoist party faction members.¹⁹ Thus, the military not only directly intervened in the CR to purge the party cadres of the Liu/Teng faction, but also controlled almost all local governments in China.

At the 9th Party Congress held in April, 1969, Lin Piao in his "political report" pointed out that the PLA was "the mighty pillar of the dictatorship of the proletariat."²⁰

At the same time, a new Central Committee (hereafter, CC) with 170 full members and 109 alternate members, was elected. The military obviously had dominated the CC: (Table 1)

Table 1

Distribution of Power in the 9th CC (%)

	Military Cadres	Maoist Party Cadres	CR Faction Cadres	Total* %	N
Full Members	42.9	34.1	23.0	100	168
Full and Alter- nate members	44.3	27.5	28.2	100	265

Of the 21 full members of the 9th Political Bureau (Politburo), 11 were from the military (e.g. Lin Piao, Yeh Chien-yin, Hsieh Fu-chih, Huang Yung-sheng).²²

[Only those members with known background are considered] Sources: see note 21.

By August 1971, the re-organization of all 29 municipal Party Committees was completed. The purge of party cadres in the Liu/Teng faction was quite extensive. Of the 67 secretaries and alternate secretaries in the now abolished six Regional Party Bureaus throughout China in 1966, 37 were purged and 17 were either dismissed or suspended.²³ In the local Party Committees, 20 of the 29 first secretaries in 1966 were purged.²⁴

In the 29 new Party Committees established in 1971, the army dominated most of the key positions, 22 of the 29 first secretaries were military cadres. (Tables 5 and 7)

Therefore, both during and after the CR, the military appeared to have dominated the party apparatus. It also appeared that the fundamental doctrine that the Party must always command the army had been discarded.

The Maoist faction seemed to have anticipated such a tendency. A closer look at the events which occurred during the CR has indicated that from the very beginning, the Maoist faction already called for the re-building of the Party and its centralized leadership. They have also taken steps to reduce the power of the military. The rest of the paper will be examining these steps during the period from 1967 to the present.

Party Rebuildings and the Promotion of Centralized Party Leadership

As mentioned above, the military intervention during the CR was ordered by the CC of the Party and its Military Affairs Commission. Reportedly, the army intervened in the CR only reluctantly.²⁵ Moreover, even during the intervention, the army was always under the constant supervision of the party. Thus, in April, 1967, when the army began to antagonize the CR faction, the Military Affairs Commission immmediately issued an order which severely curtailed the power of the military.²⁶ In March, 1968 while in the midst of the CR, Lin Piao's first lieutenant, Yang Cheng-wu, the Acting Chief-of-Staff of the PLA, was dismissed by Mao. Lin Piao reluctantly complied with the order without any signs of resistance.²⁷ Furthermore, in 1969, Mao accused Lin Piao and his faction of over-purging the Liu/Teng Faction during the CR and of over-reacting to some of the activities of the CR faction. The army appeared to have accepted these criticisms and admitted their "short-comings and mistakes".²⁸

The Party's Order and Supervision of the Military Intervention During the CR

As soon as the Liu/Teng faction was effectively purged, Mao began the task of party-building. The need for the party's centralized leadership was emphasized.

The new party leadership will be based on the following three general and, sometimes, over-lapping groups; the Maoist party faction and the Chou's "faction":

- a) Chiang and her "revolutionary masses of the Left" including the Red Guards-the CR faction;
- b) the party cadres who had supported Mao during the CR-the Maoist party faction;
- c) Chou En-lai, the Premier, and his State Council-Chou's "faction".

(Since Chou did not have a personal power base of his own, the word "faction" is being used loosely here to include some of the members of the State Council such as Li Hsien-nien).

(The combination of these three groups of cadres in this paper is regarded as "the Maoist faction").

The campaign for party re-building was intensified. After the 9th Congress, a joint editorial of the three official organs (People's Daily, Liberation Army Daily, and Red Flag) on June 8, 1969, emphasized the need for internal unity of the party. On July 1 ("the party day"), another joint editorial stressed the importance of centralized leadership of the party and the essential role played by the party in the founding of the country. It also identified the Party as the central leading force in China and pointed out that the PLA as well as other organizations had to accept the centralized leadership of the party. The 1970 new year joint editorial called for firm grasping of the task of party rebuilding. Both joint editorials on the "party day" (July 1) and the "army day" (August 1) in 1971 stressed the importance of the Party's centralized leadership. Other articles in these three organs throughout 1971 made similar statements.²⁹ A joint editorial of the three official organs on January 1, 1973 specified that the main task ahead was the strengthening of the Party's centralized leadership. The local Party Committees were urged to follow the leadership of the Party's central authority, the Central Committee. In the light of the overwhelming military representation in these Party Committees, the editorial clearly called for the reduction of the power of the military in the Committees.

As the 10th National Party Congress held in August, 1973, Premier Chou, in his "Political Report", declared that the Party was the body which exercises overall leadership over the seven sectors—industry, agriculture, commerce, culture and education, the army, the government and the party.³⁰ The Constitution of the Party adopted at the 10th Congress further confirmed the leadership of the party over the army.³¹

As the purge of Lin continued into $1974,^{32}$ the importance of the army was de-emphasized, while the party leadership was emphasized. Past military victories in China were now attributed to the successful guidance of the Party, and, therefore, were not the achievements of the PLA alone.³³ The army was asked to learn

from the people.³⁴ It was emphasized that the "gun" had to be held in the hands of the "people", implying that the army should be commanded by the party.

In 1975, emphasis was given to "unity, loyalty, and discipline," presumably with the army in mind.³⁵ In January, 1975, Chang Chung-Ch'rao, one of the top leaders in the CR faction, in his report on the revised draft of the state constitution to the 4th People's National Congress, reaffirmed the need for the party's centralized leadership.³⁶⁹

In summary, since 1967, Chairman Mao, joined by the Maoist party faction, the CR faction and the Chou's "faction", has begun to rebuild the centralized leadership of the party as well as the party apparatus. The launching of the CR and the subsequent military intervention were to eliminate the Lin/Teng faction in the party apparatus. The army was called in by the Central Committee and the Party Chairman to serve as an instrument in the process of party rectification (against the Liu/Teng faction) and party rebuilding (based on the Maoist faction). The immediate purge of Lin and his faction in 1971 when all local Party Committees were established, leave little doubt that the army apparatus was never expected or able to replace the party apparatus on a permanent basis.

The Reduction of the Power of the Military

In August, 1971, Lin was alledgedly killed in a plane crash after an abortive coup against Mao had failed.³⁷ Many top military leaders in the Lin faction immediately disappeared. By early 1973, at least 57 top military leaders in the Lin's faction were either dismissed or replaced.³⁸ Between 1973 and 1975, almost all Revolutionary Committees, local Party Committees, Military Regions and Military Districts were re-organized. The State Council and the Party Central Committees were both restructured. These steps were clearly taken by the Maoist faction to reduce the power of the military. They are analyzed separately as follows:

The Reduction of the Power of the Military in the Central Party Organizations

As a result of the Purge of the Lin faction, many members of the 9th CC were not re-elected to the 10th CC. Of the 45 members who did not return, 30 were military cadres, 13 were Maoist party cadres, and 2 were CR faction members. Among the 28 alternate members who did not return to the 10th CC, 22 were military cadres, 4 were Maoist party cadres, and 2 were the CR faction members.³⁹

The military representation in the 10th CC has also been reduced. Of the 195 members, 63 are military cadres, 71 are Maoist party cadres, and 57 are CR faction members; the background of 4 of them remain unknown. If both the members and alternate members are considered together, only 100 of the total 310 members and alternate members are military cadres, representing over a 10% reduction from the military representation at the 9th CC: (Table 2)

Table 2

Comparison of Power Distribution Between the 9th CC and the 10th CC (%)

	The Military	PC Faction	Maoist Party	Total	*	
			·	%	Ν	
9th CC	44.3	28.2	27.5	100	(265)	-
10th CC	33.9	35.3	30.8	100	(295)	
change	-10.4	+ 7.1	+3.3			

The 10th Politburo has 21 full and 4 alternate members, the same as the 9th Politburo. Of the 21 members, 6 or 28.57% are miliary cadres, 6 are Maoist party cadres and 8 or 42.85% are CR faction members: (Table 3)

Therefore, although the reduction in membership is not very large, the military was the only casualty in the 10th Politburo. In addition, of the nine members and alternative members who were newly elected to the 10th Politburo, only one was a military strongman (i.e., Hsu Shih-yu)⁴².

* [Only members and alternate members whose backgrounds could be identified are considered here.]

Sources: see note 40

Table 3

Comparison of the 9th and 10th Politburos (power distribution)

	CR Faction	Maoist Party Faction	The Military	Total *
9th 10th	N % 4 (20.00) 8 (42.00)		N % 11 (55.00) 6 (28.57)	N % 20 (100) 20 (100)
Change	+4 (22.86)	+1 (3.57)	-5 (26.43)	

The size of the 10th Standing Committee of the Politburo has been increased from five to ten.⁴³ Of the new appointees, only Yeh Chien-yin belongs to the

* [including Mao himself] Sources: see note 41

military. Four of the new appointees belong to the CR faction (e.g., Wang Hungwen, Chang Ch'un-chiao).

The Reduction of the Power of the Military in the Central Government Organization: the State Council

During the CR, especially between September, 1967 and August 1968, the military had actually "taken over" the State Council. Under the order of the Central Committee as mentioned earlier, and the Party Chairman, the military set up a "military control committee" in each department and ministry in the State Council.⁴⁴

After March, 1970, however, the military control of the State Council and other civilian governments began to lessen. The military was urged to withdraw themselves from these organs. Normal government activities were gradually resumed.⁴⁵

In the new State Council appointed in 1975 at the 4th People's Congress, only 9 of the 29 ministers are military cadres. Of the 12 Vice-premiers, no more than three could be identified as military cadres. In fact, in a strict sense, only one of them, namely, Chen Hsi-lien is currently a military strongman. If all the key 42 persons in the State Council are considered together, the Maoist party faction and the Chou faction appear to have constituted the majority. (Table 4)

Table 4

Distribution of Powers in the State Council

	No.	Percentage
The Military	8	19.04
The Maoist Party Faction and the Chou's Faction	23	54.76
The CR Faction	11	26.20
Total	42	100.00

The new State Constitution adopted at the 4th People's Congress contains new provisions to ensure the power of the party. It abolishes the post of Chairman of the People's Republic of China and, as a result, there is no longer a head of state for China. The Constitution has also transferred some of the powers which previously belonged to the head of state to the Party Chairman. For example, it gives the title "Commander-in-Chief" of the Chinese Armed Forces, which now includes both the PLA and the militia (or the People's Arms Departments) to the Party Chairman.

Regional Commander	Name of Military Region	Date of Appointment
Chin Chi-wei	Chengtu	May, 1973
Wang Pi-ch'eng	Kunning	June, 1973
Yang Yung	Sinkiang	July, 1973
Ch'en Hsi-lien	Peking	December, 1973
Li Te-sheng	Shenyang	December, 1973
Hsu Shih-yu	Canton	December, 1973
Ting Sheng	Nanking	December, 1973
Yang Te-chih	Wuhan	December, 1973
Tseng Szu-yu	Tsinan	December, 1973
P'i Ting-Chun	Foochou	December, 1973
Han Hsien-chu	Lanchow	December, 1973

The Reduction of the Power of the Military in the Regional and District Military Apparatus

There are, at present, eleven Military Regions and 29 Military Districts in China. After the purge of the Lin's faction, a great number of these local military cadres were either purged or were removed from their posts. Py early 1973, more than 25 regional or district commanders and political commissars were removed.⁴⁷ At the district level alone, at least 112 or 32% of a total of 358 commanders, deputy commanders, political commissars (1st, 2nd and 3rd), and deputy commissars were either purged or replaced.⁴⁸ Such a large turnover has naturally uprooted the power bases of the regional and district military cadres. In 1973, all commanders of the eleven military regions were either replaced or transferred:

Many of these Regional Commanders had been in their "home regions" for quite a number of years. For example, Hsu-Shih-yu, before his transfer to the Canton Military Region, had been Commander of the Nanking Military Region since, 1957; Ch'en Hsi-lien had been in Shenyang since 1959; Yang Te-chih had been in Tsinan since 1958; and Han Hsien-chu had been in Foochow since 1960.⁵⁰

By transferring them to new regions, these Regional Commanders have been uprooted from their power bases. Moreover, when they were transferred, they, as a rule, left their army behind.

Around October 1 (the national day), 1975, a total of 59 District Commanders, regional military leaders, provincial party leaders and senior political commissars were transferred. At the end of 1975, for example, at least 10 of the 29 District Commanders were transferred out of their "home districts". These districts include Kweichow, Yunan, Kansu, Kiangsi, Chekiang, Hunan and Liaoning.⁵¹ Reportedly, there were more transfers between January and June 1976.

[Sources: see note 46]

The Reduction of the Power of the Military in the Civilian and Party Apparatus: the Removal of Civilian and Party Powers from the Regional and District Military Leaders

Before the mass transfers of the military regional and district commanders, a majority of these commanders were concurrently Chairmen or Vice-Chairmen of the Revolutionary Committe. They were also the First Secretaries or the Second Secretaries of the Party Committees of the 29 provinces and municipalities. As a result, these commanders had monopolized all the military party and civilian powers in their hands. After the transfers, however, these commanders were stripped of their party and civilian powers. (See (E) and (F) below.)

[Sources: see note 49]

The Reduction of the Power of the Military in the Civilian and Party Apparatus: the Reorganization of the Revolutionary Committees, i.e., the Civilian Governments at the Local Level

As mentioned above, when the Revolutionary Committees were established in 1968, there was overwhelming military representation. But the purge of the Lin faction and the re-emphasis of the party's centralized leadership have reversed the trend. For example, the number of military cadres who served as Chairman of the Revolutionary Committee was reduced first from 24 in 1968 to 19 after 1971, further to 10 in 1975 and finally to 8 in 1976 (Table 5). On the other hand, the number of Chairmen from the Maoist faction has increased from 5 (17.2%) in 1968 to 21 (72.4%) in 1976. When the number of both Chairmen and Vice-chairmen were considered together, the military accounted for only 102 or 25.6% of the 398 positions in late 1975, while the Maoist party faction accounted for 158 or 39.7% and the CR faction counted for 138 or 34.7% (Table 5).

There were no Military Regional Commanders among these Chairmen. Of the

ten military cadres, at most only two were Military District Commanders: Yu T'aichung, Commander of the Mongolia Military District and, possibly, Wang Chia-tao (who may have been purged in early 1976), Commander of the Heilungkiang Military District. They are still keeping their party and civilian titles in addition to their military titles in their respective provinces.

Reportedly, in January, 1976, two of the ten military cadres lost their Chairmanship in the Tsinghai Revolutionary Committee and the Kwangsi Revolutionary Committee, respectively. (Table 5).

An examination of the component of each of the 29 Revolutionary Committees indicates that the military is no longer able to control these Committees. If the Chairman and the Vice-Chairman of each Committee are considered, the military is able to claim a majority in only 2 of the 29 Committees. Even in these two committees, the margins that the military enjoyed are quite small. On the other hand, the Maoist party faction is able to claim a majority in 15 and the CR faction 10 of the 29 Revolutionary Committees. (Table 6)

In the light of the fact that the Revolutionary Committees are now the only civilian governments in the 29 provinces and municipalities in China, these changes in the power distribution in the Committees are significant. The reduction of the power of the military in the civilian governments is apparent.

			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·							
Title	Approximate <u>Date</u>	Military <u>Cadres</u>		Maoist Party <u>Cadres</u>		CR Cadres		Total Number	Source	
		No.	%	No.	%	No.	%			
Chairman Vic e- Ch airman	September 1968 Same as Above	24 58	82.80 29.70	5 54	17.20 27.70	0 83	0 42,60	29 195	(1) (2)	
Chairman Vic e -Chairman	Before Aug. 1971 Same as above	21 90	72.40 36.00	8 80	27.60 32.00	0 80	0 32.00	29 250	(3) (4)	
Chairman Vic e- C hairman	After Aug. 1971 Same as above	19 75	65.60 30.00	10 95	34.50 38.00	0 80	0 23.00	29 250	(5) (6)	
Chairman & Vice Chairman	November 1975	102	25.60	158	39.70	138	34.70	398	(7)	
Chairman	December 1975	10	34.50	19	65.50	0	0	29	(8)	
Chairman	February 1976	8	27.60	21	72.40	0	0	29	(9)	

Table 5 Distribution of Powers in the 29 Revolutionary Committees

Sources: (1) Asian Recorder (October 7-11, 1968) p. 8560

(2) (3) (7) (8) (9)

Studies on Chinese Communism (January, 1976) pp. 21-32 (4), (5), (6), I.S. (August, 1972), pp. 10-12 Studies on Chinese Communism (December 1975) pp. 43-46 (Not indicated. Ed.)

(9) Chinese Communist Affairs Monthly (January 1976), pp. 28-29, (February 1976), p. 120. For other sources, see also N.Y.T., June 3, 1968, p. 4.; June 9, 1968 p. 7; February 1, February 12, 1968. Due to different methods of computation employed in these sources the above figures cannot be used for precise comparison.

ASIAN STUDIES

Table 6

Power Distribution in Each of the 29th Revolutionary Committees (Chairman and Vice-Chairmen) (Approximate Date: December 1975)

LOCATIONS		itary adres		oist Party Cadres	c	CR adres	Total
Anhwei	3	20	6	40	6	<u>40*</u>	15
Chekiang	5	38.5	6	46.1	2	15.4	13
Fukien	3	16.7	8	44.4	7	38.9	18
Heilungkiang	7	50.0	6	42.8	1	7.1	14
Honan	3	27.3	6	54.5	2	18.2	11
Hopei	4	33.3	4	33.3	4	33.3	12
Hunan	5	32.2	7	43.7	4	25.0	16
Hupeh	3	17.6	10	Contraction of the local division of the loc	4	23.5	17
Inner Mongolia	3	30.0	5	50.0	2.	20.0	10
Kansu	3	23.0	2	15.4	8	61.5	13
Kiangsi	3	25.0	6	50.0	3	25.0	12
Kiangsu	3	18.7	5	31.2	8	<u>50.0</u>	16
Kiran	4	28.6	5	28.6	6	42.8	14
Kwangsi	3	23.0	4	30.8	6	46.1	13
Kwangtung	4	18.1	12		6	27.3	22
Liaoning	6	26.0	7	30.4	10	43.5	23
Peking	3	20.0	8	<u>53.3</u>	4	26.7	15
Shanghai	4	25.0	5	31.2	7	43.7	16
Shantung	0	00.00	4	66.7	2	33.3	6
Sinkiang	5	29.4	7	41.2	5	29.4	17
Szechwan	4	28.6	4	28.6	6	42.8	14
Tibet	4	26.7	8	53.3	3	20.0	15
Yunnan	2	18.2	3	27.3	6	54.5	11
Kweichow	- 3	25.0	5	41.7	4	33.3	12
Ninghsia	2	<u>40.0</u>	2	40.0	1	20.0	5
Shansi	3	20.0	5	33.3	7	<u>46.7</u>	15
Shensi	1	12.5	3	37.5	4	50.0	8
Tientsin	6	40.0	4	26.7	5	33.3	15
Tsinghai	3	30.0	2	20.0	5	50.0	10
	102	25.6	158	39.7	138	34.7	398

*majority

Source: adapted and computed from data in *Studies on Chinese Communism* (December 1975), pp. 43-46.

The Reduction of the Power of the Military in the Party Apparatus: the Reorganization of the Local Party Committees, the Supreme Local Party Authority

At present, the chieftains in the Revolutionary Committees and the local Party Committees of the 29 provinces and municipalities are identical. The Chairman of a Revolutionary Committee is automatically the First Secretary of the local Party Committee of the same locale. Therefore, most of the above findings on the Revolutionary Committee can be applied to the local Party Committee as well. Thus, in December 1975, only 10 or 34.5% of the 29 First Secretaries were military cadres while 19 or 65.5% were Maoist party cadres. (Table 7)

In addition, it has been pointed out that as far as party affairs were concerned, the local Party Committees should have the final authority. In 1971, for example, Mao pointed out,

Now that local Party Committees have been established, they should be allowed to practice unified leadership. If decisions have already been made by local Party Committees on certain matters, is it not justified to ask military units for further discussion? 52

To this very date, i.e., June 1976, the army has shown no signs of open resistances to these steps which have been taken to reduce the power of the army.

The Expansion of the Military, Party and Civilian Powers of the Maoist Faction

Over the past years, many members of the Maoist faction have been appointed to key positions in both the military and party apparatus. Thus, Chang Ch'unch'iao was appointed as the Director-General of the PLA Central Political Affairs Department and Wang Hung-wen, a Vice-Chairman of the Party. Other key Maoist leaders include Tseng Shao-shan (First Political Commissar of the Shenyang Military Region). Li Teh-sheng (Commander of the Shenyang Military Region), Wei Kuoch'ing (First Political Commissar of the Canton Military Region), Pai Ju-ping (First Political Commissar of the Tsi-nan Military Region) and Chi Teng-k'uei (First Political Commissar of the Peking Military Region).⁵³ In April, 1976, Hua Kuo-feng was appointed the Premier of China.⁵⁴

The new "three-in-one leadership" approved in the 1975 State Constitution is particularly favourable to the CR faction in the Maoist faction. It calls for the "unified leadership" among the young, the middle-aged, and the old. Since most of the members of the CR faction are younger cadres, this provision could open up more opportunities for the CR faction, and, therefore, clearly indicates a reduced emphasis on the military. As Wong Hung-wen recently pointed out:

The cultivation of millions of successors to the proletarian revolutionary undertakings is a great strategic measure and a hundred-year, long-range plan. We must grasp this great work and train successors at various levels. This training of successors has encountered few obstacles in local areas but more in military. I always advocate that we should find several men in their thirties to be the commanders
Titles	Approximate Date	Military Cadres		Maoist Party Cadres		CR Cadres		Total No.	Source
		No.	%	No.	%	No.	%		
1st Secretary	Before Aug. 1971	22	75.86	7	24.14	0	0	29	(1)
1st Secretary	33 3 3 33	21	72.40	8	27 . 60	0	0	29	(2)
From top position									
to Deputy Secretary	Same as Above		56.00						(3)
Prov. Comm. Secretaries	Augst 1971	98	62.00	58	32.90	8	5.10	501	(4)
1st Secretaries	Same as Above	22	75.86					29	(5)
All Secretaries	Same as Above	95	60.00	53	33.50	10	6.40	158	(6)
New Secretaries	During 1972 (JanDec.) & 1973 (JanMar.)	6	19.00					31	(7)
1st Secretaries	December 1975	10	34,50	19	65.50	0	0	29	(8)
1st Secretaries	February 1976	8	27.60	21	72.40	0	0	29	(9)
Sources: (1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (8) (9)	I.S. (December 1971) p. 53 Studies on Chinese Commun Current Scene (December 1973) Ibid. A.S. (December 1972) pp. 1 A.S. (April 1974) p. 394 (Not indicated. Ed.) Chinese Communist Affairs (February 1976), p. 120	975), p) pp. 12 006-10	p. 12-13 2-13 009; (Octo	ber 1974), p. 881				

 Table 7

 Distribution of Powers in the 29 Local Party Committees

[For other sources, see also N.Y.T., May 26, 1971 p. 12; August 29, 1971, p. 18. Due to the different methods of computation employed in these sources, the above figures cannot be used for precise comparison.]

of large military regions.55

The Promotion and Restructuring of the Militia, i.e. the People's Arms Departments

The Maoist faction apparently have realized that, in order to ensure their leadership in the party, especially after Mao's demise, it is imperative that they are able to control the Armed Forces. In addition to the above steps, they have taken to control the military, they have apparently decided to establish a force independent from the PLA namely, the militia.⁵⁶

The use of the militia is by no means a new concept.⁵⁷ But it was not until 1973 when the Maoist faction began to re-emphasize the importance of the militia. Reportedly, Wang Hung-wen has been assigned to organize the new Militia.

Equally significant is the constitutional status given to the militia in the new Constitution. It stipulates that both the PLA and the militia are the workers' and peasants' own armed forces led by the Party. This device is probably to constitutionally establish the equal status between the militia and the PLA. Previously, the militia was subordinated to the command of the local PLA. Now the PLA has lost the monopolistic status it previously enjoyed. In view of the fact that the Maoist faction has, over the past years, vigorously tried to expand the militia through China, this new provision is of particular significance.⁵⁸

Since 1973, the army, the workers, as well as the party have been urged to either support or join the militia.⁵⁹ Attacks were launched against Lin Piao's "military line" which downgrades the importance of the militia.⁶⁰

The Rehabilitation of the Military and Party Cadres Who Were Purged During the CR

Since 1971, but especially after the official purge of Lin Piao in 1973, a large number of the military and party cadres who were purged during the CR had been "rehabilitated" or reinstated. The purpose of this move seems to be twofold: first, the rehabilitated military cadres can be used to counterbalance the Lin Piao faction in the army and, secondly, they can resolve the problem of cadre shortage. The second point requires some explanation.

The dismissals and purges of members of the Liu/Teng faction during the CR, and those of the Lin Piao faction since 1971, have left a large number of positions unfilled. Most members, in the Maoist faction who were recruited during and after the CR are either too young or too inexperienced. The Maoist faction, therefore, have decided to rehabilitate some of the military and party cadres of the Liu/Teng faction (e.g. Teng Hsiao-p'ing, Ho Lung).⁶¹

The rehabilitation of Teng in 1973 was particularly significant.⁶² He was a Vice-Chairman and the Secretary-General of the Party before his purge during the CR. His reinstatement, therefore, could win the sympathy and support of the rehabilitated party cadres for the Maoist faction. At the same time, Teng was a

political commissar in the Second Field Army with a victorious combat record. A large number of the rehabilitated military cadres belonged to the former Second Field Army. In fact, eight of the eleven current Military Regional Commanders are either directly or indirectly related to the former Second Field Army.⁶³Therefore, Teng's reinstatement could win the sympathy and support of the military cadres for the Maoist faction to ensure the successful purge of the Lin faction.

Summary

In summary, therefore, the essential role played by the army has long been emphasized and appreciated by the Chinese leaders. The power struggles among the leaders in the past could, by and large, be regarded as a series of struggles for military power, in order to seize the leadership in China. But, as a rule, the Party has so far been able to command the army. Thus, the military intervention during the CR was initiated by the Party Chairman and ordered by the Central Committee of the Party. The military only implemented the order. The Party's central authority was not questioned. In fact, as early as 1967, the Maoist faction had decided to rebuild the Party. Immediately after the CR, when military representation became too overwhelming and when Lin Piao alledgedly became too ambitious, Mao decided to purge Lin and his faction. The purge was carried out gradually, but effectively. In order to ensure effective neutralization of the Lin faction and the smooth transfer of power, Teng and his supporters were reinstated. At the same time, the centralized leadership of the Party was continuously emphasized.

Since 1975, when the Lin faction has, by and large, been either "neutralized" or removed from powerful positions, serious conflicts between Teng and his supporters (hereinafter, the Teng faction), on the one hand, and the Maoist faction, on the other, began to emerge. From January to April, 1976, Teng had been implicitly accused of (1) placing too much emphasis on Party unity and stability while neglecting the more essential task, "class struggle," and (2) attempting to reverse the verdict against those cadres purged during the CR, including himself. Teng was, therefore, indirectly labeled as "revisionist," "unrepentant capitalist roader," and "right deviationist."⁶⁴ While it is difficult to verify whether these charges against Teng are true, the timing of Teng's downfall, as mentioned above, seems significant. Attacks on Teng began almost immediately after the transfers of all regional Military Commanders and the purge of the Lin faction were completed. In 1971, Lin's downfall also coincided with the completion of the purge of the Liu/Teng faction.

In April, less than two months after Hua Kuo-feng, a member of the CR faction, was appointed the Acting Premier following Chou's death, the Peking riot took place. On April 5, a crowd estimated at 30,000 to 100,000 people gathered at the Tienanmen Square in Peking, reportedly protesting the passing up of Teng as the Acting Premier. Immediately after the riot, Teng was dismissed from all of his party and government positions including Politburo member, Vice-Chairman of the Party, first Vice-Premier and Chief-of-Staff of the Army. Attacks on Teng have been intensified and Teng's name was, for the first time, mentioned.⁶⁵

At present, the question to answer is whether or not the Maoist faction could again rely on the army to ensure their leadership vis-a-vis the Teng faction. The

Maoist faction could "use" the army either directly (using military intervention as during the CR) or indirectly (using the army as a deterrent) to ensure their control of power. Any attempt to answer this question must, of course, be entirely speculative. But our findings, so far, seem to indicate that either alternative is possible. The events that took place in 1975 and in 1976, so far, seem to further support this assumption. For example, in July, 1975, when there was some unrest in Hanchow, about 6,000 regular soldiers were sent there to restore order immediately. Similar army involvements were also reported in other locales such as Liaoning and Yunan.⁶⁶ On February 20, 1976, six directives were issued by the Central Committee urging the army to support the campaign against the "rightists," i.e., the Teng faction.⁶⁷ In the same month, soldiers in the Peking Garrison were said to have participated in a campaign against the "unrepentant capitalist roaders," i.e., the Teng faction, in the Party.⁶⁸

In late April, 1976, after the Peking riot, a special ceremony was held to pay tribute to the "worker's militia, people's police, and PLA guards" for their loyal performance of duties during the riot. Except for Mao, almost all top military, party and civilian leaders were represented. In China, such a mass public appearance of leaders always bears special significance. At the ceremony, delegates of the officers pledged their support to the Party and its campaign against the Teng faction. At the same time, they expressed their determination to use "concrete deeds" to defend the Party.⁶⁹

One of the objectives of such a formal ceremony may be to endorse the intervention of these officers at the riot, and to legitimate future or indirect military intervention.

Since April 1976, all party, government, and military leaders have been asked to participate in the criticism of Teng and his faction. From information available to this date (August 1976), no military leaders, including the Regional and District Commanders, have shown any strong resistance, let alone rebellion.⁷⁰

Nevertheless, whether or not the Party can continue to enjoy its command over the army will depend on its ability to maintain its "unified" or "centralized" leadership. At present, the "unified leadership" consists of the Maoist Party faction, the Chou "faction", the CR faction and until recently, the Teng faction. But a series of events which took place in 1976 may have seriously eroded the "unified" leadership of the party beyond the level attained during the CR. These events include the following:

(1) The deaths of Chou En-lai and Chu Teh (Chairman of the Standing Committee of the 4th People's Congress): Both leaders have been regarded as veteran and modest mediators or "trouble-shooters" in the Party. Their deaths not only reduce the strength of the Maoist faction, but could mean that a valuable "cushion" between conflicting party leaders has been lost.

(2) International conflicts within the Maoist faction: Conflicts among the CR faction, the Chou "faction", and the Teng faction have already begun to emerge especially after the death of Chou and the public attacks on Teng. Furthermore, Wu Teh, the First Secretary of the Peking Party Committee (one of the 29 Party

Committees), has been appointed to succeed Chu Teh.⁷¹ A number of veterans in the Party, such as Tan Chen-Iin, Neh Yun-chian, were, therefore, passed up. Since Wu Teh has been a member of the CR faction, other factions within the general Maoist faction are bound to be dissatisfied.

(3) The Death of Mao: Due to his personal status and broad power base, Mao had a powerful unifying force in the Party. His demise could create a great deal of uncertainty that no one can predict. At present, there are only, Hua, Wong Hung-wen, Yeh Chian-yin, and Chiang remaining in the Political Bureau. Except for Yeh, all the others are CR faction members. Reportedly, Yeh has also been under attack in recent months. But, it is doubtful that CR faction alone can maintain the centralized leadership of the Party.

FOOTNOTES

¹For analyses of Chinese military factionalism, see William L. Parish, "Factions in Chinese Military Politics, *The China Quarterly* (hereafter *C.Q.*) (October/December, 1973), pp. 667-699; A.S.H. Kong, "Comradeship in Arms: An Analysis of Power through Associations in the CPLA-February, 1970 to February, 1974," *Asian Survey* (hereafter, *A.S.*) (July, 1974), pp. 663-677; Ellis Joffe, "China's Military Elites" *C.Q.* (June, 1975), pp. 311-317; William W. Whitson, "Statistics and the Field Army Loyalty System" *C.Q.* (January/March, 1974), pp. 146-147; For more background information, see Whitson, *Chinese Military and Political Leaders and the Distribution of Power in China*, 1956-1971, Rand, 1973; and his *The Chinese High Command*, 1927-1971: A History of Communist Military Politics, (N.Y., Praeger, 1973)

²Mao Tse-tung, Selected Works of Mao Tse-tung, Vol. 1 (Peking: Foreign Languages Press, 1967), p. 106.

³*Ibid.*, Vol. 4, p. 152

⁴Quotations from Chairman Mao Tse-tung (Peking, Foreign Languages Press, 1967), p. 102

⁵Mao Tse-tung, Selected Military Writings (Peking: Foreign Languages Press, 1963), pp. 242-43

⁶Quotations from Chairman Mao Tse-tung, Op. Cit., pp. 61-62

⁷*Ibid.*, pp. 62-63

⁸*Ibid.*, p. 61

⁹Selected Works of Mao Tse-tung, Vol. 1, Op. Cit., p. 106

¹⁰Warren Kuo, "The Evolution of the Chinese Communist Party," Issues & Studies: A Journal of China Studies and International Affairs (hereafter, I.S.) (Feb., 1975), p. 8

See also Parris H. Chang, "Regional Military Power: The Aftermath of the Cultural Revolution," A.S. (Dec., 1972), p. 1011

See also Chien T'ieh, "The Chiang Ch'ing Faction and Peiping's [Peking's] Military forces," *I.S.* (January, 1976, pp. 12-30; and his "Crisis in the Leadership of the Chinese Communist Armed Forces," *I.S.* (August, 1975), pp. 35-48; Allen S.H. Kong, *Op. Cit.*, p. 674; Fan Chih-yuan, "Chinese Communist Military: Organization and Personnel," *I.S.* (January, 1975),

pp. 42-56

See below, p 8 ff

The political commissars are particularly important to the relations between the army as a fighting force and the army as a political force. They are members of the PLA but at the same time are in charge of the party apparatus in the PLA. Very often, a military commander is concurrently the first political commissar in his commanding unit. A political commissar, on the other hand, can temporarily command the army.

¹¹For discussion on the Anti-Teng campaign, see below, p. 37 ff

¹²Byung-joon Ahn, "The Cultural Revolution and China's Search for Political Order," C.Q. (April/May, 1974), pp. 269-270. For criticisms on Teng, see N.Y.T., Nov. 2, 1969, p. 1

¹³Ellis Joffe, "The Chinese Army in the Cultural Revolution: the Politics of Intervention, *Current Scene* (Dec. 7, 1970) 1-24

14"Decision of the CCP Central Committee, the State Council, the Military Commission [i.e. the Military Affairs Commission] of the Central Committee and the Cultural Revolution Group under the Central Committee concerning the Resolute Support of People's Liberation Army for the Revolutionary Masses of the Left," (January 23, 1967), CCP Documents of the Great Proletarian Cultural Revolution 1966-1967 (Hong Kong, Union Research Institute, 1968), p. 195

See also Fang Chun-kuei, "Military Dictatorship under Mao's Regime," I.S. (October, 1971), p. 25

15"Decision of the CCP Central Committee, ..." Op. Cit., p. 195

¹⁶ "Decision of the CCP Central Committee, . . . " Op. Cit., p. 195

17 Ibid., p. 13; see also the New York Times (hereafter, N.Y.T.), August 2, 1968, p. 3; March 8, 1970, p. 2; October 26, 1970, p. 6;

The power of the army however was not uninterrupted. On April 6, 1967 for example, an order from the Military Affairs Commission severely curtailed the power of the army. The army was no longer allowed to suppress the Red Guards without the party's approval; see *CCP Documents, Op. Cit.*, p. 409, see also *N.Y.T.*, Feb., 16, 26, and 27, 1974 for recounts. However by early September of the same year, the army regained most of its powers; see *People's Daily*, September 17, 1967

¹⁸Red Flag (Hung Ch i), March 10, 1967

19 "Chronology of Maoist Take-over," Asian Recorder (October 7-11, 1968), p. 8560. It is important to point out that the results of computation vary from one source to another. But by and large, the differences are not very significant. For other computations, see Lung Fei, "Personnel Changes in Provincial Revolutionary Committees," Studies on Chinese Communist Monthly (in Chinese) (December 10, 1975), pp. 35-46; See also below, p. 25 ff.; N.Y.T., June, 3, 9, 1968

²⁰For Further analysis of his report, see Pu Sang, "Studies of Lin Piao's Political Report," *Chinese Communist Affairs Monthly* (in Chinese) (May 1, 1969), pp. 18-22; see also N.Y.T., February 16, 1969, p. 5, February 7, 1971, p. 18

²¹Adapted from "Analysis of the Newly Elected 9th CCP Central Committee," *I.S.* (July, 1969), pp. 33-44; For results of different computations, see "An Analysis of the CCP

9th Central Committee" Facts and Features: Chinese Communist Affairs, (May 14, 1969), pp. 12-13; Byung-joon Ahn, Op. Cit., pp. 273-274; Ellis Joffe, "The Chinese army in the CR: the Politics of Intervention," Op. Cit., pp. 21-23; Parris H. Chang "Regional Military Power. .." Op. Cit., p. 1005; For a complete list of members and alternate members, see "An Analysis of the Newly Elected 9th CCP Central Committee" *Ibid.* See also N.Y.T., April 2, p. 4; April 3, p. 1, 2, 4, 1969; William Brugger, "The Ninth National Congress of the Chinese Communist Party," World Today (July, 1969), pp. 297-305; N.Y.T., Feb. 16, 1969, p. 5

²²This study will not attempt to analyze the problem of military factionalism in China. For the purpose of this study, military cadres are divided into two groups, the Lin faction and the Non-Lin faction. For studies of Chinese military factionalism, see Note 1 above.

²³Parris H. Chang, "Mao's Great Purge: A Political Balance Sheet," Problems of Communism (March, 1969), p. 7

²⁴Parris H. Chang, "Regional Military Power. .." Op. Cit. p. 1011; see also H.W. Nelson, "Military Bureaucracy in the Cultural Revolution, A.S. (April, 1974), p. 374

25 See above, p. 8 ff; see also Parris H. Chang, "Regional Military Power...", Op. Cit.,
p. 1003; Ellis Joffe, "The Chinese Army in the CR: the Politics of Intervention," Op. Cit.,
p. 2; and his "The Chinese Army after the Cultural Revolution: the Effects of Intervention" C.Q. (July/September, 1973) 450-77

²⁶"Order of the CCP Central Military Commission (April 6, 1967)," CCP Documents... Op. Cit., p. 409; see also N.Y.T., August 2, 1968, p. 3; September 1, 1968, p. 1; See also N.Y.T., February 16, 26, 27, 1974 for recounts of the events.

²⁷Tang Tsou, "The Cultural Revolution and the Chinese Political System," C.Q., (April/ June, 1969), pp. 63-91

²⁸Philip Bridgham, "The Fall of Lin Piao," C.Q. (July-Sept., 1973), p. 431

The best recount of these events is in "A Summary of Chairman Mao's Talks with Responsible Comrades of Various Places during his Inspection Tour (Mid-August to September 12, 1971)" contained in a highly classified document entitled "Document No. 12 of the CCP Central Committee", reprinted in *I.S.* (September, 1972), pp. 65-71

²⁹Joint editorial of the *People's Daily*, *Red Flag*, and *Liberation Army Daily* on July 1, 1971 (party day), August 1, 1971 (army day); see also *People's Daily*, August 27, 1971; see also joint editorial of the three official organs on January 1, 1970; *Red Flag* (December 4, 1971), and *People's Daily*, August 1, 1971

³⁰"Report to the Tenth National Congress of the Communist Party of China" delivered on August 24 and adopted on August 28, 1973, in *The Tenth National Congress of the Communist Party of China (Documents)* (Peking, Foreign Languages Press, 1973), pp. 1-38

³¹ 'Constitution of the Communist Party of China'' adopted by the Tenth National Congress of the Communist Party of China on August 28, 1973," *Ibid.*, pp. 59-74

³²See Red Flag, April, 1974, People's Daily, February 2, 1974, see also N.Y.T., July 5, 1973, p. 7; September 2, 1973, p. 2

³³Red Flag, April, 1974; it carried an article on the unification of the six separate countries by Ch'in Shih Huang. In the article, the achievement of the military was downgraded.

³⁴"A Summary of Chairman Mao's Talks. . .," Op. Cit., pp. 65-71

³⁵People's Daily, August 1, 1975; since this was the "army day," the implications were clear.

³⁶Chang Chun-chiao, "Report on the Revision of the Constitution", *Peking Review* (Jan. 24, 1975), pp. 18-20, see also N.Y.T., January 18, 19, 1975; "China's Fourth National People's Congress," *Current Scene* (March/April, 1975), p. 8

³⁷Red Flag, November, 1974 for a recount; see also N.Y.T. April 21, 1974, p. 5

All key military leaders in the Lin faction disappeared shortly after Lin's death, see N.Y.T. October 18, 24 and 29, 1971; Lin's alleged plot against Mao was announced in 1972; see N.Y.T. July 23, 29, 1972

³⁸Ying-mao Kau and Perre M. Perrolle, "The Politics of Lin Piao's Abortive Military Coup," A.S., (June, 1974), p. 575; see also Chien T'ieh, "The Chiang Ch'ing faction. . ," Op. Cit., pp. 12-30; Hu Shu-ch'ang, "Personnel Status of the Provincial Military Districts" Chinese Communist Affairs Monthly (in Chinese) (Sept. 10, 1974), pp. 30-35; Allen Kong, Op. Cit., p. 663. It was Kong's estimate that at least 32 top military leaders were dismissed at local level.

³⁹For data on the 9th Party Congress, see above, p. 11 ff. and Note 28.

For the 10th Party Congress, see Fang Chun-kuei, "An Analysis of the Chicom Tenth Central Committee," Studies on Chinese Communism (September 10, 1973), p. 29 Hsuan Mo, "An Analysis of the Chicom Tenth National Party Congress' Political Report, *Ibid.*, pp. 10-15. Hsiao Yeh-hui, "Power Infrastructure of Chicom Top Level Hierarchy and Its Future Direction of Struggle," *Ibid.*, pp. 5-9 K'ung Te-liang, "An Analysis of the CCP's Tenth National Congress," *I.S.* (October, 1973), pp. 17-30. Li Chiu-i, "An Analysis of the Personnel of the 10th CCP Central Committee," *Chinese Communist Affairs Monthly*, (October 10, 1973), pp. 22-36. Lung Fei, "An Analysis of the Personnel of the CCP Tenth National Congress," *Ibid.*, pp. 41-43.

See also N.Y.T., August 20, 21, 1973; for names of key leaders, N.Y.T., August 30, 1973. For a complete list of members, see "List of Members of the Presidum of the Tenth National Congress of the CPC", "List of the 319 Members and Alternate Members of the Tenth Central Committee of the CPC," *Peking Review*, September 7, 1973. Also *The National Congress of the Communist Party of China*, Op. Cit., Roderick Macfarguhar, "China after the 10th Congress," *World Today* (December, 1973), pp. 514-526.

40*Ibid.* The methods and results of different sources vary from one to another. But the differences are not large enough to affect the conclusion. Figures used here are mainly taken from K'ung Te-liang's computation which appears to be more representative.

⁴¹*Ibid.* Among members of the 9th Politburo, were Hsieh, Lin, Ch'en, Huang, Wu, Yeh, Li and Ch'iu who are purged or dead. The remaining 13 full members in the 10th Politburo include Mao, Chou, Yeh, Liu Po-ch'eng, Chu, Hsu, Ch'en Hsi-lien, Li Hsien-nine, Yao, K'ang, Tung, and Chang.

⁴²*Ibid.* Among the military cadres are Li Teh-sheng, Hsu, Shih-yu, Ch'en Hsi-lien, Yeh Chien-ying, Chu Teh, and Liu Po-ch'eng. Many of them are no longer activie, Chu Teh.

 43 Ch'en Po-ta was also purged; see N.Y.T., December 2, 1974, p. 6 for background information

 44 The military takeover of the State Council and other central civilian governments were ordered by Mao implemented by Lin after the Red Guards violently attacked the Council. Although attempts were immediately made to normalize the operation of the Council, military representation remained strong. N.Y.T., March 8, 1970; October 26, 1970; December 27, 1970; February 7, 1972, October 22, 1972; see also Studies on Chinese Communism (September 10, 1973), pp. 66-75 for an article on the subject. See also above p. 9 ff.

⁴⁵Ibid.; see also "A Summary of Chairman Mao's Talks," Op. Cit.

⁴⁶*Ibid.*; see also "China's Fourth National People's Congress" Op. Cit., p. 5. Teng, Chang Ch'un-ch'iao and Ch'en Hsi-lien have a military background. For a complete list of members of the 4th Congress, see *Peking Review* (January 24, 1975), pp. 10-11; For the text of the 1975 State Constitution, see *Ibid.*, pp. 12-17; for Chang Chun-chiao's "Report on the Revision of the Constitution," *Ibid.*, pp. 18-21; for Chou En-lai's "Report on the Work of the Government," *Ibid.*, pp. 21-25. See also N.Y.T., January 18, January 19, 1975

⁴⁷The eleven Military Regions are: Shenyan, Peking, Nanking, Foochow, Wuhan, Canton, Lanchow, Chengtu, Kunming, Sinkiang and Tsinan. See also Chou Tzu-ch-iang, "An Analysis of the Chinese Communist Military Area System" *I.S.* (February, 1972), p. 39

In total, there are 25 military districts, 3 military garrison commands, 209 military subdistricts and until the recent change, 2,309 People's Arms Departments in the PLA.

⁴⁸Hu Sh-ch'ang, "Personnel Status of the Provincial Military Districts," *Chinese Communist Affairs Monthly* (September 10, 1974), pp. 30-35; by the end of 1973, more members of the Lin faction were purged, see W.P. Ting, "A Longitudinal Study of Chinese Military Factionalism, 1949-1973" A.S. (October, 1975), pp. 908-909; N.Y.T., July 5, 1973, p. 7; September 2, 1973, p. 2

⁴⁹Chien T'ieh, "Crisis in the Leadership. ..." Op. Cit., 35-48; N.Y.T., January 2, 1974, p. 3, p. 6; January 4, 1974, p. 3; March 29, 1974, p. 4, June 11, 1974, p. 14

⁵⁰Allen S.H.Kong, Op. Cit., p. 675

⁵¹Hsiao Hui, "An Analysis of Local Cadres: Big Switch," Studies of Chinese Communists (November 10, 1975), pp. 54-60

⁵²"A Summary of Chairman Mao's Talks..." Op. Cit., p. 69. Similar calls were made in 1974, N.Y.T., March 21, 1974, p. 40

⁵³Other key members in the CR faction include Wu Teh, political commissar of the Peking Military Region and Chairman of Peking Revolutionary Committee, and Mao Yuan-hsin, Political Commissar of the Sheyan Military Region. Many CR faction members were however purged for their support of Lin, e.g., Ch'en Po-ta, T'ao Chu. Some CR key members are dead, e.g. Kuang Seng. Others are too junior, e.g. Chiang Ch'ing.

⁵⁴The announcement of Hua's appointment as Acting Premier was made on February 7, 1976 (People's Daily). Before the appointment he was Acting Chairman of Hunan Revolutionary Committee, the First Secretary of Hunan Party Committee, member of Politburo,

Political Commissar of Canton Military Region and First Political Commissar of Hunan Military District concurrently. For further information on Hua, see "Teng Takes a Back Seat for Hua" Far Eastern Economic Review (February 20, 1967), p. 12

⁵⁵"Comrade Wang Hung-wen's Report at the Central Study Class – Restricted" (January 14, 1974)" This document is a "restricted" document circulated within the CCP. Reprinted in *I.S.* (February, 1975), p. 102

⁵⁶Apparently the Maoist faction is still concerned about the remaining members of the Lin faction. It is also concerned about the Non-Lin faction in the PLA which was purged during the CR.

⁵⁷Fan Chih-yuan, "Chinese Communist Military. . .," Op. Cit., pp. 50-51; Yin-mao Kau, "The Politics of Lin. . . .," Op. Cit., p. 384

⁵⁸"China's Fourth National People's Congress," Op. Cit., pp. 1-14; Parris Chang, "The Anti-Lin Piao. . .," Op. Cit., pp. 871-886, see also Studies on Chinese Communist (June, 1974), p. 7

⁵⁹F.C. Teiwes, "Urban Militia—A New Force?" Current Scene (January, 1974), p. 21-23; for the involvement of the army. For the involvement of workers and party members, see *People's Daily* (editorial)- September 29, 1973

⁶⁰People's Daily, February 1, 1975

 61 For a report on the vacancies created by Lin's purge, see N.Y.T., June 11, 1974, p. 14; for a report on some of the cadres who were rehabilitated, e.g. Yang Cheng-wu, former Acting Chief of Staff, see N.Y.T., August 2, 1974, p. 2

⁶²For the rehabilitation of Teng, see N.Y.T., April 13, 1973, p. 12; for reports on Teng's rise, see N.Y.T., January, 18, 30, 1975

⁶³The commanders who were either directly or indirectly related to the former Second Field Armv, are, among others, Li Te-sheng, Ch'en Hsi-lien, Ch'in Chi-wei, Yang Yung, Hsu Shih-yu, Han Hsieh-ch'u, P'i Ting-chun/

⁶⁴People's Daily, February 17, 1976. For other accusations and attacks on Teng, see "Setting the Stage for a Showdown," Far Eastern Economic Review (Januarv 9, 1976), pp. 9-11; "The Charges against Teng Hsiao-ping" Ibid., (February 27, 1976), p. 8; "Enter the Empress," Ibid., pp. 8-10

The promotion of party stability and unity was initiated by Mao in the fall of 1974. B^wt Mao pointed out that the promotion of these m^wst not mean the sacrifice of class struggle. For further discussion on this issue, see *People's Daily*, (February 29, 1976); and "Criticism of "Taking the Three Directives as the Key Link" *Peking Review*, (April 2, 1976), pp. 6-8; see also *Red Flag* (March 1), p. 5

For charges that Teng was attempting to reverse the verdicts, see *People's Daily*, April 18, 1976, February 13, 1976, March 10, 1976

For related articles, see *People's Daily*, February 29, March 3, 11, 1976; see also *Red Flag* (February, 1976), 17-20

⁶⁵People's Daily, April 10, 1976; "New Upsurge in Criticism of Teng Hsiao-ping,"

Peking Review (April 23, 1976)

66 "Long March Anniversary," Current Scene (December, 1975) 16

⁶⁷Peking Radio, February 20, 1976, reported in China Times, March 3, 1976

⁶⁸The garrison is part of the regular PLA. In this case, their activities were not specified. See *People's Daily*, February 22, 1976

69. Leading Comrades on C.P.C. Central Committee Receive Representatives of the Capital's Worker-Militia, People's Police, P.L.A. Guards," *Peking Review* (April 30, 1976), pp. 3-4

 70 Ibid. When Ch'en Hsi-lien, Commander of Peking Military Region did not show up in the mass criticism of Teng after the Peking riot, many began to speculate that he could be dismissed; but he later showed up at the ceremony mentioned below. Therefore as of April, 1976, there is no evidence that any of the 11 commanders had refused to participate in the criticism of Teng.

Recently, in July, 1976, Foochou Military Region Commander P'i Ting-chu was reportedly killed "in action." No detail was provided. Whether his death is related to any attempts of the Maoist faction to eliminate possible military dissent remains a mystery.

⁷¹Central Daily News, July 24, 1976

CUMULATIVE SUBJECT INDEX

TO ASIAN STUDIES

1963 - 1975

by

EDNA BONDOC – CARREON

ASEAN

Southeast Asia and the scramble of the major powers for influence in the Indian Ocean. Littaua, F.Z. 8:3:374-377 D'70*

ACADEMIA SINICA

Academia Sinica of the Republic of China. Juan, V.C. 2:3:384-388 D'64

ACCULTURATION

Latin qualities in Brazil and the Philippines. Maceda, J. 2:2:223-230 Ag'64

AESTHETICS, JAPANESE

Aesthetic values in contemporary Japan: the effects of industrialization and a consumer economy on Japanese aesthetic values. Olsen, E.A. 10:2:272-277 Ag'72 AFGHANISTAN – ECONOMIC CON-DITIONS

Economic development in Afghanistan and its obstacles. Jabcke, P. 5:2: 345-357 Ag'67

AFRICA – FOREIGN KELATIONS – ASIA – CONGRESSES

Second Asian-African conference; final communique of the preparatory meeting of ministers. 2:1:131-136 Ap'64

AGRARIAN REFORM, see LAND REFORM

*NOTE:

8 = vol. 8 3 = no. 3 374-377 = pp. 374-377 D'70 = December 1970 issue (Ap = April; Ag = August)

"AGUSAN GOLD IMAGE"

- The golden image of Agusan a new identification. Francisco, J.R. 1:31-39 '63
- ALANI CONVERSION TO CHRIST-INITY, see CHINESE – CONVER-SION TO CHRISTIANITY

ALIMUDDIN I, MUHAMMAD

- Muhammad Alimuddin I of Sulu: the early years. Costa, H. de Ia. 2:2:199-212 Ag'64
- ALZINA, FRANCISCO IGNACIO DE
 - Parte natural of Alzina's manuscript of 1668; a source of anthropological data. Rixhon, G. 6:2:183-197 Ag'68

AMANAH (ISLAM)

Asia and the humanities. Majul, C.A. 11:3:1-12 D'73

see also ISLAM

AMBAHAN

The ambahan: a Mangyan-Hanunoo poetic form. Postma, A. 3:1:71-85 Ap'65

AMERICAN UNIVERSITY-STUDENTS.

Children of the ancient regime in a changing society: a study of the Egyptian students at American University in Cairo, Weightman, G.H. 8:3:307-317 D'70

AMERICANS IN THE PHILIPPINES

- The American debate on Philippine annexation at the turn of the century, 1898-1900. Soberano, R.G. 12:1:39-51 Ap'74
- The American minority in the Philippines during the prewar Commonwealth period. Wheeler, G.E. 4:2: 362-373 Ag'66
- The Philippine independence controversy from McKinley to Taft: the politics of accommodation. Soberano, R.G. 11:2:114-122 Ag'73
- Platforms of Philippine parties: the politics of expedience, 1902-1913. Soberano, R.G. 13:2:45-54 Ag'75
- The response to Harrison's administration in the Philippines, 1913-1921. Casambre, N.J. 8:2:156-170 Ag'69
- Social background of revolution. Majul, C.A. 9:1:1-23 Ap'71
- ANGELES, CARLOS A. CRITICISM AND INTERPRETATION
 - Two poems in Carlos A. Angeles: an experiment toward a poetics of the lyric poem. Abad, G.H. 10:3: 344-360 D'72

ANITISM

Anitism: a survey of religious beliefs native to the Philippines. Hislop, S.K. 9:2:144-156 Ag'71

ANTHROPOLOGY

Document of understanding between the National Museum's Division of Anthropology and the University of the Philippines' Department of Anthropology. 3:1:158-160 Ap'65 The U.P. – National Museum memorandum of agreement: a historic context. Zamora, M.D. 3:1:155-157 Ap'65

ANTI-SINICISM

- Anti-Sinicism in the Philippines. Weightman, G.H. 5:1:220-231 Ap' 67
- Social distance in Iloilo City: a study of anti-Chinese attitudes in the Philippines. Omohundro, J.T. 13:1: 37-54 Ap'75

ANTI-SINOISM

- A survey of studies on anti-Sinoism in the Philippines. Tan, A.L. 6:2:198-207 Ag'68
- ANTIQUE FOLK-LORE see FOLK-LORE, PHILIPPINE
- ANTIQUITIES, PHILIPPINE see PHILIPPINES – ANTIQUITIES
- APPLIED LINGUISTICS

Response. Lopez, C. 1:6-9

ARCHAEOLOGY

China's diplomacy through art: a discussion on some of the archaeological and art finds in the Peoples' Republic of China. Lim, A.R. 11:3:54-82 D'73

ART

Chinese-History

China's diplomacy through art: a discussion on some of the archaeological and art finds in the Peoples' Republic of China. Lim, A.R. 11:3:54-82 D'73

Ifugao

Art in Ifugao society. Lim, A.R. 11:2:47-74 Ag'73

Indonesian

The indigenization of Indonesian art. Rocamora, N.F. 11:1:98-111 Ap73

Philippine

- Art in Ifugao society. Lim, A.R. 11:2:47-74 Ag'73
- Some implications of the okir motif in Lanao and Sulu art. Baradas, D.B. 6:2:129-168.Ag'68

ASIA

Bibliography

A bibliography of materials available in the Institute of Asian Studies Library on South and East Asia (as of June, 1964). Seguerra, M.B. 2:3:421-463 D'64

Civilization

The political evolution of South and Southeast Asia since independence. Corpuz, O.D. 2:1:67-70 Ap'64

Portuguese Influences

New world contacts with Asia. Zavala, S. 2:2:213-222 Ag'64

CUMULATIVE ...

Spanish Influences

New world contacts with Asia. Zavala, S. 2:2:213-222 Ag'64

Economic Conditions

The quest for development and the discovery of Asia by Asians. Castillo, G.T. 10:3:321-335 D'72

Elite (Social Sciences)

On models and reality: some notes on the approaches to the study of elites in developing societies. Simbulan, D.C. 6:3:421-430 D'68

Foreign Relations

Asian unity and disunity. Shen-Yu Dai. 4:1:135-148 Ap'66

Africa – Congresses

Second Asian-African conference. 2:1: 131-136 Ap'64

Europe

New world contacts with Asia. Zavala, S. 2:2:213-222 Ag'64

Philippines

The development of the Philippine Asianism. Mahajani, U. 3:2:221-242 Ag'65

History

The partition of Brunei. Wright, L.R. 5:2:282-302 Ag'67

Sources

The golden store of history. Myrick, C. 4:2:213-225 Ag'66

Languages

The tasks of modern linguistics in modern societies. Heidt, K.M. 6:1: 53-65 Ap'68

Libraries

The golden store of history. Myrick, C. 4:2:213-225 Ag'66

Linguistics

see ASIA -- LANGUAGES

Politics and Government

- Political conflict potential, politicization, and the peasantry in the underdeveloped countries. Hindley, D. 3:3:470-489 D'65
- The political evolution of South and Southeast Asia since independence. Corpuz, O.D. 2:1:67-70 Ap'64

ASIAN DEVELOPMENT BANK

Regional economic cooperation and integration movements and the Asian Development Bank. Banik, S. 6:3:395-420 D'68

ASIAN LITERATURE

Asian literature: some figures in the landscape. Gonzalez, N.V.M. 2:1: 76-81 Ap'64

ASIAN MYTHOLOGY, see MYTHOLOGY, ASIAN

- ASIAN-AFRICAN CONFERENCE, 2nd. DJAKARTA, 1964
 - Second Asian-African conference. 2:1: 131-136 Ap'64
- ATOMIC POWER INTERNATIONAL CONTROL
 - The Chinese bomb and its bearing on the regional power pattern. Prabhakar, P. 4:3:500-505 D'66
 - The Peoples' Republic of China as a nuclear power. Liu, L.Y. 10:2: 183-195 Ag'72
- ATOMIC WEAPONS INFORMATION, CHINESE
 - The Peoples' Republic of China as a nuclear power. Liu, L.Y. 10:2: 183-195 Ag'72
- ATTITUDE (PSYCHÓLOGY) RE-SEARCH
 - Parsons' "theory of action" and "structural functional" approach to social science. Dumagat, F.L. 12:2-3:18-44 Ag-D'74
- AUSTRONESIAN LANGUAGE see MALAY-POLYNESIAN LAN-GUAGE

AUTHORS, PHILIPPINE

The emergence of Filipino literature toward national identity. Hosillos, L.V. 4:3:430-444 D'66

B

- BALANGAO LANGUAGE GRAM-MAR, COMPARATIVE-CLAUSES
 - Balangao non-verbal clause nuclei. Shetler, Jo. 6:2:208-222 Ag'68
 - **BALI CIVILIZATION**
 - Relationships of musical and cultural contrasts in Java and Bali. Lieberman, F. 5:2:27^A-281 Ag'67

BAMBOO MUSICAL INSTRUMENT

see MUSICAL INSTRUMENTS,

BAMBOO

BANDUNG CONFERENCE, 1955

Indonesia-India relations, 1955-67 Dutt, N.K. 10:2:196-220 Ag'72

BASTIN, JOHN

- Theoretical aspects of Southeast Asian history; John Bastin and the study of Southeast Asian history. Alatas, S.H. 2:2:247-260 Ag'64
- BAY, LAGUNA MATERNAL AND INFANT WELFARE,

see MATERNAL AND IN-FANT WELFARE

BAY, LAGUNA – SOCIAL CONDI-TIONS, see PHILIPPINES – SOCIAL CONDITION

BELGIANS IN THE PHILIPPINES

- A Belgian view of the Philippines: 1899. Blumberg, A. 11:2:123-127 Ag'73
- BELGIUM FOREIGN RELATIONS PHILIPPINES
 - Belgium and a Philippine protectorate. Blumberg, A. 10:3:336-343 D'72

BELIEF AND DOUBT

Cultural fictions. Weightman, G.H. 10:2:179-182 Ag'72

BENYOVSZKY, MORIC

Count Moric Benyovszkv; a Hungarian crusoe in Asia. Teixeira, M. 4:1: 127-134 Ap'66

BHAGAVADGITA

- Yajña in the Bhagavadgita. Jordens, J.T.F. 3:2:283-292 Ag'65
- BHUTAN POLITICS AND GOVERN-MENT
 - The structure of national law-making authority in Bhutan. Belfiglio, V.J. 12:1:77-87 Ap'74
- BICOL DRAMA BIBLIOGRAPHY see PHILIPPINE DRAMA – BIBLIO-GRAPHY
- BISAYAN DRAMA BIBLIOGRAPHY, see PHILIPPINE DRAMA – BI-BLIOGRAPHY
- BISAYAS HISTORY BIBLIOGRA-PHY

- Parte natural of Alzina's manuscript of 1668. Rixhon, G. 6:2:183-197 Ag'68
- see also PHILIPPINES HISTORY BIBLIOGRAPHY

BRAHMINS IN TAMIL NADU

- The genesis of the DMK. Marican, Y.M. 9:3:340-364 D'71
- BRAZIL CIVILIZATION LATIN INFLUENCES
 - Latin qualities in Brazil and the Philippines. Maceda, J. 2:2:223-230 Ag'64

BRUNEI

Foreign Relations – Gt. Brit.

The establishment of a residency in Brunei 1895-1905. Crisswell, C.N. 10:1:95-107 Ap 72

History, 1840-1905

The partition of Brunei. Wright, L.R. 5:2:282-302 Ag'67

BUCK, PEARL

- Pearl Buck and the Chinese novel. Cevasco, G.A. 5:3:437-450 D'67
- **BUDDHA** IMAGES

see BUDDHA AND BUDDHISM --

PICTURES, ILLUS., ETC.

BUDDHA AND BUDDHISM

- Bhuddism and British colonial policy in Ceylon, 1815-1875. Evers, H.D. 2:3:323-333 D'64
- Buddhism and state in Ceylon before the advent of the Portuguese. Phadnis, U. 8:1:120-134 Ap'70
- Buddhism in early Southeast Asia. Lim, A.R. 11:1:75-97 Ap'73
- Concepts of reality in Buddhist thought. Driscoll, J.P. 4:2:236-239 Ag'66
- Meiji Buddhism. Kiyota, M. 4:1:49-58 Ap'66
- A nativistic reaction to colonialism: the Sinhala-Buddhist revival in Sri-Lanka. Dharmadasa, K.N.O. 12: 1:159-179 Ap'74
- Religious and cultural ethos of modern Japan. Kitagawa, J.M. 2:3:334-352 D'64
- The rise of Buddhism in its historical context. Basham, A.L. 4:3:395-411 D'66
- The structure of national law-making authority in Bhutan. Belfiglio, V.J. 12:1:77-87 Ap'74
- The uses of Buddhism in wartime Burma. Guyot, D. 7:1:50-80 Ap'69
- The Zen concept of emptiness. Adorable, V.H. 9:1:37-54 Ap'71

Pictures, Illustrations, Etc.

- A buddhist image from Karitunan site, Batangas province. Francisco, J.R. 1:13-22 '63
- The golden image of Agusan. Francisco, J.R. 1:31-39 '63

BUREAUCRACY

- Public perception of bureaucratic performance in Uttar Pradesh (India) and its impact on social change and modernization. Vajpeyi, D.K. 10:3:361-377 D'72
- The rise and demise of konfrontasi impact on politics in Malaysia. Grossholtz, J. 6:3:325-339 D'68

BURMA

- History Japanese Occupation, 1941-1945
- The uses of Buddhism in wartime Burma. Guyot, D. 7:1:50-80 Ap'69

Irrigation

see IRRIGATION

Politics and Government

- Burma's military dictatorship. Cady, J.F. 3:3:490-516 D'65
- The military and nation-building in Korea, Burma and Pakistan. Chang, D.W. 8:1:1-24 Ap'70

History

Government and irrigation in Burma. Stargardt, J. 6:3:358-371 D'68

Sources

On the changing Anglo-Saxon image of Burma. Sarkisyanz, E. 4:2: 226-235 Ag'66

С

CAMBODIA - FOREIGN RELATIONS

Gt. Brit.

British policy towards Siam, Cambodia, and Vietnam, 1842-1858. Tarling, N. 4:2:240-258 Ag'66

CATHOLIC CHURCH – RELATIONS (DIPLOMATIC)

Religious problems in the Philippines and the American catholic church 1898-1907. Evangelista, O.L. 6:3: 248-262 D'68

CATHOLICITY

Filipino Catholicism. Jocano, FL. 5:1: 42-64 Ap'67

CEYLON

Foreign Relations -

Gt. Brit.

Buddhism and British colonial policy in Ceylon, 1815-1875. Evers, H.D. 2:3:323-333 D'64

Nationalism

see NATIONALISM, CEYLONESE

Religion

Buddhism and state in Ceylon before the advent of the Portuguese. Phadnis, U. 8:1:120-134 Ap'70

CHINA

see also TAIWAN

Academies (Learned Societies),

see CHINA – LEARNED INSTITU-TIONS AND SOCIETIES

Civilization

- Chinese communities in Eastern Java. Baks, C. 8:2:248-259 Ag'70
- Heaven sees as the people see, heaven hears as the people hear. Scott, W.H. 13:2:119-131 Ag'75
- Influence de la Chine populaire sur les peuples de l'Asie du Sud-Est. Golfin, R.P. 3:3:571-584 D'65

Description and Travel

Fundamental aspects of China's geography influencing China's political policies. Wiens, H.J. 2:3:409-420 D'64

see also GEOGRAPHY

Foreign Relations

- The Chinese bomb and its bearing on the regional pattern. Prabhakar, P. 4:3:500-505 D'66
- Peking and the world: some thoughts on Chinese communist foreign policy. Schwarz, H.G. 3:2:344-369 Ag'65
- The Peoples' Republic of China as a nuclear power. Liu, L.Y. 10:2: 183-195 Ag'72

India

Chinese strategy and intent during the Sino-Indian border dispute. Hetzner, D.R. 5:2:303-315 Ag'67

Latin America

The Chinese People's Republic and the Latin American left. Knauth, L.G. 4:3:506-531 D'66

Philippines

Social distance in Iloilo City: a study of anti-Chinese attitudes in the Philippines. Omohundro, J.T. 13:1: 37-54 Ap'75

History

The Chinese People's Republic and the Latin American left. Knauth, L.G. 4:3:506-531 D'66

1900

Social change and the political legitimacy in warlord China. Chan, A.B. 11:1:151-164 Ap'73

1915-1918

The May Fourth Movement and the origins of Chinese Marxism. Teodoro, L.V. 13:1:1-16 Ap'75

Revolution

The great proletarian cultural revolution. Etemadi, F.U. 13:2:1-12 Ag'75

- Campaigns and Battles

Chinese strategy and intent during

the Sino-Indian border dispute. Hetzner, D.R. 5:2:303-315 Ag'67

Soviet and Chinese revolutionary strategy. Hamburg, R. 6:3:340-357 D'68

International Status

The concept of sovereignty in premodern Asia. Ledesma, L.S. 9:2: 89-106 Ag' 71

Learned Institutions and Societies

Academia Sinica of the Republic of China. Juan, V.C. 2:3:384-388 D'64

Modernization

- Factors explaining the disparate pace of modernization in China and Japan. Cole, A.B. 4:1:1-15 Ap'66
- Political culture as a factor of political decay in China and Japan. Choi, Y.H. 10:3:416-428 D'72
- Soviet and Chinese revolutionary strategy. Hamburg, R. 6:3:340-357 D'68

Militarism

see MILITARISM

Missions

see MISSIONS, CHINESE

Political Parties

see POLITICAL PARTIES

Politics and Government

- Fundamental aspects of China's geography influencing China's political policies. Wiens, H.J. 2:3:409-420 D'64
- The great proletarian cultural revolution. Etemadi, F.U. 13:2:1-12 Ag'75
- The May Fourth Movement and the origins of Chinese Marxism. Teodoro, L.V. 13:1:1-16 Ap'75
- Political culture as a factor of political decay in China and Japan. Choi, Y.H. 10:3:416-428 D'72
- Social change and the political legitimacy in warlord China. Chan, A.B. 11:1:151-164 Ap'73

Social Conditions

- Heaven sees as the people see, heaven hears as the people hear. Scott, W.H. 13:2:119-131 Ag'75
- Social change and the political legitimacy in warlord China. Chan, A.B. 11:1:151-164 Ap'73
- The theoretical basis of sexual equality and marriage reform in China. Dorros, S.G. 13:2:13-25 Ag'75

CHINESE

Communist Party

The great proletarian cultural revolution. Etemadi, F.U. 13:2:1-12 Ag'75

Conversion to Christianity

The conversion of the Alani by the Franciscan missionaries in China in the fourteenth century. Ikle, F.W. 5:2:316-322 Ag'67

see also CHRISTIAN LIFE

Fiction

Pearl Buck and the Chinese novel. Cevasco, G.A. 5:3:437-450 D'67

In Java

Chinese communities in Eastern Java. Baks, C. 8:2:248-259 Ag'70

In Malaysia

- Penang's Chinese population. Kuchler, J. 3:3:435-458 D'65
- Spatial aspects of Foochow settlement in West Malaysia with special reference to Sitiawan, Perak, since 1902. Khoo, S.H. et al. 10:1: 77-94 Ap 72

In the Philippines

- The Chinese in the Philippine revolution. Ginsberg, P. 8:1:143-159 Ap'70
- The Chinese in the Philippines and the Chinese revolution of 1911. Tan, A.S. 8:1:160-183 Ap'70
- Inter-ethnic images between the Filipinos and Chinese in the Philippines. Tan, A.L. and G.E. de Vera. 7:2:125-133 Ag'69
- Social distance in Iloilo City: a studyof anti-Chinese attitudes in the

Philippines. Omohundro, J.T. 13:1: 37-54 Ap'75

In Singapore

Chinese leadership in early British Singapore. Williams, L.E. 2:2:170-179 Ag'64

In Southeast Asia

The Chinese in Southeast Asia: China commitments and local assimilation. Howell, L.D. 11:3:37-53 D'73

> Newspapers in Foreign Countries

The Chinese newspaper in the Philippines. Blaker, J.R. 3:2:243-261 Ag'65

Records

Notes on the Sulu Islands in Chu-Fan-Chih. Wang Teh Ming. 9:1: 76-78 Ap'71

Revolution of 1911

The Chinese in the Philippines and the Chinese revolution of 1911. Tan, A.S. 8:1:160-183 Ap'70

Secret Socities

see SECRET SOCIETIES

Studies (Sinology)

Chinese and the primitive language: John Webb's contribution to 17th century Sinology. Frodsham, J.D. 2:3:389-408 D'64

CHINESE-JAPANESE WAR

Financial diplomacy: the Takahashi Korekiyo missions of 1904-1905. Best, G.D. 12:1:52-76 Ap'74

CHRISTIAN LIFE

- Baptism and "Bisayanization" among the Mandaya of Eastern Mindanao, Philippines. Yengoyan, A.A. 4:2: 324-327 Ag'66
- The conversion of the Alani by the Franciscan missionaries in China in the fourteenth century. Ikle, F.W. 5:2:316-322 Ag'67
- Samurai conversion; the case of Kumamoto. Moore, G.E. 4:1:40-48 Ap'66
- see also CHINESE CONVERSION TO CHRISTIANITY

CHRISTIANITY IN JAPAN

Religious and cultural ethos of modern Japan. Kitagawa, J.M. 2:3:334-352 D'64

CHRISTIANITY IN THE PHILIPPINES

Filipino Catholicism. Jocano, F.L. 5:1:42-64 Ap'67

General characterization of contemporary religious movements in the Philippines, Covar, P.R. 13:2:79-92 Ag'75

CHURCH MUSIC

The ritual music of the Iglesia del Ciudad Mistica de Dios. Santos,

R.P. 13:2:93-117 Ag'75

CITIES AND TOWNS

- City size distribution of Southeast Asia. Sendut, H. 4:2:268-280 Ag'66
- The colonial origins of Manila and Batavia. Reed, R.R. 5:3:543-562 D'67
- The primate city in Southeast Asia. Reed, R.R. 10:3:283-320 D'72

CLERGY

Two intellectual traditions. Yabes, L.Y. 1:84-104 '63

CLEVELAND, WILLIAM

Discovery of Japan by a New Englander. Kanai, M. 2:3:372-383 D'64

COCK-FIGHTING

Research in a cockpit. Tamanio, M.M. 7:2:255-263 Ag'69

COFRADIA DE SAN JOSE

- A proto-political peasant movement in the Spanish Philippines. Sweet, D. 8:1:94-119 Ap'70
- Some reflections about the Cofradia de San Jose as a Philippine religious uprising. Lee, D.C. 9:2: 126-143 Ag'71

COLLEGE STUDENTS

see STUDENTS

COMMUNICATION

- Folklore and communication. Clavel, L.S. 8:2:218-247 Ag'70
- Toward an effective medium of communication for the Filipino masses. Feliciano, G.D. 8:2:196-202 Ag'70

COMMUNISM

The theoretical basis of sexual equality and marriage reform in China. Dorros, S.G. 13:2:13-25 Ag'75

China

Soviet and Chinuse revolutionary strategy. Hamburg, R. 6:3:340-357 D'68

Malaysia

Communism in Singapore and Malaysia. Van der Kroef, J.M. 4:3:549-571 D'66

Thailand

Can a single spark ignite a paddyfield? The case of Thai insurgency. Esposito, B.J. 8:3:318-325 D'70

Vietnam (Democratic

Republic)

The North Vietnamese regime. Spitz, A. 8:1:25-37 Ap'70

COMMUNIST PARTIES

Asian Communist parties and the problem of nationalism. Spitz, A. 5:3:451-457 D'67

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT

- A development program in action. Castillo, G.T., et. al. 2:1:37-66 Ap'64
- The quest for development and the discovery of Asia by Asians. Castillo, G.T. 10:3:321-335 D'72

COMMUNITY LEADERSHIP

The search for community leadership in Morong, Rizal. Angeles, V.S.M. 11:1:165-176 Ap'73

CONFERENCE

see CONGRÉSSES AND CONVENTIONS

CONFUCIUS AND CONFUCIANISM

- Religious and cultural ethos of modern Japan. Kitagawa, J.M. 2:3:334-352 D'64
- Socialism in Confucianism. Chao, P. 9: 3:328-339 D'71

CONGRESSES AND CONVENTIONS

Trends in regional association in South East Asia. Leifer, M. 2:2:188-198 Ag'64

CONVERTS FROM ISLAM

The "Christian problem" and the Philippine South. Santos, J. de los. 13:2:27-43 Ag'75

COOPERATIVE SOCIETIES

Economic and technical feasibility study of cooperatives and credit in Laos. Tablante, N. 5:3:524-542 D'67

CORRUPTION (POLITICAL)

An essay on the political function of corruption. Scott, J.G. 5:3:501-523 D'67

COUPS D'ETAT

The military and nation-building in Korea, Burma and Pakistan. Chang, D.W. 8:1:1-24 Ap'70

CREDIT

Economic and technical feasibility study of cooperatives and credit in Laos. Tablante, N. 5:3:524-542 D'67

CRUZ, APOLINARIO DE LA

Some reflections about the Cofradia de San Jose as a Philippine religious uprising. Lee, D.C. 9:2:126-143 Ag'71

CULTURAL FICTION

Cultural fictions. Weightman, G.H. 10:2:179-182 Ag'72

CULTURE

- Culture contact and ethnogenesis in Mindoro up to the end of the Spanish rule. Lopez, V.B. 12:1:1-38 Ap'74
- Heaven sees as the people see, heaven hears as the people hear. Scott, W.H. 13:2:119-131 Ag'75

The political evolution of South and Southeast Asia since independence. Corpuz, O.D. 2:1:67-70 Ap'64

see also CIVILIZATION

see also specific name of countries, etc. with subdivision, CIVILIZA-TION

CULTUS, PHILIPPINE

Manolay cult. Smart, J. 8:1:53-93 Ap'70

CURSILLO MOVEMENT

The Cursillo movement. Bautista, P.G. 10:2:232-244 Ag'72

D

DAVAO JAPANESE ASSOCIATION

The Japanese minority in the Philippines before Pearl Harbor, social organization in Davao. Saniel, J.M 4:1:103-126 Ap'66

DEITIES

see GODS

DEMOCRACY

- Democracy in India. Ray, S.N. 2:1:23-28 Ap'64
- Freedom as a factor in individual development. Prasad, K. 2:1:13-22 Ap'64
- Indonesia's contemporary political problems. Noer, D. 8:3:366-373

D'70

DIPLOMATS, CHINESE

The record of an envoy's voyage to the west. Frodsham, J.D. 5:3: 409-436 D'67

DIVINATION

Notes on Philippine divinities. Jocano, F.L. 6:2:169-182 Ag'68

DOLLAR

Silver dollars in Southeast Asia. Chiang Hai Ding. 3:3:459-469 D'65

DOPPO, KUNIKIDA

The bonfire (Takibi). Doppo, K. 6:1:102-107 Ap'68

DRAMATISTS, PHILIPPINE

Philippine "seditious plays". Rodell, P.A. 12:1:88-118 Ap'74

DRAVIDA MUNNETRA KAZHAGAM

The genesis of the DMK. Marican, Y.M. 9:3:340-364 D'71

DWELLINGS – PHILIPPINES

- Some notes on house styles in a Kankanai village. Bello, M.C. 3:1:41-54 Ap'65
- see also MT. PROVINCE HISTORIC HOUSES, ETC.

E

- EARTH-DIVER (IN RELIGION, FOLK-LORE, ETC.)
 - The earth-diver myth. Lopez, R.M. 10:3:429-448 D'72

EAST ASIA -- BIBLIOGRAPHY

A bibliography of materials available in the Institute of Asian Studies Library on South and East Asia (as of June, 1964). Seguerra, M.B. 2:3:421-463 D'64

ECOLOGY

- Images of nature in Swettenham's early writings. Aiken, S.R. 11:3: 135-152 D'73
- Jama Mapun ethnoecology: economic and symbolic (of grains, winds, and stars). Casiño, E.S. 5:1:1-32 Ap'67

ECONOMIC ASSISTANCE

American

United States policy on Japanese war reparations, 1945-1951. Ohno, T. 13:3:23-45 D'75

Japanese

Japanese colonialism and Korean economic development 1910-1945. King, B.L. 13:3:1-21 D'75

Russian

Soviet foreign aid to India. Bhaneja, B. 8:3:326-335 D'70 In India

Soviet foreign aid to India. Bhaneja, B. 8:3:326-335 D'70

In Japan

United States policy on Japanese war reparations, 1945-1951. Ohno, T. 13:3:23-45 D'75

In Korea

Japanese colonialism and Korean economic development 1910-1945. King, B.L. 13:3:1-21 D'75

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

- The failure of economic development and political democracy in Southeast Asia. Tregonning, K.G. 5:2: 323-331 Ag'67
- The quest for development and the discovery of Asia by Asians. Castillo, G.T. 10:3:321-335 D'72

ECONOMICS – PSYCHOLOGICAL AS-PECTS

- Economic thought of Gandhi. Dabholkar, D. 7:3:330-337 D'69
- A reintroduction to Gandhian economic thinking. Das, A. 7:3:338-352 D'69

EDUCATION – PHILIPPINES

Two intellectual traditions. Yabes, L.Y. 1:84-104 '63

EDUCATIONAL EXCHANGES

Our new Asian academic orientation. Romulo, C.P. 2:3:289-301 D'64

EGYPTIAN STUDENTS IN FOREIGN COUNTRIES

Children of the ancient regime in a changing society. Weightman, G.H. 8:3:307-317 D'70

see also STUDENTS, FOREIGN

ELECTIONS

India

Indian elections and after. Ray, S.N. 5:3:494-500 D'67

Japan

The 31st general election in Japan. Akita, G. 5:3:458-493 D'67

Philippines

- Charismatic authority and Philippine political behavior. Marquette, J.F. 10:1:50-63 Ap'72
- Implications of the 1965 Philippine election. Meadows, M. 4:2:381-391 Ag'66

ELITE (SOCIAL SCIENCES)

- On models and reality. Simbulan, D.C. 6:3:421-430 D'68
- The search for community leadership in Morong, Rizal. Angeles, V.S.M. 11:1:165-176 Ap'73

EMANCIPATION OF WOMEN

see WOMAN - RIGHTS OF WOMEN

EMIGRATION AND IMMIGRATION

Reflections on the migration theory vis-a-vis the coming of Indian influences in the Philippines. Francisco, J.R. 9:3:307-314 D'71

ETHNIC ATTITUDES

Inter-ethnic images between the Filipinos and Chinese in the Philippines. Tan, A.L. and G.E. de Vera. 7:2:125-133 Ag'69

ETHNOLOGY - PHILIPPINES

Jama Mapun ethnoecology. Casiño, E.S. 5:1:1-32 Ap'67

F

FAITH

- Anitism: a survey of religious beliefs native to the Philippines. Hislop, S.K. 9:2:144-156 Ag'71
- Religious and cultural ethos of modern Japan. Kitagawa, J.M. 2:3:334-352 D'64

FARM PRODUCE

Hacienda magnitude and Philippine sugar cane production. Schul, N.W. 5:2:258-273 Ag'67

FISHING

Fishing economy of the Itbayat,

Batanes, Philippines with special reference to its vocabulary. Yamada, Y. 5:1:137-219 Ap'67

- Hunting and fishing among the Southern Kalinga. Lawless, R. 11:3: 83-109 D'73
- FOLK DANCE MUSIC, PHILIPPINES SULU
 - Lunsay: song-dance of the Jama Mapun of Sulu. Casiño, E.S. 4:2: 316-323 Ag'66

FOLK LITERATURE, MARANAW

- Maharadia Lawana. Francisco, J.R. 7:2:186-249 Ag'69
- FOLK LITERATURE, PHILIPPINE THEMES, MOTIVES
 - Themes in Philippine folk tales. Demetrio, F.R. 10:1:6-17 Ap'72
- FOLK-LORE

Philippine

- Animal horns and similar motifs in Filipino, Eurasian and Amerindian folklore. Rahmann, R. and J. Kuizon. 3:3:403-419 D'65
- The earth-diver myth. Lopez, R.M. 10:3:429-448 D'72
- Juan Pusong. Hart, D.V. and H.E. Hart. 12:2-3:129-162 Ag-D'74
- Folklore and communication. Clavel, L.S. 8:2:218-247 Ag'70
- Twenty-three place-name legends from Antique Province, Philippines. Jocano, F.L. 3:1:16 40 Ap'65

see also MYTHOLOGY, PHIL-IPPINE

Sulu

Lunsay: song-dance of the Jama Mapun of Sulu. Casino, E.S. 4:2:316-323 Ag'66

FONACIER, THOMAS S.

Curriculum vitae: Thomas S. Fonacier. 2:1:139-141 Ap'64

FOOCHOW SETTLEMENT

Spatial aspects of Foochow settlement in west Malaysia with special reference to Sitiawan, Perak, since 1902. Khoo, S.H. and K.E. Chan. 10:1:77-94 Ap'72

FOOD SUPPLY

Food population problems in the Philippines. Tablante, N.B. 4:2: 374-380 Ag'66

FRANCISCANS IN CHINA

The conversion of the Alani by the Franciscan missionaries in China in the fourteenth century. Ikle, F.W. 5:2:316-322 Ag'67

G

GADDANG LANGUAGE – GRAMMAR, COMPARATIVE

Gaddang affirmatives and negatives.

Troyer, L.O. 6:1:99-101 Ap'68

see also PHILIPPINE LANGUAGE

GANDHI, MOHANDAS KARAM-CHAND, 1869-1948

- The early Gandhi on nationalism. Le Maire, H.P. 7:3:302-320 D'69
- Economic thought of Gandhi. Dabholkar, D. 7:3:330-337 D'69
- Gandhi after independence. Narayan, J. 7:3:353-363 D'69
- Gandhi and Marx. Rothermund, I. 7:3:321-329 D'69
- The Gandhi centenary. Lewis, M.D. 7:3:389-400 D'69
- Gandhi's relevance to contemporary developments in Asia. Bose, N.K. 7:3:384-388 D'69
- The political theory of Gandhi's Hind Swaraj. Parel, A. 7:3:279-301 D'69
- A reintroduction to Gandhian economic thinking. Das, A. 7:3:338-352 D'69
- The relevance of Gandhi. Narayan, J. 7:3:364-374 D'69
- Tagore and Gandhi. Bose, A.C. 7: 3:375-383 D'69

GANGS

Some recent inquiries into the structure-function of conflict gangs in the Manila City Jail. Ashburn, F.G. 3:1:126-144 Ap'65

GAPANG

Gapang: the practice of "sleep-crawling" in a Tagalog Community. Israel, C.C. 9:2:157-163 Ag'71

GEOGRAPHY

- Fundamental aspects of China's geography influencing China's political policies. Wiens, H.J. 2:3:409-420 D'64
- **GERMANY** FOREIGN RELATIONS

India

Human problems in technical assistance. Sperling, J.B. 5:2:332-344 Ag'67

Malaya

How Germany made Malaya British. Tregonning, K.G. 2:2:180-187 Ag'64

GODS

Notes on Philippine divinities. Jocano, F.L. 6:2:169-182 Ag'68

see also MYTHOLOGY

- GRAMMAR, COMPARATIVE AND GE-NERAL – SENTENCES
 - Sentence patterns of the ten major Philippine languages. Constantino, E. 2:1:29-34 Ap'64
- GT. BRITAIN FOREIGN RELA-TIONS
 - British policy towards Siam, Cambodia, and Vietnam, 1842-1858. Tarling, N. 4:2:240-258 Ag'66

Brunei

H

The establishment of a residency in Brunei 1895-1905. Crisswell, C.N. 10:1:95-107 Ap'72

Ceylon

Buddhism and British colonial policy in Ceylon, 1815-1875. Evers, H.D. 2:3:323-333 D'64

Malaysia

Malaysia: her national unity and the Pan-Indonesian movement. Krause, D. 4:2:281-290 Ag'66

Nepal

Nepalese-British cooperation in World War I. Husain, A. 4:3:479-490 D'66

Philippines

The English "country trade" with Manila prior to 1708. Quiason, S.D. 1:64-83 '63

GREEN REVOLUTION

Economic policy and political gains; the first phase of India's green revolution (1966-71). Torri, M. 12:2-3:45-75 Ag-D'74

GUARDIA DE HONOR

Guardia de Honor: revitalization within the revolution. Sturtevant, D.R. 4:2:342-352 Ag'66

HAIKU

The haiku as poetic form. Epistola, S.V. 1:41-51 '63

HARI-HARA

see SIVA-VASNU

HARRISON, FRANCIS BURTON

The response to Harrison's administration in the Philippines. Casambre, N.J. 8:2:156-170 Ag'69

HEALTH CARE

see MEDICAL CARE

HIND SWARAJ

The political theory of Gandhi's Hind Swaraj. Parel, A. 7:3:279-301 D'69

HINDI LANGUAGE

- Problems of Hindi terminology. Sharma, P.G. 6:3:383-394 D'68
- HISTORIA DE LAS ISLAS E INDIOS DE BISAYAS
 - Parte natural of Alzina's manuscript of 1668. Rixhon, G. 6:2:183-197 Ag'68

HISTORIOGRAPHY

Theoretical aspects of Southeast Asian history. Alatas, S.H. 2:2:247-260 Ag'64

HONGKONG – SQUATTERS

The problem of in-migration and squatter settlement in Asian cities: two case studies, Manila and Vitoria-Kowloon. Dwyer, D.J. 2:2: 145-169 Ag'64

HOUSES

see DWELLINGS

HUMANITIES

Asia and the humanities. Majul, C.A. 11:3:1-12 D'73

HUNTING

Hunting and fishing among the Southern Kalinga. Lawless, R. 11:3: 83-109 D'73

I

IGLESIA DEL CIUDAD MISTICA DE DIOS

The ritual music of the Iglesia del Ciudad Mistica de Dios. Santos, R.P. 13:2:93-117 Ag'75

IMPERIALISM

Four Japanese: their plans for the expansion of Japan to the Philippines. Saniel, J.M. 1:52-63 '63

- Japan's southern advance: the Indochina phase. Uhalley, S. 5:1:84-102 Ap'66
- INDEPENDENCE DAY (PHILIPPINE ISLANDS)
 - The American debate on Philippine annexation at the turn of the century, 1898-1900. Soberano, R.G. 12:1:39-51 Ap'74
 - The independence mission 1919. Villanueva, H.A. 9:3:282-306 D'71
 - The Philippine independence controversy from McKinley to Taft. Soberano, R.G. 11:2:114-122 Ag'73

INDIA

Civilization

- India and the crisis of our time. Romulo, C.P. 2:1:1-7 '63
- Urbanization and peasant culture. Yadava, J.S. 8:3:301-306 D'70

Democracy

see DEMOCRACY

Economic Assistance

see ECONOMIC ASSISTANCE IN INDIA

Economic Conditions

Economic policy and political gains Torri, M. 12:2-3:45-75 Ag-D'74

Economic Policy

A historical summary of Indian village autonomy. Zamora, M.D. 3:2:262-282 Ag'65

Foreign Relations

China

Chinese strategy and intent during the Sino-Indian border dispute. Hetzner, D.R. 5:2:303-315 Ag'67

Germany

Human problems in technical assistance. Sperling, J.B. 5:2:332-344 Ag'67

Indonesia

Indonesia-India relations, 1955-67. Dutt, N.K. 10:2:196-220 Ag'72

Japan

- The Indian National Army. Ghosh, K.K. 7:1:4-30 Ap'69
- Japan and the Indian National Army during World War II. Lebra, J.C. 3:3:551-561 D'65
- Japanese policy and the Indian National Army. Lebra, J.C. 7:1: 31-49 Ap'69

Nepal

Nepalese-British cooperation in World War I. Husain, A. 4:3:479-490 D'66

Philippines

A survey of Philippine-India relations in the post-independence period. Rye, A.S. 6:3:271-285 D'68

Russia

The Indian revolutionaries and the Bolsheviks. Bose, A.C. 8:3:336-351 D'70

Sikkim

India's economic and political relations with Sikkim. Belfiglio, V.J. 10:1:131-144 Ap'72

Western Countries

Pakistan, India and the west. Chaudhri, M.A. 3:3:517-537 D'65

History

- Horace Hayman Wilson and gamesmanship in Indology. Sirkin, N.P. 3:2:301-323 Ag'65
- The origin and nature of Indian militant nationalism. Bose, A.C. 3:2:293-300 Ag'65
- Political nationalism in British India. Marican, Y.M. 9:3:365-381 D'71

Vedic Age, 1962

A historical summary of Indian village autonomy. Zamora, M. D. 3:2:262-282 Ag'65

Industries

North Indian intellectuals. Malik, Y.K. 13:2:55-78 Ag'75

International Status

The concept of sovereignty in premodern Asia. Ledesma, L.S. 9:2: 89-106 Ag'71

Languages

An account of ancient Indian grammatical studies down to Patanjali's Mahabhasya. Orara, E. 5:2:369-376 Ag'67

Dictionaries

Problems of Hindi terminology. Sharma, P.G. 6:3:383-394 D'68

Modernization

North Indian intellectuals. Malik, Y.K. 13:2:55-78 Ag'75

Public perception of bureaucratic performance in Uttar Pradesh (India) and its impact on social change and modernization. Vajpeyi, D.K. 10:3:361-377 D'72

Nationalism

see NATIONALISM, INDIC

Philosophy

see PHILOSOPHY, INDIC

Poetry

see POETRY, INDIC

Politics and Government

- Democracy in India. Ray, S.N. 2:1: 23-28 Ap'64
- The Gandhi centenary. Lewis, M.D. 7:3:389-400 D'69
- The genesis of the DMK. Marican, Y.M. 9:3:340-364 D'71
- Kautilya and the Legalist concept of state and government. Banico, H. 9:2:107-113 Ag'71
- Nepal and the Indian Nationalist Movement. Mojumdar, K. 10:1: 145-152 Ap'72
- see also POLITICAL PARTIES

History

Economic policy and political gains. Torri, M. 12:2-3:45-75 Ag-D'74

Religion

Horace Hayman Wilson and gamesmanship in Indology. Sirkin, N.P. R. 3:2:301-323 Ag'65

Yajīna in the Bhagavadgita. Jordens, J.T.F. 3:2:283-292 Ag'65

Socialism

see SOCIALISM IN INDIA

Urbanization

see URBANIZATION

INDIAN

Culture

see INDIA - CIVILIZATION

Language – Grammar,

Comparative

An account of ancient Indian grammatical studies down to Patanjali's Mahabhasya. Orara, E. 5:2:369-367 Ag'67

National Army

- The Indian National Army motives, problems and significance. Ghosh, K.K. 7:1:4-30 Ap'69
- Japan and the Indian National Army during World War II. Lebra, J.C. 3:3:551-561 D'65
- Japanese policy and the Indian National Army. Lebra, J. 7:1:31-49 Ap'69

Nationalist Movement

Nepal and the Indian Nationalist Movement. Mojumdar, K. 10:1: 145-152 Ap'72

Осеая

Southeast Asia and the scramble of the major powers for influence in the Indian Ocean. Littaua, F.Z. 8:3:374-377 D'70

INDIANS IN THE PHILIPPINES

- Reflexions on the migration theory vis-a-vis the coming of Indian influences in the Philippines. Francisco, J.R. 9:3:307-314 D'71
- INDOCHINA FOREIGN RELATIONS – JAPAN
 - Japan's southern advance. Uhalley, S. 5:1:84-102 Ap'66

INDONESIA

Batavia

The colonial origins of nascent metropolitan primacy and urban systems in Southeast Asia. Reed, R.R. 5:3:543-562 D'67

Cities and Towns

The colonial origins of nascent metropolitan. . . Reed, R.R. 5:3:543-562 D'67

Civil-Military Relationship

Indonesia's contemporary political problems. Noer, D. 8:3:366-373 D'70

Emigration and Immigration

Chinese communities in Eastern Java. Baks, C. 8:2:248-259 Ag'70

Foreign Relations

The historical roots of Indonesian irredentism. Kwa Chong Guan. 8:1:38-52 Ap'70

India

Indonesia-India relations, 1955-67. Dutt, N.K. 10:2:196-220 Ag'72

Japan

The attitude of Indonesia towards the Japanese Peace Treaty. Kesavan, K.V. 10:3:407-415 D'72

Philippines

Theories of external-internal political relationships. Meadows, M. 6:3: 297-324 D'68

History

- The historical roots of Indonesian irredentism. Kwa Chong Guan. 8:1:38-52 Ap'70
- The revolt of a PETA-batallion in Blitar, February 14, 1945. Notosusanto, N. 7:1:111-123 Ap'69

Political Parties

see POLITICAL PARTIES

Politics and Government

- Indonesia's contemporary political problems. Noer, D. 8:3:366-373 D'70
- The political style and the democratic process in Indonesia and the Philippines. Choi, Y.H. 9:2:214-228 Ag'71

History

The destruction of the Indonesian political party system – the PNI during the early years of Guided Democracy. Rocamora, J.E. 11:1: 37-74 Ap'73

Religion

Indonesia's contemporary political problems. Noer, D. 8:3:366-373 D'70

INDONESIAN FICTION

Sair nona fientje de feniks; an example of popular Indonesian fiction in the first quarter of the century. Watson, C.W. 12:1:119-136 Ap'74

INDONESIAN LANGUAGE

Grammar, Comparative – Pronoun

The problem of personal pronouns in Bahasa Indonesia and the presentation of the words: nia, and ia. Surjaman U. 6:1:90-98 Ap'68

INDONESIANS IN MALAYSIA

The pattern of Indonesia migration and settlement in Malaysia. Bahrin, T.S. 5:2:233-257 Ag'67

INDUSTRIALIZATION

- Aesthetic values in contemporary Japan: the effects of industrialization and a consumer economy on Japanese aesthetic values. Olsen, E.A. 10:2:272-277 Ag'72
- North Indian intellectuals. Malik, Y.K. 13:2:55-78 Ag'75
- Urbanization and political opposition: the Philippines and Japan. Ike, N. 7:2:134-141 Ag'69

INSURGENCY

Can a single spark ignite a paddyfield? The case of Thai insurgency. Esposito, B.J. 8:3:318-325 D'70

INTELLECTUAL COOPERATION

- Document of understanding between the National Museum's Division of Anthropology and the University of the Philippines' Department of Anthropology. 3:1:158-160 Ap'65
- The U.P. National Museum Memorandum of Agreement. Zamora, M.D. 3:1:155-157 Ap'65

INTELLECTUALS

North Indian intellectuals. Malik, Y.K. 13:2:55-78 Ag'75

INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATION

- Trends in regional association in South East Asia. Leifer, M. 2:2: 188-198 Ag'64
- see also REGIONALISM (INTER-NATIONAL ORGANIZATION)

INTERNATIONAL RELATIONS

The erosion of the bi-polar power structure in the 1960's: its impact upon East Asian international politics. Saniel, J.M. 11:2:6-40 Ag'73

INVESTMENT, AMERICAN – PHILIP-PINES

The American minority in the Philippines during the prewar Commonwealth period. Wheeler, G.E. 4:2: 362-373 Ag'66

IQBAL, MUHAMMAD

- Islamic allusions in the poetry of Iqbal. Clavel, L.S. 8:3:378-385 D'70
- **IRIAN POPULATION STATISTICS**
 - West Irian. Oosterwal, G. 4:2:291-302 Ag'66

IRRIGATION

Government and irrigation in Burma. Stargardt, J. 6:3:358-371 D'68

ISLAM

- The "Christian problem" and the Philippine South. Santos, J. de los. 13:2:27-43 Ag'75
- Japanese military administration in Malaya – its formation and evolution in reference to the sultans, the Islamic religion, and Moslem-Malays, 1941-1945. Akashi, Y. 7:1: 81-110 Ap'69
- Pakistan as an Islamic state. Vega, G.C. de. 6:3:263-270 D'68
- The role of Islam in the history of the Filipino people. Majul, C.A. 4:2:303-315 Ag'66

Missions

Asia and the humanities. Majul, C.A. 11:3:1-12 D'73

In Literature

Islamic allusions in the poetry of Iqbal, Clavel, L.S. 8:3:378-385 D'70

106
In Pakistan

Pakistan as an Islamic state. Vega, G.C. de. 6:3:263-270 D'68

ISNEG

- Manolay cult: the genesis and dissolution of Millenarian sentiments among the Isneg of Northern Luzon. Smart, J. 8:1:53-93 Ap'70
- ITBAYATEN LANGUAGE GRAM-MAR, COMPARATIVE – NUME-RALS
 - Speech diguise in Itbayaten numerals. Yamada, Y. 10:1:44-49 Ap'72
 - see also PHILIPPINE LANGUAGE

IVATAN LANGUAGE

Cohesion in Ivatan. Hooker, B. 10: 1:33-43 Ap'72

see also PHILIPPINE LANGUAGE

J

JAMA MAPUN

Ecology

see ECOLOGY

Folk Dance Music

see FOLK DANCE MUSIC, PHIL-IPPINE – SULU

JAPAN

Discovery of Japan by a New Englander. Kanai, M. 2:3:372-383 D'64

Civilization

Religious and cultural ethos of modern Japan. Kitagawa, J.M. 2:3:334-352 D'64

Economic Conditions

United States policy on Japanese war reparations. Ohno, T. 13:3: 2345 D'75

Economic Policy

Japanese colonialism and Korean economic development 1910-1945. King, B.L. 13:3:1-21 D'75

Elections

see ELECTIONS - JAPAN

Foreign Relations

India

- The Indian National Army. Ghosh, K.K. 7:1:4-30 Ap'69
- Japan and the Indian National Army during World War II. Lebra, J.C. 3:3:551-561 D'65
- Japanese policy and the Indian National Army. Lebra, J.C. 7:1: 31-49 Ap'69

Indo China

Japan's southern advance: the Indochina phase. Uhalley, S. 5:1:84-102 Ap'66

Indonesia

The attitude of Indonesia towards the Japanese Peace Treaty. Kesavan, K.V. 10:3:407-415 D'72

Korea

Some proposed solutions and/or alternatives to the problems of Korean unification. Brinkle, L. 9:1:64-75 Ap'71

Philippines

Four Japanese; their plans for the expansion of Japan to the Philippines. Saniel, J.M. 1:52-63 '63

Russia

- Financial diplomacy: the Takahashi Korekiyo missions of 1904-1905. Best, G.D. 12:1:52-76 Ap'74
- Korea, focus of Russo-Japanese diplomacy. Nish, I.H. 4:1:70-83 Ap'66

Southeast Asia

- Great power influence among Southeast Asian states. Howell, L.D. 9:3:243-273 D'71
- Japan and postwar Southeast Asia. Fifield, R. 3:2:370-376 Ag'65

Treaties

An analysis of the june 17, 1971 agreement between Japan and the

United States. Belfiglio, V.J. 10:2: 221-231 Ag'72

The attitude of Indonesia towards the Japanese Peace Treaty. Kesavan, K.V. 10:3:407-415 D'72

U.S.

- An analysis of the June 17, 1971 agreement between Japan and the United States. Belfiglio, V.J. 10:2: 221-231 Ag'72
- Discovery of Japan by a New Englander. Kanai, M. 2:3:372-383 D'64
- The end of the post-war period in United States-Japanese relations. Olsen, E.A. 12:2-3:76-85 Ag-D'74

History

Religious and cultural ethos of modern Japan. Kitagawa, J.M. 2:3:334-352 D'64

American Participation

United States policy on Japanese war reparations, 1945-1951. Ohno, T. 13:3:23-45 D'75

1849-1854

The opening of Japan, 1849-1854: American "finds the key" Onorato, M.P. 6:3:286-296 D'68

1945-

The lost lessons of Hiroshima and Nagasaki. Takahashi, K. 13:3:63-90 D'75

Industrialization

see INDUSTRIALIZATION

Industries

Aesthetic values in contemporary Japan. Olsen, E.A. 10:2:272-277 Ag'72

Urbanization and political opposition: the Philippines and Japan. Ike, N. 7:2:134-141 Ag'69

see also INDUSTRIALIZATION

Modernization

- Factors explaining the disparate pace of modernization in China and Japan. Cole, A.B. 4:1:1-15 Ap'66
- Political culture as a factor of political decay in China and Japan. Choi, Y.H. 10:3:416-428 D'72
- Samurai conversion; the case of Kumamoto. Moore, G.E. 4:1:40-48 Ap'66

Politics and Government

- Political culture as a factor of political decay in China and Japan. Choi, Y.H. 10:3:416-428 D'72
- Urbanization and political opposition. Ike, N. 7:2:134-141 Ag'69

Religion

- Meiji Buddhism. Kiyota, M. 4:1: 49-58 Ap'66
- Religious and cultural ethos of modern Japan. Kitagawa, J.M. 2:3:334-

352 D'64

- JAPAN-ROK TREATY OF BASIC RELATIONS
 - Some proposed solutions and/or alternatives to the problems of Korean unification. Brinkle, L. 9:1:64-75 Ap'71

JAPANESE

Conversion to Christianity

Samurai conversion. Moore, G.E. 4:1: 40-48 Ap'66

see also CHRISTIAN LIFE

Culture

see JAPAN - CIVILIZATION

Drama

Chikamatzu Monzaemon: a study in Japanese tragedy. Zaraspe, R.S. 8:3:352-365 D'70

History and Criticism

The intellectual's play: a brief discourse on the Noh. Bonifacio, A.L. 11:2:84-96 Ag'73

Fiction

- The bonfire (Takibi). Doppo, K. 6:1:102-107 Ap'68
- One who preferred nettles (a note on Tanizaki as novelist). Epistola, S.V. 11:1:1-27 Ap'73

A translation of "Hokan" by Junichiro Tanizaki. Alegre, E.N. 4:1:59-69 Ap'66

In Burma

The uses of Buddhism in wartime Burma. Guyot, D. 7:1:50-80 Ap'69

In Davao

The Japanese minority in the Philippines before Pearl Harbor, social organization in Davao. Saniel, J.M. 4:1:103-126 Ap'66

In Indonesia

The revolt of a PETA-battalion in Blitar, February 14, 1945. Notosusanto, N. 7:1:111-123 Ap'69

In Korea

- Japanese colonialism and Korean economic development 1910-1945. King, B.L. 13:3:1-21 D'75
- Korea, focus of Russo-Japanese diplomacy, 1898-1903. Nish, I.H. 4:1:70-83 Ap'66

In Malaya

Japanese military administration in Malaya. Akashi, Y. 7:1:81-110 Ap'69

In The Philippines

- Four Japanese. Saniel, J.M. 1:52-63 '63
- Japanese cultural propaganda in the Philippines. Javier, M. C. 13:3:

47-62 D'75

The Japanese minority in the Philippines before Pearl Harbor. Saniel, J.M. 4:1:103-126 Ap'66

Language

What is at the bottom of the Japanese language? Zierer, E. 3:3: 562-570 D'65

Literature

History and Criticism

The seasons and Japanese literature. Alegre, E.N. 4:3:452-463 D'66

Peace Treaty

The attitude of Indonesia towards the Japanese Peace Treaty. Kesavan, K.V. 10:3:407-415 D'72

Poetry

The haiku as poetic form. Epistola, S.V. 1:41-51 '63

JAVA

Civilization

Relationships of musical and cultural contrasts in Java and Bali. Lieberman, F. 5:2:274-281 Ag'67

History – Sources

Nineteenth century Java. Van Niel. R. 4:2:201-212 Ag'66

JONES LAW, 1916

The independence mission 1919. Villanueva, H.A. 9:3:282-306 D'71

JUGO, SUGIURA

Four Japanese. Saniel, J.M. 1:52-63 '63

JUN'ICHIRO, TANIZAKI

One who preferred nettles (a note on Tanizaki as novelist). Epistola, S.V. 11:1:1-27 Ap'73

K

KALINGA

see also MINORITIES - RESEARCH

Language

Natural clusters in Kalinga disease terms. Gieser, R. and J.E. Grimes. 10:1:24-32 Ap'72

see also PHILIPPINE LANGUAGE

Social Classes

see SOCIAL CLASSES

KANKANAI VILLAGE – HOUSES

see MT. PROVINCE – HISTORIC HOUSES, ETC.

KANKANAY LANGUAGE – GRAM-MAR, COMPARATIVE. –

CLAUSES

Underlying case in Northern Kankanay. Draper, M. 10:1:18-23 Ap'72

see also PHILIPPINE LANGUAGE

KAUTILYA

- Kautilya and the Legalist concept of state and government. Banico. H. 9:2:107-113 Ag'71
- KHMER (REPUBLIC) FOREIGN RELATIONS – GT. BRIT.
 - British policy towards Siam, Cambodia, and Vietnam, 1842-1858. Tarling N. 4:2:240-258 Ag'66

KINSHIP

Kinship and socialization in a suburban community. Israel, C.C. 7:2:270-275 Ag'69

KOJIKI

The haiku as poetic form. Epistola, S.V. 1:41-51 '63

KONFRONTASI

 see MALAYSIA – POLITICS AND GOVERNMENT

KOREA

Economic Conditions – 1918-1945

Japanese colonialism and Korean

ASIAN STUDIES

economic development 1910-1945. King, B.L. 13:3:1-21D'75

Foreign Relations

Some proposed solutions and/or alternatives to the problems of Korean unification. Brinkle, L. 9:1:64-75 Ap'71

Politics and Government

The military and nation-building in Korea, Burma and Pakistan. Chang, D.W. 8:1:1-24 Ap'70

Social Classes

see SOCIAL CLASSES

Social History

- The Paekchong: "untouchables" of Korea. Rhim, S.M. 12:1:137-158 Ap'74
- KOREA-JAPAN TREATY OF BASIC RELATIONS
 - see JAPAN-ROK TREATY OF BASIC RELATIONS
- KOREAN REUNIFICATION QUES-TION
 - Some proposed solutions and/or alternatives to the problems of Korean unification. Brinkle, L. 9:1:64-75 Ap'75

KOREKIYO, TAKAHASHI

Financial diplomacy. Best, G.D. 12:1: 52-76 Ap'74 KUO SUNG-T'AO

The record of an envoy's voyage to the west. Frodsham, J.D. 5:3: 409-436 D'67

L

LABOR SUPPLY

The labour force of Sarawak in 1960. Saw, S.H. and S.H. Cheng. 8:1:135-142 Ap'70

LAND REFORM

Agrarian reform communication. Clavel, L.S. 10:3:390-406 D'72

LANGUAGE AND LANGUAGES

Some problems in Philippine linguistics. Constantino, E. 1:23-30 '63

Political Aspects

A modernization-standardization plan for the Austronesian-derived national languages of Southeast Asia. Rosario, G. del. 6:1:1-18 Ap'68

Sentences

see GRAMMAR, COMPARATIVE AND GENERAL – SENTENCES

Social Aspects

Language in its social context. Wittermans, T. and E. Wittermans. 6:1:26-36 Ap'68

Study and Teaching

Language learning as part of field work technique. Jocano, F.L. 8:2:203 -217 Ag'70

LANGUAGES, MODERN

- The tasks of modern linguistics in modern societies. Heidt, K.M. 6:1: 53-65 Ap'68
- LAOS COOPERATIVE SOCIETIES

see COOPERATIVE SOCIETIES

- LATIN AMERICA FOREIGN RE-LATIONS – CHINA
 - The Chinese People's Republic and the Latin American left. Knauth, L.G. 4:3:506-531 D'66

LAUREL, JOSE P. - PHILOSOPHY

Pro deo et patria: the political philosophy of Jose P. Laurel. Agpalo, R.E. 3:2:163-192 Ag'65

LEBANESE STUDENTS

see STUDENTS

LEBANON

Religious Life and Customs

Systems of social stratification in three North Lebanese towns. Weightman, G.H. 4:3:491-499 D'66

see also RELIGION AND SOCIO-LOGY

Social Classes

see SOCIAL CLASSES

LIBRARIES, DEPOSITORY

The golden store of history. Myrick, C. 4:2:213-225 Ag'66

LINGUISTICS

Response. Lopez, C. 1 £-9'63

see also LANGUAGES, MODERN

LOCAL GOVERNMENT

India – History

A historical summary of Indian village autonomy. Zamora, M.D. 3:2:262-282 Ag'65

Philippines – History

Political history, autonomy and change: the case of the barrio charter. Zamora, M.D. 5:1:79-100 Ap'67

LOPEZ, CECILIO

- Cecilio Lopez: curriculum vitae. 1: 107-111 '63
- The farewell to a scholar. Romulo, C.P. 1:1-5 '63

LYRIC POETRY

Two poems in Carlos A. Angeles: an experiment toward a poetics of the lyric poem. Abad, G.H. 10:3:344-360 D'72

M

- MABINI, APOLINARIO PHILO-SOPHY
 - The relevance of Mabini's social ideas to our times. Majul, C.A. 11:1:28-36 Ap'73

MAGSAYSAY, RAMON

Charismatic authority and Philippine political behavior: the election of 1953. Marquette, J.F. 10:1:50-63 Ap'72

MAHABHASYA

An account of ancient Indian grammatical studies down to Patanjali's Mahabhasya. Orara, E. de Guzman. 5:2:369-376 Ag'67

MAHARADIA LAWANA

Maharadia Lawana. Francisco, J.R. 7:2:186-249 Ag'69

ΜΑΚΟΤΟ, FUKUMOTO

Four Japanese. Saniel, J.M. 1:52-63 '63

MALAY

Languages

Interplay of structural and sociocultural factors in the development of the Malay languages. Omar, C.B.H. 6:1:19-25 Ap'68

> Literature – History and Criticism

The study of traditional Malay literatures. Hussein, I. 6:1:66-89

Ap'68

MALAY-POLYNESIAN LANGUAGE

A modernization-standardization plan for the Austronesian-derived national languages of Southeast Asia. Rosario. G. del. 6:1:1-18 Ap'68

MALAYA

Civilization – German Influences

- How Germany made Malaya British. Tregonning, K.G. 2:2:180-187 Ag'64
 - History Japanese Occupation, 1941-1945
- Japanese military administration in Malaya. Akashi, Y. 7:1:81-110 Ap'69

MALAYSIA

Description and Travel

Images of nature in Swettenham's early writings. Aiken, S.R. 11: 3:135-152 D'73

Ecology

see ECOLOGY

Emigration and Immigration

The pattern of Indonesia migration and settlement in Malaysia. Bahrin, T.S. 5:2:233-257 Ag'67

Penang's Chinese population. Kuchler,

J. 3:3:435-458 D'65

Spatial aspects of Foochow settlement in West Malaysia with special reference to Sitiawan, Perak, since 1902. Khoo, S.H. et. al. 10:1: 77-94 Ap'72

> Foreign Relations – Gt. Brit.

Malaysia: her national unity and Pan-Indonesian movement. Krause, D. 4:2:281-290 Ag'66

History

- Images of nature in Swettenham's early writings. Aiken, S.R. 11:3: 135-152 D'73
- Malaysia. Krause, D. 4:2:281-290 Ag'66

Sources

Sejarah Melayu. Wahid, Z.A.B.A. 4:3: 445-451 D'66

Politics and Government

The rise and demise of konfrontasi. Grossholtz, J. 6:3:325-339 D'68

MANDAYA – CONVERSION TO CHRISTIANITY

Baptism and "Bisayanization" among the Mandaya of Eastern Mindanao, Philippines. Yengoyan, A.A. 4:2:324-327 Ag'66

MANGYAN-HANUNOO POETRY

see PHILIPPINE POETRY

MANGYANS

see MINORITIES-RESEARCH

MANILA-MADRAS TRADE

see PHILIPPINES – FOREIGN RE-LATIONS – GT. BRIT.

MANNERS AND CUSTOMS

The occurrence of a nervous mannerism in two cultures. Sechrest, L. and L. Flores, Jr. 9:1:55-63 Ap'71

MANOLAY CULT

see CULTUS, PHILIPPINE

MARRIAGE (CHINESE LAW)

The theoretical basis of sexual equality and marriage reform in China. Dorros, S.G. 13:2:13-25 Ag'75

MARRIAGE (KOREAN LAW)

Women of North Korea – yesterday and today. Rhim. S.M. 13:1:55-76 Ap'75

MARX, KARL, 1818-1883 – PHILO-SOPHY

Gandhi and Marx: ideas on man and society. Rothermund, I. 73:321-329 D'69

MARXISM IN CHINA

The great proletarian cultural

ASIAN STUDIES

revolution. Etemadi, F.U. 13:2:1-12 Ag'75

The May Fourth Movement and the origins of Chinese Marxism. Teodoro, L.V. 13:1:1-16 Ap'75

MASONRY

Philippine masonry to 1890. Schumacher, J.N. 4:2:328-341 Ag'66

MASS MEDIA

see COMMUNICATION

- MATERNAL AND INFANT WELFARE
 - Maternal and child care among the Tagalogs in Bay, Laguna, Philippines. Jocano, F.L. 8:3:277-300 D'70

MEDICAL CARE

- Cultural idiom and the problem of planned change. Jocano, F.L. 10:2:157-177 Ag'72
- MEDICINE, PHILIPPINE TERMI-NOLOGY
 - Natural clusters in Kalinga disease terms. Giesert, R. and J.E. Grimes. 10:1:24-32 Ap'72

MEGALITHIC CULTURES

Some remarks on "Philippine megaliths". Loofs, H.H.E. 3:3:393-402 D'65

MICRONESIA – POLITICS AND

GOVERNMENT

The political evolution of Micronesia toward self determination. Smith, D.F. 9:1:79-86 Ap'71

MILITARISM

The People's Republic of China as a nuclear power. Liu, L.Y. 10:2:183-195 Ag'72

MINDANAO - HISTORY

Muslim Philippines. Abubakar, A.J. 11:1:112-128 Ap'73

MINDORO - CIVILIZATION -

Culture contact and ethnogenesis in Mindoro up to the end of the Spanish rule. Lopez, V.B. 12:1: 1-38 Ap'74

see also PHILIPPINES – CIVILI-ZATION

MINERAL INDUSTRIES

Rapid social change among Igorot miners. Scott, W.H. 12:2-3:117-128 Ag-D'74

MINORITIES – RESEARCH

- Hunting and fishing among the Southern Kalinga. Lawless, R. 11: 3:83-109 D'73
- Second footnote on the Tasaday. Salazar, Z.A. 11:2:97-113 Ag'73
- Towards integration a review of policies affecting the minority

groups with special reference to the Mangyans (1901-1975). Lopez, V.B. 12:2-3:86-99 Ag-D'74

MISSIONARIES, SIAMESE

The white man's burden. Bradley. W.L. 12:1:180-199 Ap'74

MISSIONS

Chinese

Obstacles to missionary success in nineteenth century China. Charlson, E.C. 4:1:16-28 Ap'66

Siamese

The white man's burden. Bradley, W.L. 12:1:180-199 Ap'74

To Japanese in the Philippines

Japanese cultural propaganda in the Philippines. Javier, M.C. 13:3:47-62 D'75

To Muslims

- A book and a new nation. Melchor, A.A. 11:2:1-5 Ag'73
- The "Christian problem" and the Philippine South. Santos, Joel de Ios. 13:2:27-43 Ag'75
- Unity and disunity in the Muslim struggle. Tan, Samuel. 11:3:110-134 D'73

MODERNIZATION

Factors explaining the disparate pace of modernization in China and

Japan. Cole, A B. 4:1:1-15 Ap'66

- Modernization and the secular state in Southeast Asia. Parpan, A.G. 10:2:245-255 Ag'72
- North Indian intellectuals. Malik, Y.K. 13:2:55-78 Ag'75
- Political culture as a factor of political decay in China and Japan. Choi, Y.H. 10:3:416-428 D'72

MOHAMMEDANISM

see ISLAM

MOHAMMEDANS

see MUSLIMS

MONZAEMON, CHIKAMATSU

Chikamatsu Monzaemon: a study in Japanese tragedy. Zaraspe, R.S. 8:3:352-365 D'70

MT. PROVINCE

Dwellings

see DWELLINGS - PHILIPPINES

Historic House, Etc.

Some notes on house styles in a Kankanai village. Bello, M.C. 3:1: 41-54 Ap'65

MUSIC

Asian

The place of Asian music in Philippine contemporary society. Mace-

ASIAN STUDIES

da, J. 2:1:71-75 Ap'64

Balinese, Javanese

Relationships of musical and cultural contrasts in Java and Bali. Lieberman, F. 5:2:274-281 Ag'67

MUSICAL INSTRUMENTS, BAMBOO

A note on the *pa'gang*, A tagbanuwa bamboo musical instrument. Francisco, J.R. 5:1:33-41 Ap'67

MUSLIMS

- Muslim-American relations in the Philippines, 1899-1920. Gowing, P.G. 6:3:372-383 D'68
- The role of Islam in the history of the Filipino people. Majul, C.A. 4:2:303-315 Ag'66

In The Philippines

- Muslim Philippines. Abubakar, A.J. 11:1:112-128 Ap'73
- Unity and disunity in the Muslim struggle. Tan, S.K. 11:3:110-134 D'73

Sources

- A book and a new nation. Melchor, A.A. 11:2:1-5 Ag'73
- The Muslims in the Philippines: a bibliographic essay. Mahmoud, M.F. 12:2-3:173-197 Ag-D'74

MYTHOLOGY

Asian

The earth-diver myth. Lopez, R. M. 10:3:429-448 D'72

Philippine

- The earth-diver myth. Lopez, R.M. 10:3:429-448 D'72
- Notes on Philippine divinities. Jocano, F.L. 6:2:169-182 Ag'68
- see also FOLK-LORE, PHILIPPINE; GODS

N

- NAMES, GEOGRAPHICAL PHILIP-PINÉS
 - Twenty-three place-name legends from Antique Province, Philippines. Jocano, F.L. 3:1:16-40 Ap'65

NANYO NO DAIHARAN

Jose Rizal and Suehiro Tetcho: Filipino and Japanese political novelists. Saniel, J.M. 2:3:353-371 D'64

NATION-BUILDING

- The military and nation-building in Korea, Burma and Pakistan. Chang, D.W. 8:1:1-24 Ap'70
- National identity and the Philippine university. Majul, C.A. 11:2:41-46 Ag'73
- Nation-building. Ziring, L. 3:2:324-343 Ag'65

118

NATIONALISM

- Asian communist parties and the problem of nationalism. Spitz, A. 5:3:451-457 D'67
- Asian nationalism. Esterline. J.H. 2:1:8-12 Ap'64
- Jose Rizal and Suehiro Tetcho. Saniel, I.M. 2:3:353-371 D'64

Ceylonese

Asian nationalism. Esterline, J.H. 2:1:8-12 Ap'64

Indic

- Asian nationalism. Esterline, J.H. 2:1:8-12 Ap'64
- The early Gandhi on nationalism. Le Maire, H.P. 7:3:302-320 D'69
- The origin and nature of Indian militant nationalism. Bose, A.C. 3:2:293-300 Ag'65
- Political nationalism in British India. Marican, Y.M. 9:3:365-381 D'71

Philippines

- Asian nationalism. Esterline, J.H. 2:1:8-12 Ap'64
- The farewell to a scholar. Romulo, C.P. 1:1-5 '63
- General Artemio Ricarte y Garcia: a Filipino nationalist. Luna, Ma. P.S. 9:2:229-241 Ag'71
- Social background of revolution. Majul, C.A. 9:1:1-23 Ap'71

NE WIN

Burma's military dictatorship. Cady, J.F. 3:3:490-516 D'65

NEHRU, JAWAHARLAL

Nehru's response to socialism (in pre-independence India). Bose, A.C. 9:3:274-281 D'71

NEGRITOS IN THE PHILIPPINES

Report on work among the Negritos of Pampanga. Parker, L. 2:1: 105-130 Ap'64

NEPAL

Foreign Relations – Gt. Brit.

Nepalese-British cooperation in World War I. Husain, A. 4:3:479-490 D'66

Politics and Government

- Nepal and the Indian Nationalist Movement. Majumdar, K. 10:1: 145-152 Ap'72
- NETHERLANDS FOREIGN RELA-TIONS – PHILIPPINES – SOURCES
 - Dutch relations with the Philippines. Roessingh, M.P.H. 5:2:377-407 Ag'67

NO (JAPANESE DRAMA AND THEA-TER)

The intellectual's play: a brief discourse on the Noh. Bonifacio, A.L. 11:2:84-96 Ag'73

NOLI ME TANGERE

Jose Rizal and Suehiro Tetcho. Saniel, J.M. 2:3:353-371 D'64

NONVIOLENCE

see PASSIVE RESISTANCE TO GOVERNMENT

NOVEL

see FICTION; JAPANESE FIC-TION; PHILIPPINE FICTION; etc.

- NORTHERN LUZON LANGUAGES
 - A preliminary glottochronology for Northern Luzon. Fox, R., et. al. 3:1:103-113 Ap'65
 - see also PHILIPPINES LAN-GUAGES

NOVELISTS, INDONESIAN

Sair nona fientje de feniks; an example of popular Indonesian fiction in the first quarter of the century. Watson, C.W. 12:1:119-136 Ap'74

NUCLEAR POWER

see ATOMIC POWER

NYĀYA

Paksilavāmin's introduction to his Nyayabhasyam. Oberhammer, G.R. F. 2:3:302-322 D'64

OKINAWA AGREEMENT (JUNE 17, 1971)

An analysis of the June 17, 1971 agreement between Japan and the United States. Belfiglio, V.J. 10:2:221-231 Ag'72

OKIR

Some implications of the okir motif in Lanao and Sulu art. Baradas, D.B. 6:2:129-168 Ag'68

P

PETA REVOLT, 1945

The revolt of a PETA-battalion in Blitar, February 14, 1945. Notosusanto, N. 7:1:111-123 Ap'69

PADMAPANI

A buddhist image from Karitunan site, Batangas province. Francisco, J.R. 1:13-22 '63

PAEKCHONGS

The Paekchong: "untouchables" of Korea. Rhim, S.M. 12:1:137-158 Ap'74 PA'GANG (MUSICAL INSTRUMENT)

A note on the *pa'gang*, a Tagbanuwa bamboo musical instrument. Franciso, J.R. 5:1:33-41 Ap'67

PAKISTAN

Economic Conditions

Claims and realities in modern Pakistani society. Pfeffer, K.H. 3:3:538-550 D'65

> Foreign Relations – Western Countries

Pakistan, India and the west. Chaudhri, M.A. 3:3:517-537 D'65

Nation-Building

see NATION-BUILDING

Politics and Government

The military and nation-building in Korea, Burma and Pakistan. Chang, D.W. 8:1:1-24 Ap'70

Religion

Pakistan as an Islamic state. Vega, G.C. de. 6:3:263-270 D'68

PAKSILASVAMIN - PHILOSOPHY

Paksilasvāmin's introduction to his Nyayabhasyam. Oberhammer, G.R. F. 2:3:302-322 D'64 PAN-INDONESIAN MOVEMENT

Malaysia: her national unity and the Pan-Indonesian movement. Krause, D. 4:2:281-290 Ag'66

PANCHA SHILA

The erosion of the bi-polar power structure in the 1960's. Saniel, J.M. 11:2:6-40 Ag'73

PANCHAYAT

- A historical summary of Indian village autonomy. Zamora, M.D. 3:2: 262-282 Ag'65
- see also LOCAL GOVERNMENT INDIA

PARSONS, TALCOTT

Parsons' "theory of action" and "structural functional" approach to social science. Dumagat, F.L. 12:2-3:18-44 Ag-D'74

PARTAI NASIONAL INDONESIA

The destruction of the Indonesian political party system — the PNI during the early years of Guided Democracy. Rocamora, J.E. 11:1: 37-74 Ap'73

PASSIVE RESISTANCE TO GOVERN-MENT

Gandhi's relevance to contemporary developments in Asia. Bose, N.K. 7:3:384-388 D'69 PATANJALI. MAHABHASYA

An account of ancient Indian grammatical studies down to Patanjali's Mahabhasya. Orara, E.G. 5:2:369-376 Ag'67

PEACE

- A divisible and graduated peace. Solidum, E.D. and R. Dubsky. 11:3:13-36 D'73
- PEASANT UPRISINGS, SOUTHEAST ASIA
 - see SOUTHEAST ASIA PEASANT UPRISINGS
- PEASANTRY
 - Asia Political Activity
 - Political conflict potential, politicization, and the peasantry in the underdeveloped countries. Hindley, D. 3:3:470-489 D'65

Philippines

- Peasant society and unrest prior to the Huk revolution in the Philippines. Kerkvliet, B.J. 9:2:164-213 Ag'71
- A personal narrative of a Samaran Filipina. Hart, D.V. 3:1:55-70 Ap'65
- see also PHILIPPINES RURAL CONDITIONS

Southeast Asia

Peasant movements in colonial South-

east Asia. Benda, H.J. 3:3:420-434 D'65

PENANG - FOREIGN POPULATION

- Penang's Chinese population. Kuchler, J. 3:3:435-458 D'65
- see also MALAYSIA EMIGRATION AND IMMIGRATION

PEONAGE

- Where the rich are tenants. Magannon, E.T. 12:2-3:100-116 Ag-D'74
- PERAK FOREIGN POPULATION
 - Spatial aspects of Foochow settlement in West Malaysia. Khoo, S.H. et. al. 10:1:77-94 Ap'72
- PERSONALITY AND CULTURE RESEARCH
 - The foundation for culture-and-personality research in the Philippines. Lawless, R. 5:1:101-136 Ap'67

PHILIPPINE

Culture

see PHILIPPINES - CIVILIZATION

Drama – Bibliography

- Philippine "seditious plays". Rodell, P.A. 12:1:88-118 Ap'74
- A preliminary catalogue of Bikol dramas. Realubit, Ma. L. 11:2:155-

161 Ag'73

- A preliminary list of Iloko drama. Tupas, F.M. 12:2-3:163-172 Ag-D'74
- Sugbuanon drama. Ramas, W.Q. 11:3: 153-172 D'73

Ethnology

see ETHNOLOGY - PHILIPPINES

Fiction

The novel in the Philippines. Daroy, P.Bn. 7:2:180-185 Ag'69

Bibliography

An introduction to peninsular prose fiction of the Philippines. Chung, L.H. 8:3:386-393 D'70

Folk Dance Music

see FOLK DANCE MUSIC, PHILIP-PINE

Folk-lore

see FOLK-LORE, PHILIPPINE

Folk-songs

see FOLK-SONGS, PHILIPPINE

Language

---Ad in isinai. Paz, C.J. 3:1:114-125 Ap'65

- Balangao nonverbal clause nuclei. Shetler, Jo. 6:2:208-222 Ag'68
- Cohesion in Ivatan. Hooker, B. 10:1: 33-43 Ap'72
- The comprehensibility of modernized versus traditional Tagalog. Jamias, J.F. et. al. 8:2:187-195 Ag'70
- Footnote to Dr. Francisco's "notes" on Tavera. Salazar, Z.A. 6:3:431-444 D'68
- Further notes on Pardo de Tavera's *'El Sanscrito en la Lengua Tagalog'.* Francisco, J.R. 6:2:223-234 Ag'68
- Gaddang affirmatives and negatives. Troyer, L.O. 6:1:99-101 Ap'68
- Natural clusters in Kalinga disease terms. Gieser, R. and J.E. Grimes. 10:1:24-32 Ap'72
- Pilipino numerals. Surjaman, U. 7:2: 171-179 Ag'69
- Speech disguise in Itbayaten numerals. Yamada, Y. 10:1:4449 Ap'72
- Verbal clauses of Saragani Bilaan. McLachlin, B. and B. Blackburn. 6:1:108-128 Ap'68

Grammar

Underlying cases in Northern Kankanay. Draper, M. 10:1:18-23 Ap'72

Literature

Note sur la litterature Tagale contemporaine. Salazar, Z.A. 11:1:129-150 Ap'73

History and Criticism

The emergence of Filipino literature toward national identity. Hosillos,

ASIAN STUDIES

L.V. 4:3:430-444 D'66

Panitikan. San Juan, E. 43 412-429 D'66

Mythology

see MYTHOLOGY, PHILIPPINE

Newspapers

Guerrilla press of the Philippines, 1941-1945. Lent, J.A. 8:2:260-274 Ag'70

Poetry

The *ambahan:* a Mangyan-Hanunoo poetic form. Postma, A. 3:1:71-85 Ap'65

Press

- Guerrilla press of the Philippines, 1941-1945. Lent, J.A. 8:2:260-274 Ag'70
- PHILIPPINE MEDICAL ASSOCIATION
 - Philippine interest groups. Stauffer, R.B. 3:2:193-220 Ag'65
- PHILIPPINE-VIETNAMESE CONFLICT, 1961-
 - The Philippines and Vietnam. Gates, J.M. 10:1:64-76 Ap'72
- PHILIPPINES

- A buddhist image from Karitunan site, Batangas province. Francisco, J.R. 1:13-22 '63
- The golden image of Agusan. Francisco, J.R. 1:31-39 '63
- Identifying some intrusive archaeological materials found in Philippine protohistoric sites. Evangelista, A.E. 3:1:86-102 Ap'65
- Some remarks on "Philippine megaliths". Loofs, H.H.E. 3:3:393-402 D'65

Chinese Newspapers

see CHINESE NEWSPAPERS IN FOREIGN COUNTRIES

Cities and Towns

The colonial origins of nascent metropolitan primacy and urban systems in Southeast Asia. Reed, R.R. 5:3: 543-562 D'67

Civilization

- Culture contact and ethnogenesis in Mindoro up to the end of the Spanish rule. Lopez, V.B. 12:1: 1-38 Ap'74
- Language learning as part of fieldwork technique. Jocano, F.L. 8:2: 203-217 Ag'70
- Second footnote on the Tasaday. Salazar, Z.A. 11:2:97-113 Ag'73

American Influences

Social background of revolution. Majul,

Antiquities

C.A. 9:1:1-23 Ap'71

Hindu Influences

Reflections on the migration theory vis-a-vis the coming of Indian influences in the Philippines. Francisco, J.R. 9:3:307-314 D'71

Japanese Influences

Japanese cultural propaganda in the Philippines. Javier, M.C. 13:3:47-62 D'75

Latin Influences

Latin qualities in Brazil and the Philippines. Maceda, J. 2:2:223-230 Ag'64

Spanish Influences

Social background of revolution, Majul, C.A. 9:1:1-23 Ap'71

Cultural Relations – Asia

Our new Asian academic orientation. Romulo, C.P. 2:3:289-301 D'64

Description and Travel

Juan Pusong: the Filipino trickster revisited. Hart, D.V. and H.E. Hart. 12:2-3:129-162 Ag-D'74

Economic Conditions

A development program in action.

Castillo, G.T. et. al. 2:1:37-66 Ap'64

- Peasant society and unrest prior to the Huk revolution in the Philippines. Kerkvliet, B.J. 9:2:164-213 Ag'71
- Studies of urban poverty in the Philippines. David, K.C. and O.R. Angangco. 13:1:17-35 Ap75

Education

see EDUCATION - PHILIPPINES

Educational Exchanges

see EDUCATIONAL EXCHANGES

Elections

see ELECTIONS – PHILIPPINES

Elite (Social Sciences)

- On models and reality. Simbulan, D.C. 6:3:421-430 D'68
- The search for community leadership in Morong, Rizal. Angeles, V.S.M. 11:1:165-176 Ap'73

Excavations (Archaelogy)

- A buddhist image from Karitunan site, Batangas province. Francisco, J.R. 1:13-22 '63
- The golden image of Agusan, Francisco, J.R. 1:31-39 '63
- Identifying some instrusive archaeological materials found in Philippine

ASIAN STUDIES

protohistoric sites. Evangelista, A.E. 3:1:86-102 Ap'65

Fishing

see **FISHING**

Food Supply

see FOOD SUPPLY

Foreign Economic Relations China

Social distance in Iloilo City. Omohundro, J.T. 13:1:37-54 Ap'75

Great Britain

The English "country trade" with Manila prior to 1708. Quiason, S.D. 1:64-83 '63

U.S.

The American minority in the Philippines during the prewar Commonwealth period. Wheeler, G.E. 4:2: 362-373 Ag'66

Foregn Relations

Asia

The development of Philippine Asianism. Mahajani, U. 3:2:221-242 Ag'65

Belgium

Belgium and a Philippine Protectorate.

Blumberg, A. 10:3:336-343 D'72

India

A survey of Philippine-India relations in the post-independence period. Rye, A.S. 6:3:271-285 D'68

Indonesia

Theories of external-internal political relationships. Meadows, M. 6:3: 297-324 D'68

Japan

Four Japanese. Saniel, J.M. 1:52-63 '63

Netherlands - Sources

Dutch relations with the Philippines. Roessingh, M.P.H. 5:2:377-407 Ag'67

Russia

Ang pag-aaral hinggil sa Pilipinas sa USSR. Baryshnikova, O. et. al. 11:2:75-83 Ag'73

U.S.

- The American debate on Philippine annexation at the turn of the century, 1898-1900. Soberano, R.G. 12:1:39-51 Ap'74
- Muslim-American relations in the Philippines, 1899-1920. Gowing,

Gangs

see GANGS

History

- A Belgian view of the Philippines: 1899. Blumberg, A. 11:2:123-127 Ag'73
- Belgium and a Philippine protectorate. Blumberg, A. 10:3:336-343 D'72
- The 1898 Republic and statehood. Fernandez, A.M. 4:3:572-596 D'66
- General Artemio Ricarte y Garcia. Luna, Ma. P.S. 9:2:229-241 Ag'71
- Guardia de Honor. Sturtevant, D. R. 4:2:342-352 Ag'66
- The independence mission 1919. Villanueva, H.A. 9:3:282-306 D'71
- Leonard Wood. Onorato, M.P. 4:2: 353-361 Ag'66
- Muhammad Alimuddin I of Sulu. Costa, H. de Ia. 2:2:199-212 Ag'64
- Muslim-American relations in the Philippines, 1899-1920. Gowing, P.G. 6:3:372-383 D'68
- Muslim Philippines. Abubakar, A.J. 11:1:112-128 Ap'73
- Philippine masonry to 1890. Schumacher, J.N. 4:2:328-341 Ag'66
- A proto-political peasant movement in the Spanish Philippines. Sweet, D. 8:1:94-119 Ap'70
- The response to Harrison's administration in the Philippines. Casambre, N.J. 8:2:156-170 Ag'69
- Some reflections about the Cofradia

de San Jose as a Philippine religious uprising. Lee, D.C. 9:2:126-143 Ag'71

Taft's views on "the Philippines for the Filipinos". Alfonso, O.M. 6:3: 237-247 D'68

American Participation

- The American debate on Philippine annexation at the turn of the century, 1898-1900. Soberano, R.G. 12:1:39-51 Ap'74
- Leonard Wood. Onorato, M.P. 4:2: 353-361 Ag'66
- Muslim-American relations in the Philippines, 1899-1920. Gowing, P.G. 6:3:372-383 D'68
- The Philippine controversy from Mc-Kinley to Taft. Soberano, R.G. 11:2:114-122 Ag'73
- The response to Harrison's administration in the Philippines, 1913-1921. Casambre, N.J. 8:2:156-170 Ag'69
- Taft's views on "the Philippines for the Filipinos". Alfonso, O.M. 6:3: 237-247 D'68

Bibliography

- Parte natural of Alzina's manuscript of 1668. Rixhon, G. 6:2:183-197 Ag'68
- Philippine documents in Mexico. Quirino, C. 3:3:585-589 D'65
- Philippine historical documents found in the National archives of Mexico. 3:3:593-619 D'65
- Philippine historical documents in the National archives of Mexico. 4:1:

149-197 Ap'66

Chinese Participation

The Chinese in the Philippine revolution. Ginsberg, P. 8:1:143-159 Ap'70

The Chinese in the Philippines and the Chinese revolution of 1911. Tan, A.S. 8:1:160-183 Ap'70

Insurrection

- The Chinese in the Philippine revolution. Ginsberg, P. 8:1:143-159 Ap'70
- The Philippines and Vietnam. Gates, J.M. 10:1:64-76 Ap'72

Japanese Participation

Japanese cultural propaganda in the Philippines. Javier, M.C. 13:3:47-62 D'75

Research

Trends and directions of research in Philippine history. Owen, N.G. 12:2-3:1-17 Ag-D'74

Revolution

- The Chinese in the Philippines and the Chinese revolution of 1911. Tan, A.S. 8:1:160-183 Ap'70
- The colorum uprisings: 1924-1931. Guerrero, M.C. 5:1:65-78 Ap'67

Social background of revolution. Majul,

C.A. 9:1:1-23 Ap'71

Spanish Participation

A proto-political peasant movement in the Spanish Philippines. Sweet, D. 8:1:94-119 Ap'70

Study and Teaching

Ang pag-aaral hinggil sa Pilipinas sa USSR. Baryshinikova, O. et. al. 11:2:75-83 Ag'73

Industrialization

see INDUSTRIALIZATION

Industries

Urbanization and political opposition. Ike, N. 7:2:134-141 Ag'69

Sugarcane

Hacienda magnitude and Philippine sugar cane production. Schul, N.W. 5:2:258-273 Ag'67

Kinship System

see KINSHIP

Land Reform

see LAND REFORM

Languages

A preliminary glottochronology for Northern Luzon. Fox, R. et. al. 3:1:103-113 Ap'65

Some problems in Philippine linguistics. Constantino, E. 1:23-30 '63

Grammars

Sentence patterns of the ten major Philippine languages. Constantino, E. 2:1:29-34 Ap'64

Study and Teaching

Language learning as part of fieldwork technique. Jocano, F.L. 8:2: 203-217 Ag'70

Manila

The colonial origins of nascent metropolitan primacy and urban systems in Southeast Asia. Reed, R.R. 5:3: 543-562 D'67

Masonry

see MASONRY

Maternal and Infant Welfare

see MATERNAL AND INFANT WEL-FARE

Medical Care

see MEDICAL CARE

Medicine – Terminology

see MEDICINE, PHILIPPINE – TER-MINOLOGY

Musical Instruments

see MUSICAL INSTRUMENTS, PHIL-IPPINE

Names, Geographical

see NAMES, GEOGRAPHICAL – PHILIPPINES

Nationalism

see NATIONALISM, PHILIPPINE

Peasantry

see PEASANTRY - PHILIPPINES

Philosophy

see PHILOSOPHY, PHILIPPINE

Political Parties

see POLITICAL PARTIES

Politics and Government

- Charistmatic authority and Philippine political behavior: the election of 1953. Marquette, J.F. 10:1:50-63 Ap'72
- Leonard Wood: his first year as Governor General, 1921-1922. Onorato, M.P. 4:2:353-361 Ag'66
- Philippine interest groups. Stauffer, R.B. 3:2:193-220 Ag'65
- Platforms of Philippine parties. Soberano, R.G. 13:2:45-54 Ag'75
- The political style and the democratic process in Indonesia and the Philippines. Choi, Y.H. 9:2:214-228 Ag'71
- The so-called two-party system in the Philippines. Locsin, T.M. 2:1:82-86 Ap'64
- see also POLITICAL PARTIES
- Theories of external-internal political relationships. Meadows, M. 6:3: 297-324 D'68
- Urbanization and political opposition. Ike, N. 7:2:134-141 Ag'69

Population

Food and population problems in the Philippines. Tablante, N.B. 4:2: 374-380 Ag'66

Prejudices and Antipathies

see PREJUDICES AND ANTIPA-THIES

Presidents

Manuel L: Quezon and the American presidents. Wheeler, G.E. 2:2:231-246 Ag'64

Pressure Groups

see PRESSURE GROUPS

Religion

- Filipino Catholicism. Jocano, F.L. 5:1:42-64 Ap'67
- General characterization of contemporary religious movements in the Philippines. Covar, P.R. 13:2:79-92 Ag'75
- Philippine shamanism and Southeast Asian parallels. Demetrio, F.R. 11:2:128-154 Ag'73
- Religious problems in the Philippines and the American catholic church 1898-1907. Evangelista, O.L. 6:3: 248-262 D'68

Rural Conditions

- A personal narrative of a Samaran Filipina. Hart, D.V. 3:1:55-70 Ap'65
- see also PEASANTRY PHILIP-PINES

Sex Customs

see SEX CUSTOMS

Social Classes

see SOCIAL CLASSES

Social Conditions

- Cultural idiom and the problem of planned change. Jocano, F.L. 10:2: 157-177 Ag'72
- Footnote to revolution and social change. Macahiya, E.R. 7:2:142-155 Ag'69
- Kinship and socialization in a suburban community. Israel, C.C. 7:2: 270-275 Ag'69
- Peasant society and unrest prior to the Huk revolution in the Philippines. Kerkvliet, B.J. 9:2:164-213 Ag'71
- Preliminary notes on the social structure of the Pala'wan, Palawan Island, Philippines. Kikuchi, Y. 9:3:315-327 D'71
- The principle of contingency in Tagalog society. Kaut, C. 3:1:1-15 Ap'65

Research

- Mirror, mirror on the wall. Castillo, G.T. 9:1:24-36 Ap'71
- Research in a Pampanga village. Santico, R.Q. 7:2:264-269 Ag'69
- Studies of urban poverty in the Philippines. David, K. and O.R. Angangco. 13:1:17-35 Ap'75

Social Life and Customs

The occurrence of a nervous mannerism in two cultures. Sechrest, L. and L. Flores, Jr. 9:1:55-63 Ap'71

Social Movements

see SOCIAL MOVEMENTS

Squatters

The problem of in-migration and squatter settlement in Asian cities. Dwyer, D.J. 2:2:145-169 Ag'64

Urbanization

see URBANIZATION

- PHILIPPINES. COMMISSION OF INDE-PENDENCE, NOVEMBER 7, 1918
 - The independence mission of 1919. Villanueva, H.A. 9:3:282-306 D'71

PHILOSOPHY

Chinese

A new concept of law: a study of Dr. Sun Yat-Sen's political philosophy. Shia-ling Liu. 4:1:29-39 Ap'66

Indic

- The early Gandhi on nationalism. Le Maire, H.P. 7:3:302-320 D'69
- Economic thought of Gandhi. Dabholkar, J. 7:3:330-337 D'69
- Gandhi after independence. Narayan, J. 7:3:353-363 D'69

ASIAN STUDIES

- Gandhi and Marx. Rothermund, I. 7:3:321-329 D'69
- Paksilasvāmin's introduction to Nyayabhasyam. Oberhammer, G.R.F. 2:3:302-322 D'64
- The political philosophy of M. N. Roy. Maron, S. 4:3:464-478 D'66
- The political theory of Gandhi's Hind Swaraj. Parel, A. 7:3:279-301 D'69
- A reintroduction to Gandhian economic thinking. Das, A. 7:3:338-352 D'69
- Tagore and Gandhi. Bose, A.C. 7:3: 375-383 D'69
- Yajña in the Bhagavadgita. Jordens, J.T.F. 3:2:283-292 Ag'65

Philippine

- The relevance of Mabini's social ideas to our times. Majul, C.A. 11:1:28-36 Ap'73
- Two intellectual traditions. Yabes, L.Y. 1:84-104 '63

PHILOSOPHY AND RELIGION

- Two intellectual traditions. Yabes, L.Y. 1:84-104 '63
- Yajña in the Bhagavadgita. Jordens, J.T.F. 3:2:283-292 Ag'65

POETRY, INDIC

Islamic allusions in the poetry of Iqbal. Clavel, L.S. 8:3:378-385 D'70

POLITICAL PARTIES

The destruction of the Indonesian political party system. Rocamora,

J.E. 11:1:37-74 Ap'73

- The genesis of the DMK. Marican, Y.M. 9:3:340-364 D'71
- The great proletarian cultural revolution. Etemadi, F.U. 13:2:1-12 Ag'75
- Platforms of Philippine parties. Soberano, R.G. 13:2:45-54 Ag'75
- The so-called two-party system in the Philippines. Locsin, T.M. 2:1:82-86 Ap'64

PONGYIS

The uses of Buddhism in wartime Burma. Guyot, D. 7:1:50-80 Ap'69

POVERTY – RESEARCH

Studies of urban poverty in the Philippines. David, K.C. and O.R. Angangco. 13:1:17-35 Ap'75

POWER (SOCIAL SCIENCES)

- Korea, focus of Russo-Japanese diplomacy, 1898-1903. Nish, I.H. 4:1: 70-83 Ap'66
- The People's Republic of China as a nuclear power. Liu, L. Y. 10:2: 183-195 Ag'72
- Southeast Asia and the scramble of the major powers for influence in the Indian Ocean. Littaua, F.Z. 8:3:374-377 D'70

PREJUDICES AND ANTIPATHIES

- Anti-Sinicism in the Philippines. Weightman, G.H. 5:1:220-231 Ap'67
- The Chinese in Southeast Asia. Howell, L.D. 11:3:37-53 D'73

- Social distance in Iloilo City. Omohundro, J.T. 13:1:37-54 Ap 75
- A study of prejudice in a personalistic society. Weightman, G.H. 2:1:87-101 Ap'64
- A survey of studies on anti-Sinoism in the Philippines. Tan, A.L. 6:2: 198-207 Ag'68

PRESIDENTS - U.S.

Manuel L. Quezon and the American presidents. Wheeler, G.E. 2:2:231-246 Ag'64

PRESS, PHILIPPINE

see PHILIPPINE PRESS

PRESSURE GROUPS

Philippine interest groups. Stauffer, R.B. 3:2:193-220 Ag'65

Q

QUEZON, MANUEL L.

Manuel L. Quezon and the American presidents. Wheeler, G.E. 2:2:231-246 Ag'64

R

RADIO – HISTORY

Philippine radio. Lent, J.A. 6:1:37-52 Ap'68

REGIONAL COOPERATION

- Asian unity and disunity. Shen-Yu Dai. 4:1:135-148 Ap'66
- Regional economic cooperation and integration movements and the Asian Development Bank. Banik, S. 6:3:395-420 D'68
- REGIONALISM (INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATION)
 - Trends in regional association in South East Asia. Leifer, M. 2:2:188-198 Ag'64
 - see also INTERNATIONAL ORGANI-ZATION

RELIGION, PRIMITIVE

- Anitism. Hislop, S.K. 9:2:144-156 Ag'71
- Filipino Catholicism. Jocano, F.L. 5: 1:42-64 Ap'67

RELIGION AND SOCIOLOGY

Systems of social stratification in three North Lebanese towns. Weightman, G.H. 4:3:491-499 D'66

RELIGION AND STATE

Buddhism and state in Ceylon before the advent of the Portuguese. Phadnis, U. 8:1:120-134 Ap'70

RELIGIONS

General characterization of contemporary religious movements in the Philippines. Covar, P.R. 13:2:79-92 Ag'75 **RELIGIOUS BELIEFS**

see FAITH

RELIGIOUS UPRISINGS

The colorum uprisings: 1924-1931. Guerrero, M.C. 5:1:65-78 Ap'67

RESEARCH

The farewell to a scholar. Romulo, C.P. 1:1-15 '63

Philippines

The foundation for culture-and-personality research in the Philippines. Lawless, R. 5:1:101-136 Ap'67

REVOLUTIONISTS, INDIAN

The Indian revolutionaries and the Bolsheviks. Bose, A.C. 8:3:336-351 D'70

RICARTE, ARTEMIO GARCIA

General Artemio Ricarte y Garcia. Luna, M.P.S. 9:2:229-241 Ag'71

RIZAL, JOSE

Jose Rizal and Suehiro Tetcho. Saniel, J.M. 2:3:353-371 D'64

ROY, M.N. – PHILOSOPHY

The political philosophy of M.N. Roy. Maron, S. 4:3:464-478 D'66

RUSSIA

Economic Assistance

see ECONOMIC ASSISTANCE, RUS-SIAN

Foreign Relations

India

The Indian revolutionaries and the Bolsheviks. Bose, A.C. 8:3:336-351 D'70

Japan

- Financial diplomacy. Best, G.D. 12:1: 52-76 Ap'74
- Korea, focus of Russo-Japanese diplomacy, 1898-1903. Nish, I.H. 4:1: 70-83 Ap'66

Philippines

- Ang pag-aaral hinggil sa Pilipinas sa USSR. Baryshnikova, O. et. al. 11:2:75-83 Ag'73
 - History Revolution Campaigns and Battles
- Soviet and Chinese revolutionary strategy. Hamburg, R. 6:3:340-357 D'68

RUSSIANS IN KOREA

Korea, focus of Russo-Japanese diplomacy, 1898-1903. Nish, I.H. 4:1: 70-83 Ap'66

S

SACRIFICE

- Yajna in the Bhagavadgita. Jordens, J.T.F. 3:2:283-292 Ag'65
- SAMURAI CONVERSIONS TO CHRISTIANITY
 - see JAPANESE CONVERSION TO CHRISTIANITY

SANGHA

- The uses of Buddhism in wartime Burma. Guyot, D. 7:1:50-80 Ap'69
- SARAGANI BILAAN LANGUAGE --GRAMMAR, COMPARATIVE --CLAUSES
 - Verbal clauses of Saragani Bilaan. McLachlin, B. and B. Blackburn. 6:1:108-128 Ap'68

SARAWAK – LABOR FORCE

see LABOR SUPPLY

SECRET SOCIETIES - LEGISLATION

- Government legislation for Chinese secret societies in the Straits Settlements in the late 19th century. Cheng Siok-Hwa. 10:2:262-271 Ag'72
- SEJARAH MELAYU HISTORY AND CRITICISM
 - Sejarah Melayu. Wahid, Z.A.B.A. 4:3: 445-451 D'66

SEX CUSTOMS

Gapang. Israel, C.C. 9:2:157-163 Ag'71

SHAMANISM IN SOUTHEAST ASIA

Philippine shamanism and Southeast Asian parallels. Demetrio, F.R. 11:2:128-154 Ag'73

SHINTO

Religious and cultural ethos of modern Japan. Kitagawa, J.M. 2:3:334-352 D'64

SIAM

Foreign Relations

The white man's burden. Bradley, W.L. 12:1:180-199 Ap'74

Great Britain

- British policy towards Siam, Cambodia, and Vietnam, 1842-1858. Tarling, N. 4:2:240-258 Ag'66
- SIKKIM FOREIGN RELATIONS INDIA
 - India's economic and political relations with Sikkim. Belfiglio, V.J. 10:1:131-144 Ap'72

SILVER QUESTION

Silver dollars in Southeast Asia. Chiang, H.D. 3:3:459-469 D'65

SINGAPORE

History

Chinese leadership in early British Singapore. Williams, L.E. 2:2:170-179 Ag'64 The founding of Singapore, 1819. Bunag, M.S.C. 4:3:532-548 D'66

Newspapers

The Singapore Herald affair. Tamney, J. 10:2:256-261 Ag'72

> Trade-Unions – Officials and Employees

see TRADE-UNIONS – OFFICIALS AND EMPLOYEES

SINGAPORE HERALD

The Singapore Herald affair. Tamney, J. 10:2:256-261 Ag'72

SINO-INDIAN BORDER DISPUTE, 1957 –

Chinese strategy and intent during the Sino-Indian border dispute. Hetzner, D.R. 5:2:303-315 Ag'67

SINO-JAPANESE WAR

see CHINESE-JAPANESE WAR

SINOLOGY

see CHINESE STUDIES (SINOLOGY)

SIVA-VASNU

A buddhist image from Karitunan site, Batangas province. Francisco, J.R. 1:13-22 '63

SLEEP CRAWLING

see GAPANG

SOCIAL CHANGE

- Footnote to revolution and social change. Macahiya, E.R. 7:2:142-155 Ag'69
- Heaven sees as the people see, heaven hears as the people hear. Scott, W.H. 13:2:119-131 Ag'75
- Mirror, mirror on the wall. Castillo, G.T. 9:1:24-36 Ap'71
- Modernization and the secular state in Southeast Asia. Parpan, A.G. 10:2: 245-255 Ag72
- Public perception of bureaucratic performance in Uttar Pradesh (India) and its impact on social change and modernization. Vajpeyi, D.K. 10:3: 361-377 D'72
- Rapid social change among Igorot miners. Scott, W.H. 12:2-3:117-128 Ag-D'74
- Social change and the political legitimacy in warlord China. Chan, A.B. 11:1:151-164 Ap 73
- The theoretical basis of sexual equality and marriage reform in China. Dorros, S.G. 13:2:13-25 Ag'75

SOCIAL CLASSES

- The Paekchong. Rhim, S.M. 12:1: 137-158 Ap74
- Preliminary notes on the social structure of the Pala'wan, Palawan Island, Philippines. Kikuchi, Y. 9:3: 315-327 D'71
- The principle of contingency in Tagalog society. Kaut, C. 3:1:1-15 Ap'65
- Systems of social stratification in three North Lebanese towns. Weightman, G.H. 4:3:491-499 D'66
- Where the rich are tenants. Magannon, E.T. 12:2-3:100-116 Ag-D'74

SOCIAL GROUPS

Preliminary notes on the social structure... Kikuchi, Y.9:3:315-327 D'71

The principle of contingency in Tagalog society. Kaut, C. 3:1:1-15 Ap'65

SOCIAL MOVEMENTS

The Cursillo movement. Bautista, P. 10:2:232-244 Ag'72

SOCIAL SCIENCE RESEARCH

Area studies. Saniel, J.M. 13:1:77-88 Ap'75

SOCIAL SCIENCE RESEARCH

- A development program in action. Castillo, G.T. et. al. 2:1:37-66 Ap'64
- Parsons' "theory of action" and "structural functional" approach to social science. Dumagat, F.L. 12:2-3:18-44 Ag-D'74

Field Work

- Area studies. Saniel, J.M. 13:1:77-88 Ap'75
- A Filipino in an Indian village. Zamora, M.D. 3:1:145-152 Ap'65
- Kinship and socialization in a suburban community. Israel, C.C. 7:2: 270-275 Ag'69
- Language learning as part of fieldwork technique. Jocano, F.L. 8:2: 203-217 Ag'70
- Research in a cockpit. Tamanio, M.M. 7:2:255-263 Ag'69

Research in a Pampanga village. Santico, R.Q. 7:2:264-269 Ag'69

SOCIAL STRUCTURE

see SOCIAL CLASSES

SOCIALISM

In China

Socialism in Confucianism. Chao, P. 9:3:328-339 D'71

In India

Nehru's response to socialism. Bose, A.C. 9:3:274-281 D'71

> In Vietnam (Democratic Republic)

The North Vietnamese regime. Spitz, A. 8:1:25-37 Ap'70

SOCIALIZATION

Some rural-urban comparisons of political socialization in Taiwan. Wilson, R.W. 10:1:108-130 Ap'72

SOUTHEAST ASIA

Cities and Towns

- City size distribution of Southeast Asia. Sendut, H. 4:2:268-280 Ag'66
- The primate city in Southeast Asia. Reed, R.R. 10:3:283-320 D'72

SOUTHEAST ASIA

Civilization

Buddhism in early Southeast Asia. Lim, A.R. 11:1:75-97 Ap'73

American Influences

Great power influence among Southeast Asian states. Howell, L.D. 9:3: 243-273 D'71

Chinese Influences

Influence de la Chine populaire sur les peuples de l'Asie du Sud-Est. Golfin, R.P. 3:3:571-584 D'65

Japanese Influences

Great power influence among southeast Asian states. Howell, L.S. 9:3: 243-273 D'71

Economic Conditions

The failure of economic development and political democracy in Southeast Asia. Tregonning, K.G. 5:2: 323-331 Ag'67

Foreign Relations

- The institutional growth of the Southeast Asian Treaty Organization. Butwell, R, 3:2:377-390 Ag'65
- Southeast Asia and the scramble of the major powers for influence in the Indian Ocean. Littaua, F.Z. 8:3:374-377 D'70
- Trends in regional association in South East Asia. Leifer, M. 2:2:188-198 Ag'64

Japan

Great power influence among South-

east Asian states. Howell, L.D. 9:3: 243-273 D'71

Japan and postwar Southeast Asia. Fifield, R. 3:2:370-376 Ag'65

U.S.

Great power influence among Southeast Asian states. Howell, L.D. 9:3: 243-273 D'71

History

Theoretical aspects of Southeast Asian history. Alatas, S.H. 2:2:247-260 Ag'64

Bibliography

A bibliography of materials available in the library system of the University of the Philippines on the modern history of Southeast Asia. Collantes, L.Y. and J.A. Larkin. 2:2:261-285 Ag'64

International Organization

see INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZA-TION

Modernization

Modernization and the secular state in Southeast Asia. Parpan, A.G. 10:2: 245-255 Ag'72

Peasant Uprisings

Peasant movements in colonial Southeast Asia. Benda, H.J. 3:3:420-434 D'65 Politics and Government

The failure of economic development and political democracy in Southeast Asia. Tregonning, K.G. 5:2: 323-331 Ag'67

Religion

- Buddhism in early Southeast Asia. Lim, A.R. 11:1:75-97 Ap 73
- Modernization and secular state in Southeast Asia. Parpan, A. G. 10:2:245-255 Ag'72

SOUTHEAST ASIAN TREATY ORGA-NIZATION

The institutional growth of the Southeast Asian Treaty Organization. Butwell, R. 3:2:377-390 Ag'65

SOVEREIGNTY

- The concept of sovereignty in premodern Asia. Ledesma, L.S. 9:2: 89-106 Ag'71
- SPANIARDS IN THE PHILIPPINES
 - Social background of revolution. Majul, C.A. 9:1:1-23 Ap'71

SQUATTERS

The problem of in-migration and squatter settlement in Asian cities. Dwyer, D.J. 2:2:145-169 Ag'64

Research

Studies of urban poverty in the Philippines. David, K.C. and O.R. Angangco. 13:1:17:35 Ap'75 SRI-LANKA – CIVILIZATION

A nativistic reaction to colonialism. Dharmadasa, K.N.O. 12:1:159-179 Ap'74

STATE, THE

Kautilya and the Legalist concept of state and government. Banico, H. 9:2:107-113 Ag'71

STUDENTS – ATTITUDES

- Occupational choices and mobility orientation among Lebanese college students. Weightman, G.H. and S.F. Adham. 5:2:358-368 Ag'67
- A study of prejudice in a personalistic society. Weightman, G.H. 2:1:87-101 Ap'64

STUDENTS, FOREIGN

- Children of the ancient regime in a changing society. Weightman, G.H. 8:3:307-317 D'70
- see also EGYPTIAN STUDENTS IN FOREIGN COUNTRIES

SUGARCANE

see PHILIPPINES -- INDUSTRIES SUGARCANE

SUGBUANON DRAMA

see PHILIPPINE DRAMA

ASIAN STUDIES

SULU

History

Muhammad Alimuddin I of Sulu. Costa, H. de la. 2:2:199-212 Ag'64

Muslim Philippines. Abubakar, A. 11: 1:112-128 Ap'73

see also PHILIPPINES - HISTORY

SUN YAT-SEN - PHILOSOPHY

- A new concept of law. Shia-ling Liu. 4:1:29-39 Ap'66
- SWETTENHAM, SIR FRANK ATHELS-TANE
 - Images of nature in Swettenham's early writings. Aiken, S.R. 11:3: 135-152 D'73

T

TAFT, WILLIAM HOWARD

Taft's views on "the Philippines for the Filipinos". Alfonso, O.M. 6:3: 237-247 D'68

TAGALOG

Language

- The comprehensibility of modernized versus traditional Tagalog. Jamias, J.F. et. al. 8:2:187-195 Ag'70
- Footnote to Dr. Francisco's "notes" on Tavera. Salazar, Z.A. 6:3:431-444 D'68
- Further notes on Pardo de Tavera's *'El Sanscrito en la Lengua Tagalog'.* Francisco, J.R. 6:2:223-234 Ag'68

Filipino numerals. Surjaman, U. 7:2: 171-179 Ag'69

see also PHILIPPINE LANGUAGE

Literature

- Note sur la litterature Tagale contemporaine. Salazar, Z.A. 11:1:129-150 Ap'73
- Panitikan. San Juan, E. 4:3:412-429 D'66

see also PHILIPPINE LITERATURE

- TAGORE, SIR RABINDRANATH, 1861-1941 – PHILOSOPHY
 - Tagore and Gandhi. Bose, A.C. 7:3: 375-383 D'69
- TAIWAN POLITICS AND GOVERN-MENT
 - Some rural-urban comparisons of political socialization in Taiwan. Wilson, R.W. 10:1:108-130 Ap'72

TANIZAKI, JUNICHIRO. HOKAN.

A translation of "Hokan" by Junichiro Tanizaki. Alegre, E.N. 4:1: 59-69 Ap'66

TASADAYS

see MINORITIES - RESEARCH

TAVERA, PARDO DE

Further notes on Pardo de Tavera's 'El Sanscrito en la Lengua Tagalog'. Francisco, J.R. 6:2:223-234 Ag'68

TAYABAS REBELLION OF 1841

A proto-political peasant movement in the Spanish Philippines. Sweet, D. 8:1:94-119 Ap'70

TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE IN INDIA

Human problems in technical assistance. Sperling, J.B. 5:2:332-344 Ag'67

TEIFU, SUGANUMA

Four Japanese. Saniel, J.M. 1:52-63 '63

TETCHO, SUEHIRO

Jose Rizal and Suehiro Tetcho. Saniel, J.M. 2:3:353-371 D'64

THAI PEOPLE'S LIBERATION ARMY

Can a single spark ignite a paddyfield? Esposito, B.J. 8:3:318-325 D'70

THAILAND

Economic Conditions

Development and trade. Chomchai, P. 4:2:259-267 Ag'66

> Foreign Relations --Gt. Brit.

British policy towards Siam, Cambodia, and Vietnam, 1842-1858. Tarling, N. 4:2:240-258 Ag'66

History – Revolution

Can a single spark ignite a paddyfield? Esposito, B.J. 8:3:318-325 D'70

THEATER - JAPAN

The intellectual's play. Bonifacio, A.L. 11:2:84-96 Ag'73

THOUGHT AND THINKING

- Freedom as a factor in individual development. Prasad, K. 2:1:13-22 Ap'64
- Two intellectual traditions. Yabes, L.Y. 1:84-104 '63
- I INGUIAN LANGUAGE GRAMMAR, COMPARATIVE – SENTENCES
- Ad in isinai. Paz, C.J. 3:1:114-125 Ap'65
 - see also PHILIPPINE LANGUAGE

TOSAKU, YOKO

Four Japanese. Saniel, J.M. 1:52-63 '63

TRADE-UNIONS – OFFICIALS AND EMPLOYEES

Ideological and attitudinal differences among Singapore trade union leaders. Heyzer, N. et. al. 10:3:378-389 D'72

U

U NU

Burma's military dictatorship. Cady, J.F. 3:3:490-516 D'65

UNIFICATION OF KOREA, PROPOSED

see KOREAN UNIFICATION QUES-TION

U.S.

Foreign Relations

Japan

- An analysis of the June 17, 1971 agreement between Japan and the United States. Belfiglio, V.J. 10:2: 221-231 Ag'72
- Discovery of Japan by a New Englander. Kanaj, M. 2:3:372-383 D'64
- The end of the post-war period in the United States-Japanese relations. Olsen, E.A. 12:2-3:76-85 Ag-D'74

Korea

Some proposed solutions and/or alternatives to the problems of Korean unification. Brinkle, L. 9:1:64-75 Ap'71

Philippines

- The American debate on Philippine annexation at the turn of the century, 1898-1900. Soberano, R.G. 12:1:39-51 Ap'74
- The American minority in the Philippines during the prewar Commonwealth period. Wheeler, G.E. 4:2: 362-373 Ag'66

Muslim-American relations in the Philippines, 1899-1920. Gowing, P.G. 6:3:372-383 D'68

Southeast Asia

Great power influence among Southeast Asian states. Howell, L.D. 9:3: 243-273 D'71

Treaties

An analysis of the June 17, 1971 agreement between Japan and the United States. Belfiglio, V.J. 10:2: 221-231 Ag'72

History, 1849-1854

The opening of Japan, 1849-1854. Onorato, M.P. 6:3:286-296 D'68

Social Life and Customs

The occurrence of a nervous mannerism in two cultures. Sechrest, L. and L. Flores, Jr. 9:1:55-63 Ap'71

UNITED STATES EXPLORING EXPE-DITIONS – BIBLIOGRAPHY

American logbooks and journals in Salem, Massachusetts on the Philippines, 1796-1894. Medina, I.R. 11:1:177-198 Ap'73

UNIVERSITY OF THE PHILIPPINES – STUDENTS

A study of prejudice in a personalistic society. Weightman, G.H. 2:1:87-

101 Ap'64

URBANIZATION

- The colonial origins of nascent metropolitan primacy and urban systems in Southeast Asia. Reed, R.R. 5:3:543-562 D'67
- The primate city in Southeast Asia. Reed, R.R. 10:3:283-320 D'72
- Urbanization and peasant culture. Yadava, J.S. 8:3:301-306 D'70
- Urbanization and political opposition. Ike, N. 7:2:134-141 Ag'69

Research

- Studies of urban poverty in the Philippines. David, K.C. and O.R. Angangco. 13:1:17-35 Ap'75
- UTTAR PRADESH BUREAUCRACY

see BUREAUCRACY

- UTTAR PRADESH SOCIAL CONDI-TIONS
 - Public perception of bureaucratic performance in Uttar Pradesh (India) and its impact on social change and modernization. Vajpeyi, D.K. 10:3: 361-377 D'72



VATSYAYANA

Paksilasvāmin's introduction to his Nyayabhasyam. Oberhammer,

G.R.F. 2:3:302-322 D'64

- VIETNAM FOREIGN RELATIONS –GT. BRIT.
 - British policy towards Siam, Cambodia, and Vietnam, 1842-1858. Tarling, N. 4:2:240-258 Ag'66

VIETNAMESE-PHILIPPINE CONFLICT

see PHILIPPINE-VIETNAMESE CON-FLICT, 1961

VOYAGES AND TRAVELS – BIBLIO-GRAPHY

American logbooks and journals in Salem, Massachusetts on the Philippines, 1796-1894. Medina, I.R. 11:1:177-198 Ap'73

WAR

Gandhi's relevance to contemporary developments in Asia. Bose, N.K. 7:3:384-388 D'69

WAR, COST OF

The lost lessons of Hiroshima and Nagasaki. Takahashi, K. 13:3:63-90 D'75

WEBB, JOHN

Chinese and the primitive language. Frodsham, J.D. 2:3:389-408 D'64

WILSON, HORACE HAYMAN

Horace Hayman Wilson and gamesmanship in Indology. Sirkin, N.P.R. 3:2:301-323 Ag'65

WISDOM

Two intellectual traditions. Yabes, L.Y. 1:84-104 '63

- WORLD POLITICS
 - The erosion of the bi-polar power structure in the 1960's: its impact upon East Asian international politics. Saniel, J.M. 11:2:6-40 Ag'73

Y

ΥΑͿΝΑ

- WOMAN RIGHTS OF WOMEN
 - The theoretical basis of sexual equality and marriage reform in China. Dorros, S.G. 13:2:13-25 Ag'75

WOMEN

In China

In India

Eternal dryad of the Indian forest. Mangahas, A.F. 9:2:114-125 Ag'71

In Korea

Women of North Korea – yesterday and today. Rhim, S.M. 13:1:55-76 Ap'75

WOOD, LEONARD

Leonard Wood. Onorato, M.P. 4:2: 353-361 Ag'66

Yajīna in the Bhagavadgita. Jorden: J.T.F. 3:2:283-292 Ag'65

144

The theoretical basis of sexual equality and marriage reform in China. Dorros, S.G. 13:2:13-25 Ag'75

BOARD OF EDITORS

RUBEN SANTOS-CUYUGAN, Ph. D. Chairman

JOSE T. ALMONTE Member

CESAR ADIB MAJUL, Ph. D. Member

F. LANDA JOCANO, Ph.D. JOSEFA M. SANIEL, Ph. D. Member

Member

LUIS V. TEODORO, Jr. Secretary

Editorial Office: Publications Office, Philippine Center for Advanced Studies, University of the Philippines System, Guerrero St., Diliman, Quezon City 3004

The Contributors

Frank W. Ikle is a professor in the Department of History, The University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, New Mexico

Robert K. Lin is with the History Department, Culver-Stockton College, Canton, Missouri

Paratha Sarathy Ghosh is a Research Scholar of the Division for American Studies, Asian School of International Studies, Jawaharlal Nehru University, New Delhi, India

Jiu-Hwa Lo Upshur is Assistant Professor in the Department of History of the Eastern Michigan University in Ypsilanti, Michigan

Leo Y. Liu is Associate Professor in the Department of Political Science. Brandon University, Brandon, Manitoba, Canada

Edna Bondoc-Carreon is a staff member of the Publications Office, PCAS. She holds a degree in Bachelor of Science in Education major in Library Science Journals

Otian ST	Idie (PU	BLISHED 3x a year)	Monograph Series (1
(PAPERBOUND. Siz			ISSN: 0079-9238
VOLUME 4. 1966. VOLUME 5. 1967.	Limited stock av April, August & April, August & April, August &	December. December.	No.1 - KANAI, Mad <u>captain</u> Quezon C Size: 8½
VOLUME 7. 1969. VOLUME 8. 1970. VOLUME 9. 1971.	April, August & April, August & April, August & April, August &	December. December. December.	No.2 - JOCANO, F. City, U. Size: 6"
VOLUME 11. 1973. VOLUME 12. 1974. VOLUME 13. 1975.	April, August & April, August & April, August &	December. December. December.	No.3 - LAWLESS, F <u>culture-</u> Asian Ce Size: 8 ¹
(ARTICLE CONTRIBU		D FROM READERS.)	5126: 02
SUBSCRIPTION RATE (PRICES ARE SUBJE		OUT PRIOR NOTICE) Foreign	No.4 - BENITEZ, 7 Quezon (
1963 - 1965	₹40.00 15.00 2.00	\$12.00 - a year 4.20 - a copy .60 - Reprints	Size: 8
1966-1972	₽10.00 4.00 2.00	\$ 9.00 - a year 3.20 - a copy .60 - Reprints	Occasional Papers
1973 - 1976	₽40.00 15.00 2.00	\$12.00 - a year 4.20 - a copy .60 - Reprints	No. 1 - SANIEL, J <u>exclusi</u> Quezon U. P.,
1977 - 1978	P 55.00 20.00 2.00	\$15.00 - a year 6.00 - a copy .60 - Reprints	0. 1.,
		n , <u>AN</u> Size : 7" x 10")	<u>NUAL</u> - 1965. Vol. 1 1966-67.Vol. 2 1967-68.Vol. 3
	ISSN: 04	59-4835	

- Monograph Series (listed by order of publication) ISSN:0079-9238
 - o.1 KANAI, Madoka. <u>A diary of William Cleveland;</u> <u>captain's clerk on board the Massachusetts</u>. <u>Quezon City, IAS, U.P., 1965.</u> 43p. photos. <u>Size: 8¹/₂" x 11"</u> **P**6.00/\$2.00
 - No.2 JOCANO, F. Landa. <u>Sulod society</u>. Quezon City, U.P. Press, 1968. 303p. illus. Size: 6" x 9" Clothbound: **P**15.00/\$5.00
 - No.3 LAWLESS, Robert. <u>An evaluation of Philippine</u> <u>culture-personality research</u>. Quezon City, Asian Center, U. P., 1969. 57p. Size: 8½" x 11" ₱6.00/\$2.00 (out of stock) No.4 - BENITEZ, Teresita V. <u>The politics of Marawi</u>. Quezon City, Asian Center, U.P., 1969. 67p. Size: 8½" x 11" ₱6.00/\$2.00
 - No. 1 SANIEL, Josefa M., ed. <u>The Filipino</u> <u>exclusion movement, 1927-1935</u>. Quezon City, Institute of Asian Studies, U. P., 1967. 51p. Size: 8½" x 11" P6.00/\$2.00

- 1965. Vol. 1. Out of stock. 1966-67.Vol. 2.- ₱ 4.00 / \$ 2.00 1967-68.Vol. 3.- ₱ 4.00 / \$ 2.00 Journals



LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

- ·Bibliography Series
- · Books · Journal · Annual
- Monograph Series
- ·Occasional Papers



Bibliography Series ISSN -

- No. 1 VON OEYEN, Robert R., Jr. <u>Philippine</u> <u>Evangelical Protestant and Independent</u> <u>Catholic Churches (an historical bibliography of church records, publications</u> <u>and source materials located in the</u> <u>Greater Manila area</u>). Quezon City, Asian <u>Center, U.P., 1970.</u> 80p. <u>Size: 8" x 10¹2"</u> P10.00/\$3.50
- 1971 Directory of research on Malay and other Southeast Asian cultures (Part I: The Philippines). Quezon City, Asian Center, U.P., 1971. 300p. Size: 8¼" x 10½" ₱20.00/\$5.50
- No. 2 DIMALANTA, L. E., et al. <u>Modernization</u> <u>in Asia (annotated bibliography of</u> <u>selected materials</u>). Quezon City, Asian Center, U.P., 1973. 178p. Size: 7" x 10" ₱15.00/\$5.00

 1974 - NEMENZO, C. <u>Graduate theses in Philippine</u> <u>universities and colleges, 1908-1969</u>. <u>Quezon City, PCAS, U.P., 1974. 4v.</u> <u>P89.00/\$29.00 a set</u> <u>P20.00/\$5.50 a volume</u> Part I - <u>P20.00/\$5.50 Part III - P38.00/\$14.50</u>

Part II - P12.00/\$3.00 Part IV - P22.00/\$6.00



Books (Listed by order of publication)

- ASPILLERA, Paraluman S. <u>A common vocabulary for</u> <u>Malay-Pilipino-Bahasa Indonesia</u>. Quezon City, Institute of Asian Studies, U. P., 1964. 101p. Size: 6" x 8" (limited copies) **P5.00/\$2.00**
- MAJUL, Cesar Adib. <u>Muslims in the Philippines.</u> Quezon City, University of the Philippines Press, 1973. Size: 7" x 10"
 Available in Clothbound and Paperbound. (Dealer: U. P. Press/Please send all communication to: c/o Univ. of the Philippines Press, Basement, Gonzalez Hall, U. P. Diliman, Quezon City)

ROCAMORA, Eliseo J. <u>Nationalism in search of</u> <u>ideology: the Indonesian Nationalist Party</u> <u>1946-1965.</u> Quezon City, PCAS, U.P., 1975. 412p. Size: 7" x 10" Clothbound: **P**35.90/\$9.00 Paperback : **P**29.00/\$6.00

JOCANO, F. Landa. <u>Philippine prehistory: an anthro-</u> pological overview of the beginnings of Filipino <u>society and culture</u>. Quezon City, PCAS, U.P., 1975. 280p. Size: 7" x 10" Fully illus. Clothbound: **P**35.00/\$9.00 Paperback : **P**22.00/\$5.50

GOWING, Peter Gordon. <u>Mandate in Moroland: the</u> <u>American government of Muslim Filipinos, 1899</u>-<u>1920</u>. Quezon City, PCAS, U.P., 1977. 411p. illus. Size: 7" x 10" Clothbound: ₱52.00/\$13.50 Paperback : ₱39.00/\$10.00



Guidelines for the Submission of Manuscripts for PCAS Publication

The PCAS publishes a quarterly journal, Asian Studies, an annual journal, Lipunan, a monograph series, occasional papers, as well as a separate book program. While internal rules may vary for each publication, the following principles are applicable to all:

- 1. All manuscripts must be type-written, triple-spaced, on 8" x 11" bond.
- 2. Three copies of each manuscript must be submitted to the Publications Office, PCAS.
- 3. Upon submission of their manuscripts to PCAS and upon decision of the PCAS to publish, authors are presumed to have agreed to submit their manuscripts, lay-out designs, etc. to reasonable editing by PCAS. Such editing, prior to actual page-proofing, is, however, subject to discussion with the author.
- 4. Further revisions, additions or any other form of editing will not be permitted when the manuscript has reached the page-proof stage, except in exceptional circumstances: e.g., when fresh data require such revisions, or when there are glaring and/or major errors in content.
- 5. For uniformity of style, manuscripts must conform to the style of footnoting and bibliographical forms set forth in Kate Turabian's *Manual for Writers*.
- 6. The PCAS assumes no responsibility for the loss of, or damage to unsolicited manuscripts, photographs, illustrations and other material.

Honorarium, Royalty, and Other Credits

Authors whose articles have been published in Asian Studies are entitled to a compensation of five hundred pesos (₱500,00) for each article. They are also entitled to one copy of the journal and 10 article reprints. Authors of approved and published books and monographs are entitled to royalty to be determined by the Editorial Board.

Authors of book reviews are entitled to a maximum compensation of \$100.00, the exact amount to be determined by the Chief Editor.

Please address -

- * all manuscripts to the Board of Editors, Asian Studies, Publications Office, PCAS, Guerrero St., UP Diliman, Q.C.
- * correspondence on exchange to the Head Librarian, PCAS Library, Guerrero St., UP Diliman, Q.C.
- * correspondence on subscription to the Publications Office, PCAS, Guerrero St., UP Diliman, Q.C.

